
Page 1 of 4 

 

 City Council Meeting and Workshop 

October 7, 2013 

Agenda 
                                    
 
 
                                                                             
 

5:30 P.M.  Workshop  

A. Fire Emergency Medical Services Report–Frank Roma (Presentation 20 minutes, Q & A 20 minutes) 

B. Complete Streets Ordinance–Dan Goyette (Presentation 10 minutes, Q & A 15 minutes) 
C. Discussion regarding an Economic Development matter, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(C) with possible 

action during the meeting. 

 

7:00 P.M.  City Council Meeting 

 

Pledge of Allegiance   

I. Consent Items – All items listed with an asterisk (*) are considered as routine and will be approved in one motion.   

There will be no separate discussion of these items unless a Councilor or citizen so requests.  If requested, the item 

will be removed from the consent agenda and considered in the order it appears on the agenda.   

 

II.    Minutes   

 September 3, 2013 Regular Council Meeting 

 September 16, 2013 Regular Council Meeting 

 September 30, 2013 Special Council Meeting 
 

III.   Reports  

Mayor’s Report  

Committee Reports 

 Transportation 

o Androscoggin Transportation Resource Center – Mayor LaBonte 

o Lewiston Auburn Transit – Councilor Gerry 

o Airport, Railroad – Councilor Hayes 

o Bike-Ped Committee – Councilor Shea 

 Housing 

o Community Development Block Grant, Neighborhood Stabilization Program, 

Auburn Housing Authority – Councilor Gerry 

 Economic Development 

o L-A Economic Growth Council, Auburn Business Development Corporation  

 Education 

o Auburn School Committee – Councilor Young 

o Auburn Public Library – Councilor LaFontaine 

o Great Falls TV – Councilor Young and Councilor Shea 

 Environmental Services 

o Auburn Water District, Auburn Sewerage District – Councilor Crowley 

o Mid-Maine Waste Action Corp. – Councilor Walker 

 Recreation 

o Recreation Advisory Board  

 Public Safety 

o LA 911 – Councilor Walker 

 



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 October 7, 2013 

 

Page 2 of 4 

 

 

             City Councilors’ Reports 

               

IV.    Communications, Presentations and Recognitions  

 

 Recognition of The Auburn Running Club, for winning the State meet for the 2013 Auburn 

Parks and Recreation Summer Track and Field Program  

 Breast Cancer Awareness Month 

 Domestic Violence Month 

 

V.     Open Session – Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

                                              City business which is not on this agenda.  Time limit for open sessions, by ordinance, is 45 minutes.    

 

VI.    Unfinished Business 

 

1. Ordinance 11-09162013   

Amending the Code of Ordinances Chapter 52, Article 5, Stopping, Standing and 

Parking, Division I Generally Sec. 52-181 Parking in City owned-lots. Second reading. 

To include discussion regarding the Parking Garage. 

 

Council may enter into executive session to discuss Orders 78-09162013, 79-09162013, 80-09162013, 

81-09162013, and 82-09162013, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(A). 

 

2. Order 78-09162013  

Appointing Charles Morrison to the L/A Cable TV Advisory Board with a term expiration 

of January 1, 2015 as nominated by the Appointment Committee.  

 

3. Order 79-09162013  

Appointing Michael Dixon to the Zoning Board of Appeals as a full member with a term 

expiration of October 1, 2016 as nominated by the Appointment Committee.  

 

4. Order 80-09162013  

Appointing Judith Webber to the Auburn Housing Authority with a term expiration of 

October 1, 2018 as nominated by the Appointment Committee.  

 

5. Order 81-09162013  

Appointing Robert Bowyer to the Planning Board with a term expiration of January 1, 2016 

as nominated by the Appointment Committee.  

 

6. Order 82-09162013  

Appointing Ann Parker to the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Loan 

Committee with a term expiration of October 1, 2016 as nominated by the Appointment 

Committee.  
 

VII.     New Business 

 

7. Order 83-10072013  



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 October 7, 2013 

 

Page 3 of 4 

 

Authorizing the City Manager to use funds in the amount up to $50,000 from an inactive 

special revenue account to fund ICT’s Network Security and Planning and Permitting’s 

Traffic Pole projects with any unused funds being transferred to the general fund account.  

 

8. Order 84-10072013A and Order 84-10072013B  

Approving the reallocation and prioritization of  FY14 CIP funds related to City Buildings. 

 

9. Ordinance 12-10072013  
Adopting the General Assistance overall maximums. First reading. 

 

10. Ordinance 13-10072013  
Adopting the General Assistance Ordinance. First reading. 

 

11. Order 85-10072013  

Approving the renewal of an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard permit for Bucks Auto - Public 

hearing. 

 

12. Order 86-10072013  

Approving the renewal of an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard permit for Morris Auto Parts – 

Public hearing. 

 

13. Order 87-10072013  

Approving the renewal of an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard permit for M & P Auto Parts – 

Public hearing. 

 

14. Order 88-10072013  

Approving the renewal of an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard permit for Randy’s Auto Parts-

Public hearing. 

 

15. Order 89-10072013  

Approving the renewal of an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard permit for Isadore T. Miller, 

Division of Schnitzer NE – Public hearing. 

 

16. Order 90-10072013  

Approving the renewal of an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard permit for Prolerized New 

England Company, LLC (formerly known as Maine Metal Recycling) – Public hearing. 

 

VIII. Executive Session 

 Discussion regarding contemplated litigation, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(E) with possible action 

to follow. 

 Discussion of a personnel issue (the City Manager Review), pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(A) with 

possible action to follow. 

 Discussion regarding an Economic Development matter, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(C) with 

possible action to follow. 

  

IX.  Open Session - Members of the public are invited to speak to the Council about any issue directly related to 

                                             City business which is not on this agenda. 

 



Au b u r n  C i t y  C o u n c i l  M e e t i n g  &  W o r k s h o p  
 October 7, 2013 

 

Page 4 of 4 

 

X. Adjournment 

 
Executive Session:  On occasion, the City Council discusses matters which are required or allowed by State law to be considered 

in executive session.  Executive sessions are not open to the public.  The matters that are discussed in executive session are 

required to be kept confidential until they become a matter of public discussion.  In order to go into executive session, a Councilor 

must make a motion in public.  The motion must be recorded, and 3/5 of the members of the Council must vote to go into 

executive session.  An executive session is not required to be scheduled in advance as an agenda item, although when it is known 

at the time that the agenda is finalized, it will be listed on the agenda. The only topics which may be discussed in executive session 

are those that fall within one of the categories set forth in Title 1 M.R.S.A. Section 405(6).  Those applicable to municipal 

government are: 

A. Discussion of personnel issues 

B. Discussion or consideration by a school board of suspension of expulsion 

C. Discussion or consideration of the condition, acquisition or the use of real or personal property permanently attached to 

real property or interests therein or disposition of publicly held property or economic development only if premature 

disclosures of the information would prejudice the competitive or bargaining position of the body or agency   

D. Labor contracts 

E. Contemplated litigation 

F. Discussions of information contained in records made, maintained or received by a body or agency when access by the 

general public to those records is prohibited by statute; 

G. Discussion or approval of the content of examinations administered by a body or agency for licensing, permitting or 

employment purposes; consultation between a body or agency and any entity that provides examination services to that 

body or agency regarding the content of an examination; and review of examinations with the person examined; and 

H. Consultations between municipal officers and a code enforcement officer representing the municipality pursuant to Title 

30-A, section 4452, subsection 1, paragraph in the prosecution of an enforcement matter pending in District Court when 

the consultation relates to that pending enforcement matter.  

 



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     X Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      X Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: AUBURN FIRE DEPARTMENT EMS TRANSPORT EVALUATION 

 

Information: In conformance with a Council directive as communicated in resolve 04-06032013 dated August 

13, 2013, the Auburn Fire Department is presenting the initial findings and recommendations regarding the 

provision of EMS transport services within the city of Auburn through the Auburn Fire Department. 

 

 

Financial: See report 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Review and comment 

 

Previous Meetings and History: See Council Resolve 04-06032013 from 8-13-13.  

 

 

Attachments:  

 

REPORT: Auburn Fire Department EMS Transport Evaluation will be available on Friday, October 4, 2013. 

 

 

Council Workshop Date:  October 7, 2013 Item  A 

Author:   Auburn Fire Department 



 

 
 
 
Auburn Fire Department 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

EMS Transport 
Evaluation 

  



Auburn Fire Department Page 2 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Table of Contents 

Executive Summary 

 

3 

Organization of the Department 

 

3 

Background of EMS in Auburn   

 

3 

Current Environment 

 

4 

Service Demands 

 

5 

Call Comparison 

 

5 

Comparison of EMS to fire responses 

 

7 

Proposals 

 

9 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

 

13 

Appendix 1 Capital Purchases 

 

14 

Appendix 2 Financials 

 

15 

Appendix 3 Current Staff 

 

Appendix 4 References 

19 

 

20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Auburn Fire Department Page 3 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Executive Summary 

This document has been provided in order to present recommendations regarding changes to the fire 
department that are intended to affect long term cost savings. During the FY 14 budget process, the Fire 
Department lost adequate funding to continue operating in its traditional model. This funding shortfall 
resulted in a plan to temporarily close fire stations, frequently leaving response districts void of adequate 
fire protection. In response to concerns voiced by the public as well as their own reservations, the Council 
allocated funds, at a subsequent meeting, to ensure adequate s uppression coverage. 

Following that restoration of funding, the fire department was directed to find ways to be more cost 
effective. Concerns over spending and a continued bleak financial picture have municipal legislators 
rightly responding to their constituents’ concerns with aggressive economic policies. Our charge, as we 
understand it, is to look for cost savings or alternate, service-delivery models that could generate revenue, 
cut expenses, or both.  

In response to that directive, we conducted a review that evaluates the possibility of performing fire 
service-based ambulance transport to meet most of the service demands of the city and generate revenue. 
This plan involves improving existing emergency medical response capabilities by enhancing dedicated 
911 responses within the city, realigning staff, and deploying ambulances, in order to capture as much 
revenue as possible. While this option does not reflect what the fire administration believes to be the ideal 
operating model, it does appear to be an acceptable alternative. 

Organization of the Department  
Currently, the department has 65 full-time employees. There are 60 line firefighters, 1 fire prevention 
officer, 2 senior administrators, and 2 office- support staffers. The line staff is broken down among four, 
24-hour shifts, with 15 firefighters assigned to each shift. Auburn has three fire stations that house a total 
of three pumpers and one aerial apparatus. Auburn Fire maintains (unstaffed) a rescue boat, a 
utility/forestry pickup, a medium duty rescue vehicle, and one spare pumper in reserve.  

The following chart outlines how we are currently structured for the operations division. 

Chart 1: 

Station 
Apparatus Daily Max 

Staffing 
Daily Min Staffing 

Center Street Engine 5 
Tower 1 

3 
4 

3 
4 

Minot Ave Engine 3 
Battalion Chief  

4 
1 

3 
1 

South Main Street Engine 2  3 3 

     Total per shift 15 14 

 

 
Background of EMS in Auburn 
For more than forty years, Emergency Medical Services (EMS) delivery has been a core mission of the 
Auburn Fire Department. Both the City of Auburn and its Fire Department have invested much time and 
monetary resources to this program, in order to better serve Auburn citizens. In the early days of EMS 
delivery, care provided by the Auburn Fire Department was primitive in relation to current standards. 
Today, the fire department delivers advanced-level care, including electrocardiogram interpretation and 

recording, medication administration, endotracheal tube placement, and other advanced life-support 



Auburn Fire Department Page 4 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

skills all performed with equipment carried on the fire trucks. This frequently allows for faster 
intervention in cases where patients are critically injured or ill. 

From its inception, the EMS program has struggled with an identity crisis, of sorts, with regard to what 
type of service should be provided. While at one point, the fire department did possess the ability to 
transport patients, the fire department has always been, predominantly, a first responder service. In other 
words, trained firefighters deploy to an emergency scene to perform any necessary medical intervention 
while emergency victims wait for the arrival of an ambulance. The ability to be transported to the hospital 
by a fire department vehicle began in 1981 on an as-needed basis and was still available to residents and 
visitors as late as 2008. In that year, a restructure of the department was undertaken in order to manage 
budgetary cuts imposed by the City Council. This restructure resulted in the Rescue vehicle being taken 
off the road and staff being redistributed as a cost-saving measure. 

Presently, the Auburn Fire Department provides first-responder basic and advanced-level medical care 
from its four primary fire apparatus. In certain situations, the Battalion Chief or Deputy Chief will 
respond to medical calls to expedite the delivery of care if no EMS or fire units are available. Despite its 
limitations, this system has proven to be effective, resulting in positive impacts to the end users. One of 
the biggest factors in the success of the program is the time that it takes for Auburn firefighters to arrive 
on scene and begin delivering care. While the availability of data is limited, it suggests that Auburn 
firefighters typically arrive on scene between five and seven minutes ahead of the transporting 
ambulance. This is significant in the case of cardiac arrest, respiratory arrest, heart attack, critical illness, 
or other injuries where intervention within the first five minutes can have a significant impact on long-
term or potentially fatal effects. 

Current Environment 
Slow economic recovery and reduction in state revenue-sharing have placed the city in a negative financial 
position the likes of which have not been seen for some time. A lack of immediate relief along with 
frustration about municipal expenditures expressed by taxpayers has prompted the Council to direct that cost-
savings be enacted and that all revenues and potential revenues be captured. This position has demanded that 
administrators and department managers make some tough decisions concerning spending and service 
delivery.  

Over the past few years, the Fire Department has taken steps to reduce expenses where it can, while 
remaining realistic about how to deliver services. Fiscal year (FY) 2014 proved to be extremely 
challenging as we pushed the boundaries of our budgetary allocation. Reductions that were enacted in the 
FY 14 budget caused us to triage operating expenses against staff, with the knowledge that the required 
cuts in either area would diminish service delivery. Simply put, in FY 14, the fire department was faced 
with the decision of either meeting contractual obligations such as staffing or funding the daily operations 
of the department.      

While a bleak financial outlook is a strong motivator, it is not the sole reason to consider undertaking 
transport services. As previously mentioned Auburn Fire had the ability to transport patients to the 
hospital during an emergency but only used this option if no other ambulances were readily available. 
Despite being a resource of last resort, Rescue 1 was the only truly-dedicated emergency patient transport 
vehicle in either Lewiston or Auburn. By stripping the fire department’s ability to transport, the overall 
EMS system was weakened and the city was forced into a position where it had to rely on a private 
service with split responsibilities and priorities. 

Currently United Ambulance (United), headquartered in Lewiston, provides primary emergency transport 
services for Auburn, Lewiston, and several other communities. United is also the primary provider for 
non-emergency transportation services to Central Maine Medical Center, St. Mary’s Regional Medical 
Center, and multiple health care facilities in the region. Because of United’s mission and commitments to 



Auburn Fire Department Page 5 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

other interests, Auburn residents are considered an equal consumer of the system and receive no special 
treatment. This means that there are no ambulances dedicated to emergency response in Auburn. 

The unpredictability of emergency calls; increasing transportation demands of fixed medical facilities; 
and the revenue potential derived from transfers are factors which encourage private ambulance 
companies to answer the transfer requests when they come in – often leaving no dedicated resources for 
emergencies. By relying on a sole-source provider for EMS transportation services, Auburn has no 
resources dedicated for emergency transportation to the hospital. This has proven to be problematic at 
times, resulting in dependence on mutual-aid ambulance services and causing delayed transportation 
arrival times.  

Service Demands
1
 

Chart 2, below, compares the total calls that the Auburn Fire Department responded to from January 1, 
2010 to December 31, 2012. These numbers include total EMS calls received during that time frame and 
the number of EMS calls the Fire Department actually responded to. A breakdown of calls prior to 2010 
is not available, due to a formatting and software change at the Communications Center. 

Chart 2:                                              Call Comparison 

 

Charts 3 and 4 look at the demand for fire services from 2008 to 2012 and the population changes in 
Auburn from 1980 to 2012.  

Chart 3: 

  

                                                           
1
 Information regarding service demands was provided by Lewiston/Auburn 911 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

2010 2011 2012

Total EMS 

Calls

EMS

Fire

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Calls for Service

Calls for Service



Auburn Fire Department Page 6 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Note: In November 2009 Rescue 1 was taken out of service and the types of EMS calls Auburn Fire 
responded to was reduced. This accounts for the reduction in volume in 2010. 

Chart 4: 

 

 

Despite nearly regressive growth2 in Auburn’s population, the number of requests for service (911 calls) 
has risen. While fire-related responses3 have fluctuated over the past few years, EMS incidents have had a 
steady increase. From 2010 to 2012, the number of EMS-related calls in Auburn increased from 2,339 to 
3,022 annually (a 29% increase) with Auburn Fire responding to 81% of those calls. Reasons noted for 
the increased call volume are (but not limited to):  

• Aging of the population  

• Decreased hospital lengths of stay  

• The fact that Auburn is a service center with several major roadways and daily visitors  

• Increasing prevalence of chronic illness due to longer survival times  

• An increase in the number of technology-dependent people living in the community (e.g. 
ventilators, feeding tubes, oxygen, etc.)  

In 2012, there were 484 occurrences of a second medical call occurring while Auburn fire units were 
already committed to an ongoing call. This frequency of multiple calls would likely be higher than the 
16% represented, if Auburn responded to all medical calls under the 2008 model or if we were to adopt an 
EMS transport model. Additionally, second victims for the same call, such as patients in a car accident, 
are not represented in these figures. 

It goes without saying that as Auburn and the surrounding communities continue to develop, so will the 
demands for service. Expansion at the airport, a new ice arena, new modes of commuter transportation 
such as rail, and a growing commercial base will all add stress to the existing infrastructure and 
emergency response capabilities of the city, regardless of the growth in Auburn’s population.  

 

 

                                                           
2
 Information retrieved from U.S. Census Bureau records.  

3
 Fire-related responses include;  fires, hazardous conditions, special rescue calls, hazardous materials responses 

and other incidents to which firefighters respond. . 

22,000

22,500

23,000

23,500

24,000

24,500

1980 1990 2000 2010 2012

Population Change

Population Change



Auburn Fire Department Page 7 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

 

Chart 5 provides a comparison of non-EMS related calls to EMS calls.  

Chart 5:            Comparison of EMS to Fire Responses 

 

 

It should be noted that any change that detracts from the current operational structure will result in a 
reduction in service either through an actual decrease in resources or by reduced performance leading to 
less than desirable outcomes. This statement is validated by studies conducted in 2010 by the National 
Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST). Through controlled and measured assessments, NIST 
evaluated the abilities and effectiveness of fire crews, ranging in size from 10 to 22 firefighters on scene. To 
summarize their findings, NIST discovered that having an insufficient number of firefighters on scene 
(fewer than 15) within an established period of time, equated to slower task completion times; less 
efficiency; and poorer outcomes. Some of the data identified by NIST is listed below4. 

Overall Scene Time:  
Four-person crews operating on a low-hazard structure fire completed all the tasks on the fire ground (on 
average) seven minutes faster — nearly 30% faster — than two-person crews. The four-person crews 
completed the same number of fire ground tasks (on average) 5.1 minutes faster — nearly 25% faster — 
than three-person crews. 

Time to Water on Fire: 
There was a 10% difference in the “water on fire” time between the two- and three-person crews. There was 
an additional 6% difference in the "water on fire" time between the three- and four-person crews. (i.e., four-
person crews put water on the fire16% faster than two-person crews) 

Ground Ladders and Ventilation: 
The four-person crews operating on a low-hazard structure fire completed laddering and ventilation (for life 
safety and rescue) 30% faster than the two-person crews and 25% faster than the three-person crews. 

 
 

                                                           
4
 National Institute of Standards and Technology 

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000

2010

2011

2012

EMS Response

Fire Response



Auburn Fire Department Page 8 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Primary Search: 
The three-person crews started and completed a primary search and rescue 25% faster than the two-person 
crews. The four- and five-person crews started and completed a primary search 6% faster than the three-
person crews and 30% faster than the two-person crew. A 10% difference was equivalent to just over one 
minute. 

 
Hose Stretch Time: 
In comparing four- and five-person crews to two- and three-person crews collectively, the time difference to 
stretch a line was 76 seconds. In conducting more specific analysis, comparing all crew sizes to the two-
person crews, the differences are more distinct. Two-person crews took 57 seconds longer than three-person 
crews to stretch a line. Two-person crews took 87 seconds longer than four-person crews to complete the 
same tasks. Finally, the most notable distinction was the time difference between two-person crews and 
five-person crews — more than 2 minutes (122 seconds) difference in task completion time. 

Currently, Auburn operates in a three-firefighter crew configuration. This has been a long standing policy 
based on community risk assessment, availability of mutual aid, and the financial resources of the city. If 
crews are moved from suppression apparatus to staff an ambulance, or if suppression apparatus is taken out 
of service to staff an ambulance, we effectively change the number of resources available to manage a fire-
related incident. However, given the frequency and nature of fire-related incidents, we feel that city 
administrators can reasonably weigh risk against gain when determining the levels of service for the city.  

With that thought in mind, the fire department offers the following models for consideration. We believe 
that, by adopting any of the models proposed, the reduction in service delivery for non- EMS related 
incidents will be incrementally minimized. It is also expected that adding EMS resources to an already-
taxed system will result in benefits to the public with regard to ambulance availability and revenue 
generation. While not optimal, these proposals will also ensure that each response district will maintain 
some form of fire protection.   

 

  



Auburn Fire Department Page 9 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Proposals 
 
Staffing Proposal 1: 
In this option, we would purchase one new ambulance and one used ambulance to be utilized as a spare, 
in the event that a primary truck is down. While this model utilizes current staffing, it will result in higher 
overtime expenses because of the elimination of the float person. If available, the spare ambulance could 
be staffed by another crew, if necessary. This will, likely, shorten the life span of the spare truck, given 
that primary response is not its intended purpose.  

Chart 6: 

Station 
Apparatus Daily Max 

Staffing 
Daily Min Staffing 

Center Street 
Engine 5 
Tower 1 
Ambulance 2 

3 
3 
0 

3 
3 
0 

Minot Ave 
Engine 3 
Battalion Chief  
Ambulance 1 

3 
1 
2 

3 
1 
2 

South Main Street Engine 2  3 3 

     Total per shift 15 15 

 

Critical Components 

• Utilizes current staffing.  

• Allows primary ambulance at Minot Avenue station to be centrally located.  

• Allows secondary ambulance at Center Street to be available, if needed. 

• Offers some opportunities to capture additional revenue. 

• Does not reduce overtime expenses. 

• Employs the services of a medical billing company to capture the maximum revenue. 

• Reformats the response protocol to reduce the number of times that structural apparatus respond 
to medical calls. 

• Allows core staff to remain the same with a change in job duties and functions for the line staff 
and Deputy Chief. 

 

  



Auburn Fire Department Page 10 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Staffing Proposal 2: 
In this model, four additional firefighter/paramedics would be hired to help reduce the costs associated with 
overtime. It is also recommended that a second primary ambulance be purchased --in addition to the first 
ambulance and spare truck. This is intended to increase the reliability of EMS coverage. At full staff, both 
ambulances would be able to have primary response duties. At reduced staff, the ambulance at Minot 
Avenue would be the primary unit and the Center Street ambulance would be available to respond to second 
calls, staffed by the crew assigned to the Tower Truck.  

Chart 7: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Critical Components 

• Requires hiring of four firefighter/paramedics.  

• Allows primary ambulance at Minot Avenue station to be centrally located.  

• Allows secondary ambulance at Center Street to be available, if needed. 

• Offers greater opportunity to capture additional revenue while lessening the impact on other 
services. 

• Provides one float person to help defer some overtime expenses. 

• Employs the services of a medical billing company to capture the maximum revenue. 

• Reformats the response protocol to reduce the number of times that structural apparatus respond 
to medical calls. 

• Allows core staff to remain the same with a change in job duties and functions for the line staff 
and Deputy Chief. 

 

  

Station 
Apparatus Daily Max 

Staffing 
Daily Min Staffing 

Center Street 
Engine 5 
Tower 1 
Ambulance 2 

3 
2 
2 

3 
3 
0 

Minot Ave 
Engine 3 
Battalion Chief  
Ambulance 1 

3 
1 
2 

3 
1 
2 

South Main Street Engine 2  3 3 

     Total per shift 16 15 



Auburn Fire Department Page 11 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Staffing Proposal 3: 
This model reflects both ambulances staffed appropriately while ensuring that adequate coverage is 
maintained for non-EMS related requests for service. To employ this option, four firefighter/paramedics 
would need to be hired. Because the float person is rolled into normal staffing, there would be no 
reduction in the costs associated with overtime. Ambulances located at Minot Avenue and Center Street 
have primary response duties and cross cover response districts.  

Chart 8: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Critical Components 

• Requires hiring of four firefighter/paramedics.  

• Allows primary ambulances to be located at Minot Ave and Center Street.  

• Offers greater opportunity to capture additional revenue while lessening the impact on other 
services. 

• Requires loss of the float position, which results in increased overtime expense. 

• Employs the services of a medical billing company to capture the maximum revenue. 

• Reformats the response protocol to reduce the number of times that structural apparatus respond 
to medical calls. 

• Allows core staff to remain the same with a change in job duties and functions for the line staff 
and Deputy Chief. 

 

  

Station 
Apparatus Daily Max 

Staffing 
Daily Min Staffing 

Center Street 
Engine 5 
Tower 1 
Ambulance 2 

3 
2 
2 

3 
2 
2 

Minot Ave 
Engine 3 
Battalion Chief  
Ambulance 1 

3 
1 
2 

3 
1 
2 

South Main Street Engine 2  3 3 

     Total per shift 16 16 



Auburn Fire Department Page 12 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Staffing Proposal 4: 
This model reflects both ambulances being staffed appropriately and that adequate coverage is maintained 
for non-EMS related requests for service. To employ this option, four firefighter/ paramedics would need 
to be hired. Because the float person is rolled into normal staffing, there would be no reduction in the 
costs associated with overtime. Both ambulances have primary response duties and cross cover response 
districts. At reduced staff, the Tower would be reduced to three firefighters to affect cost savings in 
overtime. 

Chart 9: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Critical Components 

• Requires hiring of eight firefighter/paramedics.  

• Allows primary ambulance to be located at Minot Avenue and Center Street.  

• Provides the best EMS model while controlling overtime and minimizing the impact to other 
services. 

• Provides one float person to help defer some overtime expenses. 

• Employs the services of a medical billing company to capture the maximum revenue. 

• Reformats the response protocol to reduce the number of times that structural apparatus respond 
to medical calls. 

• Allows core staff to remain the same with a change in job duties and functions for the line staff 
and Deputy Chief. 

 

  

Station 
Apparatus Daily Max 

Staffing 
Daily Min Staffing 

Center Street 
Engine 5 
Tower 1 
Ambulance 2 

3 
3 
2 

3 
2 
2 

Minot Ave 
Engine 3 
Battalion Chief  
Ambulance 1 

3 
1 
2 

3 
1 
2 

South Main Street Engine 2  3 3 

     Total per shift 17 16 



Auburn Fire Department Page 13 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Conclusions and Recommendations 

EMS delivery is not new to the fire service nor is it unique to Maine. With the exception of Lewiston and 
Ellsworth, all career or combination fire departments in Maine provide some level of EMS5. This holds 
true for several agencies that employ per-diem or part-time staff as well. Maine Fire Departments that do 
not have EMS as a core mission are typically smaller departments that are staffed by volunteers or on-call 
firefighters. However, even in this setting, EMS is provided by departments because municipal leaders 
have identified a community need. This is often due to the availability of EMS services in neighboring 
communities or travel distance to a specific community. For example, Lincoln Plantation, located in 
western Maine, has a population of 45 people -- according to the 2010 census. Because of the amount of 
time it takes for an ambulance to drive from Rangeley or New Hampshire, it was decided to establish a 
first-responder service in the Lincoln Plantation. Auburn is unique in that it is only one of three cities in 
Maine, (the other two being Lewiston and Waterville), with a population of more than 10,000 people that 
does not provide fire department-based ambulance service.  

Typically a fire department will never advocate for a reduction in service. However, there are times when 
the agency leaders must be sensitive to the needs and finances of the population that it serves. While the 
fire administration does not believe the proposed options are the best solution for the community, they 
will concede that they are a workable alternative to the present model. The proposed models, in our 
opinion, accomplish the Councils objectives, do not unduly compromise employee safety, retain the core 
responsibility and services of the city, and do not dramatically increase the risk profile to the community.  

City administrators must remember that system sustainability rivals revenue in terms of importance when 
committing to a program such as this. The principle issue is identifying which delivery system is best for 
the City of Auburn and how Auburn ensures that system’s long-term success – not necessarily what the 
immediate gains might be. Keeping these thoughts in mind, we offer the following recommendations: 

1. Council should take a comprehensive look at the emergency medical system currently in place in 
the City of Auburn and ask: 

a. Does it meet the goals and objectives of the Council and guiding documents? 
b. Does it currently meet the needs of the city? 
c. Is the legislative body, by policy, willing to commit the needed physical and financial 

resources to manage a system that adheres to industry best practices? 
d. Is the decision to develop an ambulance service based solely on the potential for revenue 

generation? 
e. Is the Council willing to reduce the level of all hazards protection provided by the fire 

department to ensure adequate ambulance coverage? 
 

2. Should the council direct that ambulance transportation be initiated, both a strategic plan and 
financial plan should be generated. These documents will provide program guidance and a means 
by which to measure success. Both plans should be structured so that they may be rolled in to a 
future fire department strategic plan.  

3. Hiring practices for the fire department should be altered to reflect a preference for hiring 
advanced life support providers. Changes should also be made requiring EMS providers to 
maintain their advanced licensure for a specific period while employed. New hires that are non-
paramedic providers should be required to obtain paramedic licensure within a designated period. 
 

4. Mutual aid agreements with surrounding communities should be reviewed to ensure that 
responses for EMS calls are covered. 

                                                           
5
 Information obtained from the Kling Report 



Auburn Fire Department Page 14 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Appendix 1 - Capital Expenditures: 

In order to project a cost for purchasing ambulances as described in the proposals, we contacted an 
established ambulance vendor who was extremely helpful in developing projected costs associated with 
purchasing vehicles and equipment. These numbers are only projections, from one vendor, based on 
known data sets and current market costs.   

 

Ambulance Purchase 

2 New Ambulances as specified $466,218 

1 Used 2010 Ambulance    $146,430 (includes all equipment)  

Total $612,648  

 

It is projected that the life expectancy of ambulances will be 5 to 7 years. Around those times each 
ambulance would be sent for remounting. This consists of taking the aluminum patient care box and 
recycling it onto a new chassis. This would result in considerable savings and build a natural stagger to 
the replacement cycle of ambulances.   

As noted above, there will need to be equipment purchased for the ambulances. Those items and per-unit 
cost are noted below and are included in the costs above. 

Power Cot        $14,675 

Heart Monitor       $28,500 

Radio Allowance    $4,000 

Heart Monitor Bracket   $ 790 

Stairchair $3,000 

Forcible Entry Tools  $465 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Auburn Fire Department Page 15 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Appendix 2 - Financials: 

The chart below outlines projected revenues and expenses associated with establishing an ambulance 
service operated by the fire department. Revenue figures have been estimated for actual projected return 
with expenses estimated high. An explanation on how we arrived at our projected revenue numbers is 
located at the end of the chart.  

Revenue / Expense Line Items 

Proposal 1  

No Hiring 

Proposal 2  

Hire 4  

(15 ff min) 

Proposal 3  

Hire 4  

(16 ff min) 

Proposal 4  

Hire 8  

(16 ff min)   

 

PATIENT REVENUE $1,200,000 $1,200,000 $1,200,000 $1,200,000  

Medicare 654,000 654,000 654,000 654,000  

Mainecare 162,000 162,000 162,000 162,000 Estimate based on payer mix 

Insurance 326,000 326,000 326,000 326,000 Estimate based on payer mix 

Patient Self Pay 58,000 58,000 58,000 58,000 Estimate based on payer mix 

           

PAYROLL $330,000 $242,500 $476,700 $389,200  

 
Deputy Chief 85,000 85,000 85,000 85,000 

 
Wages & Benefits 

Wages  0 144,600 144,600 289,200 
 

Payroll Taxes 0 2,100 2,100 4,200 
 

 
Added Overtime due to EMS Xport  245,000 0 245,000 0 

 
Overtime for min staffing per CBA. 
 
300 shifts requiring medics versus 
Basics difference (10 year Lt used). 

 
Overtime Difference Medic Required 0 10,800 0 10,800 

        

           

BENEFITS $0.00 $76,665 $76,665 $153,328  

Maine State Retirement  0 11,425 11,425 22,848  

Health Insurance  0 62,400 62,400 124,800 All family plans figured into budget 

Uniform Allowance 0 1,240 1,240 2,480  

Benefit Strategy  0 1,600 1,600 3,200  

 

           

PROFESSIONAL FEES $163,100 $163,100 $163,100 $163,100  

License Upgrades 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 2 medics & 2 Advanced EMT 

Outside Training Instructors 35,000 35,000 35,000 35,000 3 programs delivered twice each (cost 
per student) 

Overtime for training participation 38,500 38,500 38,500 38,500 50 members to certify in ACLS, 
PALS, PHTLS  

State Service License 600 600 600 600  

Medical Billing Fees 54,000 54,000 54,000 54,000 4.5% of Collections 

Medical Director 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 Physician contracted to help 
implement best practices 
 
 
 
 



Auburn Fire Department Page 16 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

SUPPLIES $61,000 $61,000 $61,000 $61,000  

Durable Medical Supplies 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 O2 masks, bandaging, airway, IV's, 
Etc.  

Oxygen 6,000 6,000 6,000 6,000 Contract for Oxygen Gas  

Medical Equipment 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 vac mats, vacuum splints, keds, 
reeves, etc.  

        
 
   

VEHICLE EXPENSES $225,500 $225,500 $225,500 $225,500  

Down Payment Ambulances 85,000 85,000 85,000 85,000  

Annual Lease Payment 115,000 115,000 115,000 115,000 Annual payment on 5 year lease  

Vehicle Supplies 1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 fluids, bulbs, etc.  

Vehicle Fuel 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 allotment for increased fuel 
consumption 

Tires 6,500 6,500 6,500 6,500 New tires annually for 3 ambulances 

Rescue 1 Maintenance (2014 Chevy) 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 Preventative and Repairs 

Rescue 2 Maintenance (2014 Chevy) 3,000 3,000 3,000 3,000 Preventative and Repairs 

Rescue 3 Maintenance (2010 Ford)  1,500 1,500 1,500 1,500 Preventative and Repairs 

           

OTHER PROGRAM EXPENSES $50,000 $50,000 $50,000 $50,000  

Laundry Purchase 5,000 5,000 $5,000 $5,000 Blankets, Sheets, Towels, Pillow 
Cases 

Laundry Maintenance 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 Contracting laundering of linens 

Communications Equipment 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 portables, cell phones, headsets, etc.  

Service Contracts 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 Stretchers, Monitors, etc.  

Dues & Subscriptions 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 TCEMS, MAA, etc.  

Computer Software / Hardware 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 Field Bridge MEMSRR, 
Miscellaneous 

           

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES $8,000 $8,000 $8,000 $8,000  

Printing 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 Billing Sheets, Med Nec Forms, etc.  

Postage 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 Medical Billing, EMS Transport 
Notifications, PR Mailings 

Advertising 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 EMS Transport Public Advertising 

Public Relations 2,500 2,500 2,500 2,500 Meetings, Supplies, public event 
participation 

Office Supplies 1,000 1,000 1,000 1,000 Miscellaneous increase in paper, 
supplies, printing 

           

TOTAL EXPENSES $837,600 $826,765 $1,060,965 $1,050,128  

           

NET INCOME $362,400 $373,235 $139,035 $149,872   

 

 

 



Auburn Fire Department Page 17 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

CRITERIA UTILIZED FOR REVENUE PROJECTIONS 

There were three critical sets of data that were utilized to determine the revenue projections of each of the 
proposals within the AFD EMS transport plans. They included the 3-year average 911 emergency call 
volume for ambulance transports performed within the City of Auburn; the payer mix estimates of all 
citizens in the City of Auburn; and a 3-year average of reimbursements -- per emergency transport -- from 
a city with the closest payer mix and transport distances. The following will further explain each of these 
areas: 

Three-year average of emergency transports from the City of Auburn 

This figure was calculated by utilizing statistics obtained from the Maine EMS State Run Reporting 
Program. For this project staff compiled data taking the average number of emergency transports from 
2010 through 2013. It was determined that approximately 3,200 patients are transported from the City of 
Auburn on an annual basis.  

Payer mix calculations 

In 2008, when AFD put together its first EMS transport model, we utilized the professional services of 
Medical Reimbursement Services (MRS). They are a private company that performs medical billing 
services for many of the largest municipal fire-based EMS programs in the State of Maine, including the 
cities of Portland, Augusta, and South Portland. MRS performed an in-depth study of all their like clients, 
along with current data from United Ambulance specific to the City of Auburn, and determined a “payer 
mix” for the City of Auburn. A “payer mix” is a determination of the types of patients encountered within 
a city and assigns all patients into one of five categories of insurance coverage. These categories include: 
patients that are most likely insured by Medicare; Medicaid; Anthem Blue Cross;, have private insurance; 
or are patients who are uninsured. Back in 2008, the City of Auburn was determined to be virtual mirror-
image of the City of South Portland. Another important value within revenue projections and calculations 
is the distance between local hospitals as reimbursement for transport miles from emergency scenes to 
hospitals can be significant. This “payer mix” is still the closest payer mix to what would likely be that of 
Auburn in 2013. The current payer mix values of South Portland, therefore, have been utilized in 
determining the payer mix for the City of Auburn since they are well within the revenue projections 
presented within this report.  The City of Auburn payer mix projections are as follows: 

1. Medicare – 43.4% 
2. Medicaid – 17.3% 
3. Blue Cross – 11.1% 
4. Private Insurance – 21% 
5. Uninsured – 7.2% 

Using these payer mixes allows us to determine the average reimbursement, per call, across the spectrum 
of potential ambulance transports that Auburn Fire will likely perform on an annual basis. These values, 
once transporting services are performed, will be assessed and updated on an annual basis. 

Average reimbursements per emergency transport 

In utilizing the projected call volumes that Auburn Fire Department will likely perform within the first 
year of transport services (3,200), coupled with projected payer mix, we were able to calculate the 
estimated reimbursement per transport. The City of South Portland, (determined to be the most similar 
transport system), was utilized for the final piece of information required to make a revenue projection 
per call and an annual projection. Taking the City of South Portland’s data from 2010 through 2013, it 
was determined that they receive an average of $380.00 in payments, per 911 ambulance transport. 



Auburn Fire Department Page 18 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Therefore, taking the $380.00 per 911 ambulance transport figure and multiplying that by the projected 
3,200 911 annual ambulance transports, gives us an annual reimbursement of $1,216,000.00. This amount 
was rounded down to $1.2 million and utilized within all four proposals within this AFD transport 
package. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Auburn Fire Department Page 19 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Appendix 3 – License Levels of Current Staff: 

EMT-Paramedic 

Lt. ANDREASEN    

FF. ARSENAULT   

Lt. BALL    

Lt. BOULET   

Lt. DIONNE   

Lt. DUMONT   

Capt. FLANAGAN  

FF. LABONTE   

D.C. LOW  

FF. MARTIN 

FF. MASSELLI  

B.C. MILLIGAN   

FF. MORETTO   

LT. ROY   

FF. SAUNDERS  

FF. WOODHEAD  

 

EMT-Advanced 

FF. BEALE 

FF. BOUCHARD        

FF. BRABAND   

FF. BROCHU  

FF. DEMERS   

Lt. FIFIELD 

FF. FLANDERS  

FF. GABRI 

Lt. GRAVEL 

Lt. GURSCHICK  

Lt. LECOMPTE   

FF. HASKELL  

FF. JONES   

FF. SCHADTLE  

 

  

EMT-Basic 

FF. ARSENAULT  

FF. BEAULE  

FF. BOLDUC  

FF. BURNHAM  

FF. CARVER 

Lt. COBB   

FF. COOMBS 

FF. DIPPOLITO  

FF. GABRI   

FF. HILLIER 

B.C. HUNTER 

FF. HUNTER  

FF. HARRIS 

FF. HART   

Capt. KEENE  

FPO. O’CONNELL  

FF. PILOTE 

FF. POLAND   

FF. POREMBY  

FF. RICKETT  

FF. SAUNDERS  

FF. SCOTT  

FF. SMITH  

Lt.THERRIEN  

FF.TRIPP  

FF. VERRILL 

 

 

 



Auburn Fire Department Page 20 EMS Transport Evaluation 

 

Appendix 4 - References: 

Kling Report, “Fire Departments and Emergency Medical Services in Maine”, 2012, by B. Kling 

National Institute of Standards and Technology, “Report on Residential Fireground Field Experiments”, 
2010 

City of Auburn Maine, City Ordnance, “Chapter 20. Fire Prevention and Protection” 

United States Census Bureau, “American Fact Finder”, 2010 

Lewiston/Auburn Emergency Communications Center, Personal communications and response statics 
provided 



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Draft Ordinance Updates to include Complete Streets Policy Initiatives 

 

Information: The City Council adopted a Complete Streets Policy on April 16, 2013.  Planning and 

Engineering then reviewed the existing ordinances and made modifications as to include references to the 

Policy and requirements that are consistent with the Policy. 

 

 

Financial: The changes will add costs to future development projects in order to accommodate all forms of 

transportation. City maintenance costs will also increase to maintain added infrastructure and facilities. 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Review and comment on draft ordinance updates. It is recommended that 

these changes be sent to the Planning Board and Bicycle/Pedestrian Committee for review prior to adoption. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: The City Council adopted a Complete Streets Policy on April 16, 2013.   

 

Attachments:  

 
DIVISION 1. GENERALLY  

DIVISION 2. SITE PLAN REVIEW  

DIVISION 2. STREETS  

DIVISION 3. SPECIAL EXCEPTION 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

ARTICLE V. OFF STREET PARKING AND LOADING  

ARTICLE VII. BICYCLES AND MOTORCYCLES  

Council Workshop Date:  October 7, 2013 Item  B  

Author:   Dan Goyette, PE 



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 1. GENERALLY 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 1 

DIVISION 1. GENERALLY 

Sec. 46-142. Purpose of article. 

Sec. 46-143. Applicability of article. 

Sec. 46-144. Adoption and amendment of standards. 

Sec. 46-145. Definitions. 

Secs. 46-146—46-173. Reserved. 

 

 

Sec. 46-142. Purpose of article. 

The purpose of the standards set forth in this article is to ensure the adequate and proper installation 
of improvements within the city; promote the safety and efficiency of motorized and non-motorized 
vehicular and pedestrian traffic; minimize user costs and the long-term costs of maintenance and repairs 
to public improvements; encourage efficient use of the land; protect the environment, including provisions 
for the necessary and adequate control of groundwater levels, stormwater runoff and soil erosion; and 
ensure an accurate and permanent record of the public improvements, thereby promoting the health, 
safety and welfare of the community.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 1)  

Sec. 46-143. Applicability of article. 

(a) This article shall apply to all improvements within the city constructed subsequent to the effective 
date of the ordinance from which this article is derived, other than those called for in a final plan 
previously approved by the city planning board.  

(b) The city engineer may grant a written waiver of strict compliance with the standards set forth in this 
article after receipt of a written application requesting a waiver by the property owner, developer or 
authorized representative in any case where the city engineer has determined that such waiver will 
not create a traffic or safety hazard or otherwise impair the integrity of this article and where the 
applicant can demonstrate that a specific hardship is created by the enforcement of this article.  

(c) In any case in which the standards as set forth in this article are inconsistent with those established 
by other city ordinances, the more stringent standard shall apply.  

(d) A determination that any section of this article is invalid shall not necessarily result in the invalidity of 
any other section.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 2)  

Sec. 46-144. Adoption and amendment of standards. 

(a) The city engineer may propose new standards and amend existing standards for improvements. All 
new and amended standards shall become effective only after a public hearing before the city 
council. Such standards shall be additional to and consistent with the provisions of this article, shall 
be necessary and reasonable, and shall be in accordance with sound engineering practice.  



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 1. GENERALLY 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 2 

(b) The city engineer shall maintain for public inspection current copies of the effective standards.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 3)  

Sec. 46-145. Definitions. 

The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed 
to them in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Base course means the layers of specified or selected material of designated thickness placed on a 
subbase or a subgrade to support a surface course.  

Bond means a surety bond or a form of security approved as to form and financial sufficiency by the 
finance director and city solicitor, including a letter of credit and escrow account.  

City engineer means the city engineer, acting directly or through his duly authorized representatives.  

Developer means any person, group of persons, organizations, etc., whose concern and desire is to 
improve land in accordance with the development regulations of the city.  

MDOT specifications means the 2002 Maine Department of Transportation Standard Specifications, 
Highways and Bridges.  

Passenger car equivalent means, at peak hour, the number of passenger cars, or, in the case of 
nonpassenger vehicles, the number of passenger vehicles that would be displaced by nonpassenger 
vehicles, that pass through an intersection or on a roadway under prevailing roadway and traffic 
conditions at that hour of the day during which the traffic volume generated by the development is higher 
than the volume during any other hour of the day. One tractor-trailer combination is the equivalent of two 
passenger cars.  

Pavement structure means the combination of subbase, base course and surface course placed on 
a subgrade to support the traffic load and distribute it to the street bed.  

Private way means a privately owned and maintained street or road.  

Reserve or spite strip means any strip of land along a right-of-way located for the purpose of 
preventing development of abutting land through deprivation of required frontage or control of access to 
the right-of-way.  

Right-of-way means land, property or interest therein, usually in a strip, acquired for or devoted to a 
street or road.  

Road means a public or private way for purposes of motorized and non-motorized vehicular travel, 
including the entire area within the right-of-way. For the purpose of this article, the term "road" shall refer 
to nondevelopment and rurally located public and private ways, usually of rural design.  

Shared-Use Path means a bikeway physically separated from motorized vehicular traffic by an open 

space or barrier and either within the highway right-of-way or within an independent right-of-way. 

Shared-use paths may also be used by pedestrians, skaters, wheelchair users, joggers, and other 

nonmotorized users. 

 
Sidewalk means that portion of the street primarily constructed for the use of pedestrians, also 

referred to as a pedestrian way.  

Special exception means a use that would not be appropriate generally or without restriction 
throughout the district, but which, if controlled as to number, area, location or relation to the 
neighborhood, would promote the public health, safety, welfare, order, comfort, convenience, 



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 1. GENERALLY 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 3 

appearance, prosperity or general welfare. Such a use may be permitted in such district as a special 
exception, if specific provision for such special exception is made in appendix A of this Code (the zoning 
ordinance) and reasonable restrictions imposed by the planning board are complied with.  

Street means a public or private way for purposes of motorized and non-motorized vehicular travel, 
including the entire area within the right-of-way. For the purpose of this article, the term "street" shall refer 
to all developed public and private ways, of both rural and urban design.  

Street way and roadway mean the portion of a street, or road including shoulders, for vehicular use.  

Subbase course means the layers of specified or selected material of designated thickness placed 
on the subgrade to support a base course or surface course.  

Subgrade means the top surface of a street bed upon which the pavement structure and shoulders 
are constructed or upon which the subbase course is constructed.  

Surface course means one or more layers of pavement designed to accommodate the traffic load. 
The top layer may be referred to as the wearing course. The bottom layer may be referred to as the 
binder course or pavement base course.  

Walkway means a pedestrian way other than a street sidewalk.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 4)  

Secs. 46-146—46-173. Reserved. 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
DIVISION 2. ‐ SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Subdivision I. In General 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 1 

DIVISION 2. SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Subdivision I. In General 
Sec. 60-1276. Purpose. 

Sec. 60-1277. Objective. 

Sec. 60-1278. Applicability. 

Secs. 60-1279—60-1299. Reserved. 

 
 

Sec. 60-1276. Purpose. 

The purpose of site plan review is to ensure that the design and layout of certain developments 
permitted by special exceptions, or other developments noted herein, will constitute suitable development 
and will not result in a detriment to city, neighborhood or the environment.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1A)  

Sec. 60-1277. Objective. 

In considering a site plan, the planning board shall make findings that the development has made 
provisions for:  

(1) Protection of adjacent areas against detrimental or offensive uses on the site by provision of 
adequate surface water drainage, buffers against artificial and reflected light, sight, sound, dust 
and vibration; and preservation of light and air;  

(2) Convenience and safety of vehicular, bicycle and pedestrian movement within the site and in 
relation to adjacent areas;  

(3) Adequacy of the methods of disposal for wastes; and 

(4) Protection of environment features on the site and in adjacent areas. 

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1B)  

Sec. 60-1278. Applicability. 

A site plan review shall be required for the following projects:  

(1) All uses permitted by special exception. 

(2) Any other uses for which site plan review is required by any other provision contained in this or 
other ordinances.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1C)  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
DIVISION 2. ‐ SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Subdivision I. In General 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 2 

Secs. 60-1279—60-1299. Reserved.



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
DIVISION 2. ‐ SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Subdivision II. Procedure 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 3 

Subdivision II. Procedure 
Sec. 60-1300. File for site plan review. 

Sec. 60-1301. Scale; required information. 

Sec. 60-1302. Exemption for information. 

Sec. 60-1303. Approval—Time line for review. 

Sec. 60-1304. Same—Public hearing; findings. 

Sec. 60-1305. Same—Subject to conditions, modification, restrictions, etc. 

Sec. 60-1306. Signed copies. 

Sec. 60-1307. Findings in writing. 

Sec. 60-1308. Expiration of approval. 

Sec. 60-1309. No building permitted without approval. 

Sec. 60-1310. Certificate of occupancy. 

Sec. 60-1311. Deposit of surety. 

Sec. 60-1312. Review of planning board needed for variance. 

Sec. 60-1313. Correction of off-site deficiencies. 

Secs. 60-1314—60-1334. Reserved. 

 
 

Sec. 60-1300. File for site plan review. 

An applicant for site plan review shall file with the department of community development and 
planning a completed site plan application along with an original and 20 copies of the site plan and the 
required processing fee. Such plans shall be filed not less than 30 days prior to a regularly scheduled 
meeting. Plans shall be folded at a size not to exceed 8½ inches by 11 inches.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(1))  

Sec. 60-1301. Scale; required information. 

The original plan shall be drawn on reproducible Mylar at a scale of no more than 100 feet to the 
inch. Each site plan shall contain the following information:  

(1) Name and address of owner and developer and interest of the applicant if other than the owner 
or developer.  

(2) Name of development, scale and meridian arrow, with specific definition of representation, date 
of plan and legend.  

(3) Names and addresses of all owners of record of all adjacent property as appear on assessor's 
records.  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
DIVISION 2. ‐ SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Subdivision II. Procedure 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 4 

(4) Current zoning boundaries and 100-year floodplain boundaries including surrounding areas to a 
distance of 300 feet from the perimeter of the site.  

(5) Easements; rights-of-way, existing, planned or proposed; or other reservations adjacent to or 
intersecting the property.  

(6) Topographic map of the site, containing the following: 

a. Existing contours, where the slope of existing ground surface is generally two percent or 
more, the topographic map shall show contours at intervals of five feet of elevation (or 
lesser intervals as the planning board or engineering department may prescribe). Where 
the slope of the existing ground surface is generally less than two percent, contour 
intervals of one foot shall be shown. These contours shall not be copied from the city 
topographic maps and shall be determined from an on-site survey certified by a registered 
land surveyor.  

b. Proposed contours shall be shown at intervals to be determined by the city engineer. 

(7) Location of watercourses, wetlands, marshes, surface water, rock outcroppings, wooded areas, 
single trees with a diameter of ten inches measured three feet from the base of the trunk.  

(8) Location of buildings existing on the tract to be developed and on adjacent tracts within a 
distance of 100 feet from the property line, indicating whether existing buildings on the tract are 
to be retained, modified or removed.  

(9) Locations of water mains, sewer mains, wells, fire hydrants, culverts, drains, pipe sizes, grades 
and direction of flow, existing within 200 feet of the subject property.  

(10) Existing soil conditions and soil suitability test results. 

(11) Locations of proposed buildings and uses thereof. 

(12) Proposed traffic circulation system including streets, parking lots, driveways and other access 
and egress facilities, curblines, sidewalk lines and existing streets, including the projected traffic 
flow patterns into and upon the site for both vehicles, bicycles and pedestrians and an estimate 
of the projected number of motor vehicle trips to and from the site for an average day and for 
peak hours.  

(13) Location of existing and proposed public utility lines, indicating whether proposed lines will be 
placed underground.  

(14) Site developments requiring stormwater permits pursuant to 38 M.R.S.A. § 420-D shall include 
the required plan and to the extent permitted under 38 M.R.S.A. § 489-A, be reviewed under the 
procedures of article XVI of this chapter; and they shall meet and comply with 38 M.R.S.A. § 
484(4-A) and those Rules promulgated by the Maine Department of Environmental Protection 
pursuant to the Site Law and section 420-D, specifically Rules 500 and 502, as last amended 
December 21, 2006. Adopted September 22, 2005, said Rules taking effect November 16, 
2005, as enacted by Legislative Resolve, chapter 87, Public Laws of 2005 (LD 625/HP 458), 
amended March 20, 2006. If a project proposes infiltration and the standards in Rule 500, 
appendix D are not met, then a waste discharge license may be required from the Maine 
Department of Environmental Protection. An infiltration system serving a development regulated 
under the Site Location of Development Act may be required to meet standards in addition to 
those in appendix D.  

(15) Location and design of proposed off-street parking and loading areas indicating number and 
size of stalls.  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
DIVISION 2. ‐ SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Subdivision II. Procedure 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 5 

(16) Proposed location and direction of and time of use of outdoor lighting. 

(17) Existing and proposed planting, fences and walls, including all landscaping and screening and 
indicating existing trees to be retained and areas to be left undisturbed, including design 
features intended to integrate the proposed new development into the existing landscape to 
enhance aesthetic assets and to screen objectionable features from neighbors.  

(18) Location, size, design and manner of illumination of signs. 

(19) Disposal of sewage, trash, solid waste, oil waste, hazardous waste or radioactive waste 
showing disposal facilities, receptacles or areas.  

(20) Perimeter boundaries of the site giving complete descriptive lot data by bearings, distances and 
radii of curves including the name and seal of the registered land surveyor who prepared the 
plan.  

(21) Description and plan of capacity and location of means of sewage disposal together with 
approval of sewer district engineer or evidence of soil suitability for such disposal (test pit 
locations shall be shown on the plans) similarly approved by the city engineer department.  

(22) A statement of the amount of area of land involved in the site, the percentage of the site 
proposed to be covered by buildings, the total number of dwelling units proposed per acre, the 
area proposed to be devoted to open space, the area proposed to be paved for parking, 
driveways, loading space and sidewalks, the total number of parking spaces required by the 
zoning chapter for the uses proposed, the number of employees expected per shift and the total 
floor area of proposed commercial or industrial uses.  

(23) Description and plan of a phase development concept detailing the areas and sequence of 
phasing.  

(24) A statement by the developer assuring that he has the financial capabilities to fully carry out the 
project and to comply with the conditions imposed by the planning board.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(2))  

Sec. 60-1302. Exemption for information. 

Upon request, the planning board, or the planning director, acting for the board, may waive the 
necessity of providing any of the foregoing planning information which is not relevant to the proposed 
development.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(3))  

Sec. 60-1303. Approval—Time line for review. 

The planning director shall, within five days of receipt, transmit copies of the application and site plan 
to the department that in his view requires such information. The agencies receiving these copies shall 
have up to 15 days to make recommendations to the planning board.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(4))  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
DIVISION 2. ‐ SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Subdivision II. Procedure 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 6 

Sec. 60-1304. Same—Public hearing; findings. 

The planning board shall, within 30 days of receipt of a completed application, hold a public hearing. 
Notice of a hearing shall be given in the manner provided for in division 3 of article XVII of this chapter. 
The planning board will take final action on the site plan within 60 days of receiving a completed 
application, or within such other time limit as may be mutually agreed to. Such final action shall consist of 
either:  

(1) A finding and determination that the proposed project will constitute a suitable development and 
will not result in a detriment to the neighborhood or the environment; or  

(2) A written denial of the application stating the reasons for such denial, upon a finding that:  

a. The provisions for vehicular loading, unloading and parking and for vehicular and 
pedestrian circulation on the site and onto adjacent public streets will create hazards to 
safety and/or is inconsistent with the City’s Complete Streets Policy.  

b. The bulk, location or operation of proposed buildings and structures will be detrimental to 
and adversely affect the use and values of existing development in the neighborhood or 
the health or safety of persons residing or working therein.  

c. The provisions for on-site landscaping are inadequate to screen neighboring properties 
from unsightly features of the development.  

d. The site plan does not adequately provide for the soil and drainage problems which the 
development may give rise to in accordance with section 60-1301(14).  

e. The provisions for exterior lighting create safety hazards for motorists traveling on adjacent 
streets, or are inadequate for the safety or occupants or users of the site, or will create a 
nuisance affecting adjacent properties.  

f. The proposed development will unduly burden off-site sewer drainage or water systems. 

g. The proposed development will create a fire hazard by failing to provide adequate access 
to the site, or to buildings on the site, for emergency vehicles.  

h. The proposed development violates provisions of the zoning regulations applicable to the 
site or other applicable laws, regulations or ordinances.  

i. The proposed development will unduly impact the ability to provide municipal services. 

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(5))  

Sec. 60-1305. Same—Subject to conditions, modification, restrictions, etc. 

Approval may be made subject to conditions, modifications and restrictions as the planning board 
may deem necessary; and any construction, reconstruction, alteration or addition shall be carried on only 
in conformity to such conditions, modifications or restrictions and in conformity with the application and 
site plan.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(6))  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
DIVISION 2. ‐ SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Subdivision II. Procedure 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 7 

Sec. 60-1306. Signed copies. 

If no action is taken within 60 days after submittal of a completed application, the site plan shall be 
deemed to have been approved. An original of the approved plan signed by the planning board and one 
signed copy shall be delivered to the applicant, the assessor's department, the engineering department 
and to the building inspector on which basis building permits may be issued when all other required plans 
have been approved.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(7))  

Sec. 60-1307. Findings in writing. 

The findings of the planning board shall be in writing with a copy being forwarded to the applicant. 
The planning board's written report shall also include a statement as to how any deficiencies in the site 
plan might be resolved and what conditions, modifications and restrictions are to be complied with in 
executing the plan.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(8))  

Sec. 60-1308. Expiration of approval. 

Approval of a site plan shall expire one year after the date of approval unless all building permits 
have been obtained to begin construction in accordance with the approved site plan. Any site plan that 
contains a phase concept approved by the planning board shall not be required to obtain all building 
permits within the time sequence established for completion of each phase. No building permits or other 
permits shall be issued until all improvements are substantially completed for the preceding phase. A 
single one-year extension may be given upon a showing of good cause in writing by the applicant to the 
planning board not less than 30 days before the expiration of approval of his existing plan. The planning 
board shall approve or disapprove the requested extension at its next regular meeting.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(9))  

Sec. 60-1309. No building permitted without approval. 

No permit shall be issued for the construction of any building in an area included in the site plan or in 
any development for which a site plan is required until such site plan has been approved by the planning 
board and unless the construction plans and specifications presented to the building inspector with the 
application for the permit are consistent with the approved site plan.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(10))  

Sec. 60-1310. Certificate of occupancy. 

No certificate of occupancy shall be issued with respect to any building until all construction called for 
by the site plan is completed, except by special permission of the planning board granted upon a showing 
of special circumstances warranted the issuance of the certificate and that the remaining construction will 
be completed within a reasonable time.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(11))  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 
DIVISION 2. ‐ SITE PLAN REVIEW 

Subdivision II. Procedure 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 8 

Sec. 60-1311. Deposit of surety. 

The planning board may require the applicant with the submission of the site plan to tender a 
certified check payable to the city and issued by a surety company or secured by deposits issued by 
institutions authorized to issue the same by the laws of the state or the United States or irrevocable letters 
of credit issued by said banking institutions in an amount of money determined by the city planner, with 
the advice of the various city departments and agencies concerned, to be sufficient to ensure compliance 
with the approved site plan.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(12))  

Sec. 60-1312. Review of planning board needed for variance. 

For those developments subject to site plan review (division 2 of article XVI of this chapter) the 
relaxation of the dimensional requirements of any use district shall be reviewed by the planning board. 
The modifications of the dimensional requirements shall be allowed as the planning board may deem 
necessary to carry out the objectives and intent of site plan review as specified in division 2 of article XVI 
of this chapter.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D(13))  

Sec. 60-1313. Correction of off-site deficiencies. 

The planning board shall have the right to require the developer, at his expense, to correct any off-
site deficiencies either created or aggravated by the developer's proposed project.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.1D)  

Secs. 60-1314—60-1334. Reserved. 



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 1 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

Sec. 46-174. Applicability. 

Sec. 46-175. Minimum street design and construction standards chart. 

Sec. 46-176. Subsurface soil exploration. 

Sec. 46-177. Rights-of-way. 

Sec. 46-178. Arrangement and layout. 

Sec. 46-179. Intersections. 

Sec. 46-180. Culs-de-sac (dead-end streets). 

Sec. 46-181. Alignment and grades. 

Sec. 46-182. Sidewalks and other walkways. 

Sec. 46-183. Street construction materials. 

Sec. 46-184. Street construction standards. 

Secs. 46-185—46-206. Reserved. 

 

 

Sec. 46-174. Applicability. 

For the purpose of this article, design requirements shall relate to the following street classifications:  

(1) Street classification I.  

a. Local street. A local street serves primarily for access to abutting residential properties.  

b. Cul-de-sac. A cul-de-sac is a local, industrial or commercial street with only one end open 
to traffic and being terminated at the other end by a vehicular turnaround; also referred to 
as a dead-end street.  

c. Collector street. A collector street serves the internal traffic of the city, providing circulation 
within or through a development and connecting local streets to the arterial system.  

d. Arterial street. An arterial street serves as a major traffic way for travel between and 
through urban centers and neighborhoods. The design and construction of arterial streets 
is not included in this article due to the significant special design considerations and 
uniqueness of each project.  

e. Industrial and commercial streets. Industrial and commercial streets are streets within such 
zones and provide access to industrial and commercial users.  

f. Private streets. Private streets are streets which may be constructed as part of a 
residential, planned unit, commercial or industrial development. Private streets receive no 
public funding; will never be maintained or improved by the city; and will remain private 
property.  

g. Lanes. Lanes are streets providing access to ten or less lots in a residential subdivision or 
with average daily traffic (ADT) of 100 vehicles or less. A cul-de-sac providing for access to 



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 2 

the same number of units or with the same ADT shall be considered a lane and shall meet 
the same standards.  

(2) Street classification II.  

a. Urban. Urban design standards shall be defined as paved streets with such appurtenances 
as curbs, esplanades, paved sidewalks and an enclosed under drain/stormwater 
conveyance system with catchbasins, manholes and associated piping.  

b. Rural. Rural design standards shall be defined as paved streets with gravel shoulders and 
with side ditches and culverts for the transportation of groundwater seepage and 
stormwater.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.1)  

Sec. 46-175. Minimum street design and construction standards chart. 

The minimum street design and construction standards chart is intended to show minimum widths 
and design standards for a particular classification of street. If, in the opinion of the city engineer, traffic 
use or geometric considerations for a street or any part of a street warrant modifications or a greater 
standard than listed on the chart, the city engineer may require such modifications and shall submit his 
reasons in writing to the planning board. In addition, if, in the opinion of the city engineer, 
accommodations for non-motorized vehicles or pedestrians are needed in addition to those identified in 
the following charts, the city engineer may require modifications and shall submit his reasons in writing to 
the planning board.  These modifications shall be in accordance with the City’s Complete Streets Policy 
and the latest AASHTO standards. 

Item Type of Street 

Lane  Local  Collector  Industrial  

Commercial  

Average daily traffic (ADT) < 100 < 500 500 > 1,500 >  

Right-of-way width (feet) 50  50  50  66 66 60  

Pavement width (feet)    22  24 28  32  40 40 

Curbing Vertical/sloped Vertical/sloped Vertical Vertical 

Sidewalk width (feet) — 5 5 5 5 5 

Sidewalk esplanade (feet) — 5 5 5 5 5 

Minimum grade (percent) 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 

../level2/PTIICOOR_CH50TE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH50TE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH50TE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH50TE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH50TE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH50TE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH60ZO.docx#PTIICOOR_CH60ZO
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH22HESA.docx#PTIICOOR_CH22HESA
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH28MAMOHO.docx#PTIICOOR_CH28MAMOHO
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH32OF.docx#PTIICOOR_CH32OF


PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 3 

Maximum grade (percent) 8 8 8 6 6 5 

Maximum grade within 75 feet of intersection 

(percent) 

3 3 2 3 3 2 

Minimum centerline radius (feet) 150 150 150 300 300 300 

Minimum tangent between reverse curves 

(feet) 

— — — 300 300 300 

Minimum pavement cross slope (inches/feet) 3/8 3/8 3/8 ¼ ¼ ¼ 

Minimum angle of street 

intersection (degrees) 

75 75 75 90 90 90 

Design speed (mph) 25  25  25  35  35  35  

K factor—crest vertical curve 20  20  20  35  35  50  

K factor—sag vertical curve 30  30  30  40 40 50  

Curb radii at intersection (feet) 20  20  20  30  30  30  

Property line radii at 

intersection (feet) 

20  20  20  20  20  20  

  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.1)  

Sec. 46-176. Subsurface soil exploration. 

(a) The purpose of the subsurface soils exploration is to determine the engineering properties and 
conditions of the soil and rock which exist below the ground surface in order to properly design 
streets and other improvements.  

(b) A high intensity soil survey (also required in section 46-209(b)(1)e) shall be conducted by a certified 
soil scientist, meeting the standards of the National Cooperative Soil Survey, which identifies soil 
types down to one-tenth acre or less at a scale equivalent to the development plan submitted. The 

../level2/PTIICOOR_CH25RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH25RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH25RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH25RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH25RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH25RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH35RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH35RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH35RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH35RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH35RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH35RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH35RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH35RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH35RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH35RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH50TE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH50TE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH30NU.docx#PTIICOOR_CH30NU
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH30NU.docx#PTIICOOR_CH30NU
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH30NU.docx#PTIICOOR_CH30NU
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH50TE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH50TE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH30NU.docx#PTIICOOR_CH30NU
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH30NU.docx#PTIICOOR_CH30NU
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH30NU.docx#PTIICOOR_CH30NU
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR.docx#PTIICOOR_CH20FIPRPR
../level4/PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV3DRERCOST.docx#PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV3DRERCOST_S46-209ERSECOSTMAPL


PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 4 

mapping units shall be the soil series. Single soil test pits and their evaluation shall not be 
considered to constitute high intensity soil surveys.  

(c) Test pit or boring locations shall be shown on the development plan. 

(d) Soil profiles shall include seasonal high and existing groundwater elevations. 

(e) The city engineer may request additional test pits or borings to determine the limits of unsuitable 
material or to provide additional information for adequate design of the pavement structure.  

(f) If, during construction, subsurface soils vary from original classifications, the pavement structure 
design shall be modified to reflect the new soil types and submitted to the city engineer for approval.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.1)  

Sec. 46-177. Rights-of-way. 

(a) The minimum width of rights-of-way for streets to be dedicated or established after the effective date 
of the ordinance from which this article is derived shall conform to the widths as shown in the 
minimum street design and construction standards chart as set forth in section 46-175  

(b) The city may require that additional rights-of-way width be provided for future extension of the street.  

(c) The extension of an existing street, of the same classification as the existing street, shall be 
constructed at the same or greater width as required.  

(d) Proposed developments along existing, dedicated or platted streets where rights-of-way are 
inadequate shall include additional land to meet the minimum standards. Land reserved for such 
purposes may not be used in satisfying setback, yard or area requirements of the zoning districts.  

(e) Reserve or spite strips controlling the access to streets shall be prohibited except where their control 
is placed with the city.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.1)  

Sec. 46-178. Arrangement and layout. 

(a) The arrangement, character, extent, width, grade and location of all streets to be dedicated to the 
public and all private streets shall be considered in their relation:  

(1) To existing and planned streets; 

(2) To reasonable circulation of traffic within developments and on adjoining streets; 

(3) To topographical conditions; 

(4) To runoff of stormwater; 

(5) To public pedestrian and vehicular convenience and safety; and 

(6) To their appropriate relation to the proposed uses of the areas to be served. 

(b) Proposed streets shall conform to the comprehensive plan as adopted by the city. 

(c) All streets shall be designed so that they provide for safe vehicular travel while discouraging the 
movement of through traffic over local streets.  

(d) To the extent practicable, culs-de-sac shall be avoided in favor of loop streets, and if included in the 
development, shall be minimal in number.  

../level4/PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV2ST.docx#PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV2ST_S46-175MISTDECOSTCH


PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 5 

(e) Developments generating 1,000 or more vehicle trips per 24-hour period will provide two or more 
separate points of vehicular access into and out of the site.  

(f) Driveway access to collector or arterial streets shall be avoided to facilitate the free flow of traffic and 
minimize traffic hazards.  

(g) Nonresidential developments will provide a clear route for delivery vehicles with the appropriate 
geometric design to allow turning and backing for WB-40 vehicles (i.e., tractor-trailer combinations).  

(h) The layout and design of parking areas shall provide for safe and convenient circulation of vehicles 
throughout the lot and shall prohibit vehicles from backing out onto a street or road.  

(i) Where a development abuts or contains an existing or proposed arterial street, the planning board 
may require:  

(1) Marginal access streets (i.e., street parallel to arterial street providing access to adjacent lots);  

(2) Reverse frontage lots (i.e., frontage on a street other than the existing or proposed arterial 
street) with screen planting contained in a nonaccess reservation along the rear property line; or  

(3) Other such treatments as may be necessary for adequate noise reduction, visual screening and 
protection of residential properties and to afford separation of through and local traffic.  

(j) The proposed street layout shall be coordinated with the street and road system of surrounding 
areas. All streets shall provide for the continuation or appropriate projection of streets in surrounding 
areas and provide means of ingress and egress to surrounding acreage tracts.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.1)  

Sec. 46-179. Intersections. 

(a) Traffic intersections and confluences shall encourage safe and efficient traffic motorized, non-
motorized vehicular and pedestrian flow. 

(b) Streets intersecting an arterial street shall do so at a 90-degree angle. Streets intersecting collector 
or local streets shall not vary from 90 degrees by more than 15 degrees.  

(c) At street intersections, the right-of-way lines shall be rounded by a circular arc having a radius as 
tabulated in the minimum street design and construction standards chart as set forth in section 46-
175. A greater radius may be required for streets intersecting at an angle other than 90 degrees.  

(d) Cross street intersections within residential areas shall be avoided. 

(e) Intersections with more than four legs shall be prohibited. 

(f) Minimum centerline offsets of adjacent intersections shall be as follows unless, in the opinion of the 
city engineer, a lesser length is necessitated by local conditions:  

Local to local 125 feet 

Local to collector 150 feet 

Local to arterial 250 feet 

../level4/PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV2ST.docx#PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV2ST_S46-175MISTDECOSTCH
../level4/PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV2ST.docx#PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV2ST_S46-175MISTDECOSTCH


PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 6 

Collector to collector 200 feet 

Collector to arterial 250 feet 

  

(g) Horizontal curves shall be no closer than 135 feet to the center of an intersection unless otherwise 
approved by the city engineer.  

(h) Where new street intersections or driveway curb cuts are proposed, sight distances, as measured 
along the street or road onto which traffic will be turning, shall be based upon the posted speed limit 
and conform to the following table:  

Posted Speed Limit 

(mph)  

Sign Distance 

(feet) 

25  200 

30  300 

35  350 

40 400 

45  450 

50  500 

55  550 

  

(i) Where necessary to achieve required visibility, corner lots shall be cleared of all growth and sight 
obstruction, including earth excavation, and deed covenants shall be attached to prohibit future 
emplacement of sight obstructions.  

(j) Vehicular access to developments shall be from streets or roads that have adequate capacity to 
accommodate the additional traffic generated by the development. The level of service after 
development at intersections on major access routes to the development and at the intersection of 
any development access drive or proposed street shall be at a minimum at predevelopment levels of 
service. The developer shall mitigate development impacts that result in a reduced level of service.  

../level2/PTIICOOR_CH25RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH25RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH30NU.docx#PTIICOOR_CH30NU
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH35RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH35RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH45RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH45RE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH50TE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH50TE
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH55RE.docx#PTIICOOR_CH55RE


PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 7 

(k) For developments subject to planning board review that will result in a reduction in the level of 
service, the planning board may waive the lower level of service restriction in subsection (j) of this 
section, subject to written recommendations of the director of community services, public works 
director and chief of police; also subject to input from the Lewiston-Auburn comprehensive 
transportation study, or their designees, and the state department of transportation.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.1)  

Sec. 46-180. Culs-de-sac (dead-end streets). 

(a) Local residential standards.  

(1) In addition to the design standards for local residential streets, culs-de-sac shall be constructed 
to provide for a circular turnaround with minimum dimensions as follows:  

a. Radii at circular turnaround with a center island: 

1. Property line, 75 feet. 

2. Outer edge of pavement, 66 feet. 

3. Inner edge of pavement, 44 feet. 

b. Radii at circular turnaround without a center island: 

1. Property line, 60 feet. 

2. Outer edge of pavement, 50 feet. 

(2) At the end of temporary culs-de-sac, a temporary turnaround shall be constructed with an 
outside edge of pavement diameter of 90 feet or a backing space extending at least 30 feet 
beyond the edge of the street, and the end of the street extending at least 30 feet beyond the 
edge of the backing space. Pavement widths for backing spaces shall be identical to the type of 
street.  

(3) Culs-de-sac shall be a maximum of 600 feet in length measured from the centerline of the 
feeder street to the center of the turnaround radius unless the planning board finds that a 
greater length will not create a hazard as based on the availability of hydrants, accessibility to 
firefighting equipment and anticipated use of abutting properties.  

(b) Collector, industrial and commercial standards. Presentation of special design, discussion and 
written permission of the planning board shall be required for those conditions that may require culs-
de-sac under the category of collector, industrial or commercial.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.1)  

Sec. 46-181. Alignment and grades. 

(a) Alignment for local streets in residential areas shall be curvilinear, utilizing existing topography so as 
to discourage high speed. Insofar as possible, high cuts and fills shall be avoided. Caution shall be 
taken in the design of the alignment so that the safety of the facility is not reduced.  

(b) Alignment and grades for collector streets or streets in industrial or commercial areas should be 
commensurate with the topography, but should be as direct as possible.  

(c) Alignment and grades for all proposed streets shall be subject to the approval of the city engineer.  



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 8 

(d) Increases in maximum allowable grade may be allowed by the city engineer in cases of unusual 
circumstances.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.1)  

Sec. 46-182. Sidewalks and other walkways. 

It is the policy of the city to encourage developers to construct bike lanes, sidewalks and shared-use 
paths as part of all new residential and commercial projects in order to enhance the quality of life, area 
aesthetics and neighborhood integrity, and to promote alternative, nonmotorized modes of transportation.  

(1) Sidewalks with esplanades shall be provided along one side of all local streets and both sides of 
all collector, commercial and industrial streets, and shall connect with the existing sidewalk 
network in the vicinity of the development. Bike lanes and shared-use paths may also be 
required on all types of streets where the planning board views that there is a need.  

(2) The planning board may require walkways in open space or recreation areas that are designed 
to link residential units with recreational and commercial facilities, other common facilities, 
school bus stops, and existing sidewalks and walkways in the vicinity.  

(3) Sidewalks and walkways shall be clear and free of encumbrances. 

(4) Areas within street rights-of-way which are reserved for future sidewalks and esplanades shall 
be designed and graded to the standards and specifications contained in this article.  

(5) Esplanades shall be sloped at one-half inch per foot from the sidewalk to the street curb and 
shall be loamed, seeded and mulched in accordance with the city's design standards.  

(6) The planning board may waive the requirement to build sidewalks under the following 
circumstances:  

a. When the developer can demonstrate to the planning board's satisfaction that the nature of 
the development does not lend itself to pedestrian uses by the residents, employees or the 
public;  

b. When the developer can demonstrate that the cost of building the sidewalk makes the 
project financially impossible (i.e., the developer has sufficient financing for the project 
except for the cost directly attributable to the construction of the sidewalks);  

c. With respect to residential developments, if there are no existing sidewalks in the proximity 
of the development and the city has no plans to construct sidewalks that would connect to 
the proposed development, the planning board may waive the requirement at the 
developer's request. If the city does have plans to construct new sidewalks that would 
connect to the proposed development, then the planning board shall require the developer 
to place an amount in interest bearing escrow sufficient to fund the cost of constructing 
sidewalks within the development. If the city has not budgeted the new connecting 
sidewalk within five years after the development has been completed, at the request of the 
developer to the city manager, the city shall return the money held in escrow, plus interest.  

1. Street names.  

(i) Streets that join and are in alignment with existing streets shall bear the same 
name. Names of new streets shall not duplicate, nor bear phonetic resemblance 
to the names of existing streets and roads within the city. Names of new streets 
to be accepted by the city shall be subject to the approval of 911 and the city 



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 9 

council. Names of new streets that are not to be accepted by the city shall be 
subject to the approval of 911 and the planning board.  

(ii) Initial street name signs shall be furnished and installed by the city with the cost 
of such installation being borne by the developer.  

2. Traffic control devices. All initial signing and pavement markings required for the 
proper control of pedestrian, bicycle and vehicular traffic within the development shall 
be paid for by the developer. The city shall furnish and install all such devices. The 
types and locations of all such devices shall be determined by the police chief and 
public works director, and shall be in conformance with the Manual on Uniform Traffic 
Control Devices, current revision.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.1)  

Sec. 46-183. Street construction materials. 

(a) Generally. Street construction materials as specified in this article shall conform to MDOT 
specifications unless otherwise noted.  

(b) Type and minimum allowable depth. Minimum requirements for materials are as follows:  

 Minimum Requirements 

Lane Local 

(inches)  

Collector 

(inches)  

Industrial 

Commercial 

(inches)  

Street materials:   

 Aggregate subbase 

course 

15 18  18  

 Aggregate base course 3 3 3 

 Hot bituminous pavement: 

  Total thickness 3½ 4 5 

  Surface course 1½ 1½ 1½ 

  Base course 2 2½ ½ 

../level2/PTIICOOR_CH18EN.docx#PTIICOOR_CH18EN
../level2/PTIICOOR_CH18EN.docx#PTIICOOR_CH18EN


PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 10 

Sidewalk materials:   

 Aggregate subbase 

course 

12 12 12 

 Hot bituminous pavement: 

  Total thickness 2 2 2 

  Surface course 1 1 1 

  Base course 1 1 1 

Driveway apron materials 

(within right-of-way of 

urban design):  

 

 Aggregate subbase 

course 

12 12 12 

 Hot bituminous pavement: 

  Total thickness 3 3 4 

  Surface course 1 1 1 

  Base course 2 2 3 

Curbing materials:   

 Granite stone curbing, 

type 1 

   

 Bituminous curbing, 

type 3 

   

 Granite stone edging,    



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 11 

type 5 

  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.2)  

Sec. 46-184. Street construction standards. 

(a) Generally. All streets shall be constructed according to the specifications in this section as overseen 
by the city engineer.  

(b) Clearing, grading, cuts and fills.  

(1) Clearing. Before grading is started, the entire right-of-way area shall be cleared of all stumps, 
roots, brush and other objectionable material and all trees not intended for preservation in 
accordance with MDOT specifications, section 201, Clearing Right-of-Way. Rights-of-way for 
rural design streets shall not be cleared in those areas that will enhance the natural appearance 
and attractiveness of the development while not conflicting with this article.  

(2) Grading. All streets and roads shall be graded to their full width by the developer so that 
pavements and sidewalks can be constructed on parallel profiles. Due to special topographical 
conditions, deviation from such requirement will be allowed only with special approval of the city 
engineer.  

(3) Subgrades. Subgrades shall be prepared in accordance with MDOT specifications, section 203, 
Excavation and Embankment, in particular subsection 203.17, Preparation and Protection of the 
Subgrade.  

(4) Cuts. Cuts shall be in accordance with MDOT specifications, section 203, Excavation and 
Embankment. Tree stumps and other organic materials shall be removed to a depth of two feet 
below the subgrade. Rocks and boulders, when encountered, shall be scarified or removed to 
subgrade.  

(5) Fills. Fills shall be in accordance with MDOT specifications, section 203, Excavation and 
Embankment. Excess materials, including organic materials, soft clays, etc., shall be removed 
from the street site. The fill shall be spread in layers not to exceed 12 inches loose measure and 
compacted.  

(6) Backfilling. Backfilling, to include utility trenches, shall be in accordance with MDOT 
specifications, section 206, Structural Excavation, and other applicable sections such as those 
that address backfilling of curbs, under drains, culverts and other typical street and road 
structures. Separate layers of backfill material of specified thickness shall be mechanically 
tamped.  

(7) Side slopes. All side slopes shall be no steeper than three horizontal to one vertical unless 
provided for under subsection (g) of this section. All slopes shall be loamed, seeded and 
mulched in accordance with section 46-209(f)(4) through (6).  

(c) Sanitary sewers, storm drains and other utilities.  

(1) All utilities shall be located underground and as required in subsections (c)(2) through (11) of 
this section unless otherwise approved by the city engineer.  

../level4/PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV3DRERCOST.docx#PTIICOOR_CH46STSIOTPUPL_ARTVDECOST_DIV3DRERCOST_S46-209ERSECOSTMAPL


PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 12 

(2) Sewer mains shall be located approximately along the centerline of the street at a 
recommended average depth of eight feet.  

(3) Sewer manholes shall be located on the street centerline at the crown of the road and the top 
surface of the manhole rim or cover shall be flush with the pavement surface.  

(4) To the extent practicable, under drain/stormwater conveyance pipes shall be located along 
gutter lines on a line one foot in front of the toe of the face of the curb and with a minimum cover 
of four feet.  

(5) Water mains shall be located under the sidewalk at an elevation greater (i.e., a depth less than) 
the sewer main and sewer service laterals and at a recommended depth of 5½ feet.  

(6) Hydrants shall be located one foot in back of the face of the curb. 

(7) Gas mains shall be located under the esplanade on the same side of the street as the water 
main and with a minimum cover of 2½ feet.  

(8) Gas mains shall be installed after the installation of all other underground utilities. 

(9) Telephone, electrical and cable television lines shall be located under the esplanade on the side 
of the street opposite the water and gas mains. Electrical lines shall have a minimum cover of 
2½ feet. Electrical lines for rural design shall be located in the gravel shoulder and shall have a 
minimum cover of three feet and be a minimum of two feet below cross culverts and ditch lines 
where applicable. All wiring shall be placed in PVC conduit and also encased in concrete where 
passing under the ditch line. Warning tape shall be placed above the conduit at a depth of one 
foot.  

(10) All sanitary sewers, storm drains and underground utility mains and their services shall be 
installed within the street right-of-way prior to the placement of the aggregate base/subbase 
course unless a waiver in writing is obtained from the city engineer.  

(11) All utility service laterals shall extend to the street right-of-way abutting the lot to be served, 
where they will be properly capped or terminated. An accurate record of each such utility 
service lateral, its location and its depth at the street right-of-way shall be kept by the developer 
and true copies of such record will be provided to the city engineer and the appropriate utility. 
Such location of the utility service laterals at the street right-of-way line shall be physically 
marked by the placement of a wooden stake, driven to the depth of the service, with enough of 
the stake exposed above the ground to be readily visible, and marked as to the type of service.  

(d) Geotextiles, subbase and base, and pavement. MDOT specifications, section 620, Geotextiles, 
subsection 722.01, Stabilization Geotextile, section 304, Aggregate Base and Subbase Course, and 
section 403, Hot Bituminous Pavement, shall be applicable to this subject, except as follows:  

(1) Geotextiles. The use of geotextiles under the aggregate subbase for the purpose of subgrade 
soil stabilization and increased tensile strength shall be as directed by the city engineer.  

(2) Subbase and base.  

a. Aggregate subbase course. Aggregate for subbase shall not contain particles of rock which 
will not pass the four-inch square mesh sieve.  

b. Aggregate base course. Aggregate for base shall not contain particles of rock which will 
not pass the two-inch square mesh sieve.  

(3) Pavement.  



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 13 

a. Streets shall not be paved until all underground utilities and their service laterals have been 
installed, nor until the aggregate base/subbase course has been inspected and approved 
by the city engineer.  

b. Where pavement placed joins an existing pavement, the existing pavement shall be cut 
along a smooth line and to a neat, even vertical joint. Broken or raveled edges, or deviation 
from grade will not be permitted.  

c. Gradation of aggregates for plant mix hot bituminous pavements shall be as specified in 
MDOT specifications, section 703.09, Aggregate for Plant Mix Hot Bituminous Pavement, 
unless otherwise approved by the city engineer.  

d. Proper drainage in curbed areas, especially transition approaches to catchbasins, 
sluiceways and paved outlet gutters, is of utmost importance. Before placing the surface 
(wearing) course in any urban area where the drainage is critical, the base (binder) course 
grade should be checked with a transit or level.  

(e) Curbing. MDOT specifications, section 609, Curbing, shall be applicable to this subject, except as 
follows:  

(1) Curbing, where required, shall be vertical curb type 1 (quarried granite stone) unless otherwise 
allowed in this article.  

(2) Vertical curb type 1 circular shall be used for the radii at all intersections regardless of the curb 
type allowed on the remainder of the street.  

(3) On local streets, bituminous curbing type 3, either vertical or sloped face, may be used, unless 
determined to be unsuitable by the city engineer.  

(4) Curb type 5 shall be used for cul-de-sac center islands when granite curbing is required. 

(5) Vertical curb reveal shall be seven inches for type 1 (granite) and six inches for type 3 
(bituminous), unless otherwise indicated by the city engineer.  

(f) Sidewalks. MDOT specifications, section 608, Sidewalks, shall be applicable to this subject.  

(g) Guardrails. MDOT specifications, section 606, Guard Rail, shall be applicable to this subject. 
Guardrails may be required:  

(1) On sections of street where side slopes are steeper than three horizontal to one vertical; 

(2) Where the street is greater than eight feet above the bottom of the street side slope; 

(3) At sudden changes of alignment; 

(4) Where other street obstacles exist; 

(5) On narrow bridges; or 

(6) As otherwise determined by the city engineer. 

(h) Temporary markers. The developer shall furnish, install and maintain all stakes, marks or temporary 
structures necessary for marking and maintaining the points, lines and grades for construction of the 
street and other improvements to the approved plan, profile and cross sections.  

(i) Monuments. MDOT specifications, section 623, Monuments, and subsection 712.04, Stone Curbing 
and Edging, shall be applicable to this subject, except as follows:  

(1) A minimum of three granite monuments shall be set at appropriate corners of the perimeter of 
the proposed development tract as determined by the city engineer. Also, granite monuments 



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 46 - STREETS, SIDEWALKS AND OTHER PUBLIC PLACES 

ARTICLE V. - DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS 

DIVISION 2. STREETS 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 14 

shall be set at all street corners, at all points where the street line intersects the exterior of the 
development, and at angle points and points of curvature or tangency in each street.  

(2) Monuments shall be six inches above the ground except in lawns, drives and parking lots where 
they shall be flush.  

(3) If there is ledge (rock) between one foot and three feet below the ground, a two-foot diameter 
concrete collar, with or without dowels, in accordance with MDOT specifications, shall be 
provided. If the ledge is less than one foot below the ground, an approved survey marker shall 
be grouted or embedded in the ledge.  

(4) All granite monuments shall be four feet long, except where the ledge does not allow, and a 
square six inches on each side. The monuments shall be provided with a drill hole and a 
magnetic aluminum or brass marker, such as the Bernsten models, with the surveyor's 
registration number and the exact survey point engraved on the surface, unless otherwise 
approved by the city engineer.  

(5) No permanent monuments shall be installed until all improvements that might disturb or damage 
the monuments have been completed.  

(Ord. of 2-26-2002, § 5.3)  

Secs. 46-185—46-206. Reserved. 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 3. SPECIAL EXCEPTION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 1 

DIVISION 3. SPECIAL EXCEPTION 
Sec. 60-1335. Approval required. 

Sec. 60-1336. Conditions. 

Sec. 60-1337. Procedures. 

Secs. 60-1338—60-1358. Reserved. 

 
 

Sec. 60-1335. Approval required. 

The planning board may approve for development those land uses listed as special exceptions under 
the terms of the zoning ordinance. The determinations of the board shall be in harmony with the 
expressed intent of the zoning ordinance and with the expressed major purpose of the city master 
development planComprehensive Plan. Special exceptions shall be allowed only when they will 
substantially serve public convenience and welfare and will not involve dangers to health or safety.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.2A)  

Sec. 60-1336. Conditions. 

(a) As conditions prerequisite to the granting of any special exceptions, the board shall require evidence 
of the following:  

(1) That the special exception sought fulfills the specific requirements, if any, set forth in the zoning 
ordinance relative to such exception.  

(2) That the special exception sought will neither create nor aggravate a traffic hazard, a fire hazard 
or any other safety hazard.  

(3) That the special exception sought will not block or hamper the master development 
planComprehensive Plan pattern of highway circulation or of planned major public or semipublic 
land acquisition.  

(4) That the exception sought will not alter the essential characteristics of the neighborhood and will 
not tend to depreciate the value of property adjoining and neighboring the property under 
application.  

(5) That reasonable provisions have been made for adequate land space, lot width, lot area, 
stormwater management in accordance with section 60-1301(14), green space, driveway 
layout, road access, off-street parking, bicycle and pedestrian connections to streets, bicycle 
storage, landscaping, building separation, sewage disposal, water supply, fire safety, and where 
applicable, a plan or contract for perpetual maintenance of all the common green space and 
clustered off-street parking areas to ensure all such areas will be maintained in a satisfactory 
manner.  

(6) That the standards imposed are, in all cases, at least as stringent as those elsewhere imposed 
by the city building code and by the provisions of this chapter.  

(7) That essential city services which will be required for the project are presently available or can 
be made available without disrupting the city's master development planComprehensive Plan.  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 3. SPECIAL EXCEPTION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 2 

(b) As part of the granting or the denial of any such petition for a special exception, the board shall show 
by written statements filed in its records of such application and by a statement in the minutes of the 
board how the special exception sought fulfills the foregoing conditions. An applicant may request 
the board to make a statement as to how the special exception may be granted without danger to 
health and safety and without substantially derogating from the essential intents and purposes of the 
zoning ordinance or of the city master development planComprehensive PlanComprehensive Plan.  

(c) Approval of a special exception may be made subject to such conditions, modifications and 
restrictions on the proposed land use as the planning board may deem necessary to carry out the 
foregoing objectives and conditions. Any development of the land uses allowed by special exception 
shall be carried out only in conformity to such conditions, modifications and restrictions in addition to 
those that may be called for by an approved site plan for the same site and shall be enforced by the 
municipal officer charged with enforcement in the same manner as specified for approved site plans. 
Any change, addition or enlargement of a use allowed by special exception shall require approval of 
the planning board in the same manner as specified for the original special exception.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.2B)  

Sec. 60-1337. Procedures. 

Special exceptions shall be subject to the site plan review procedure specified in subdivision II of 
division 2 of article XVI of this chapter. The planning board shall, within 30 days of receipt of a completed 
application, hold a public hearing. Notice of a hearing shall be given in the manner provided for in division 
3 of article XVII of this chapter. The planning board will take final action on the special exception within 60 
days after its submittal or within such other time limit as may be mutually agreed to. The applicant shall 
accompany the application with the required fee in the amount provided in the city fee schedule.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.2C)  

Secs. 60-1338—60-1358. Reserved. 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 1 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 
Sec. 60-1359. Guidelines. 

Sec. 60-1360. Procedure—For minor subdivision. 

Sec. 60-1361. Same—Major preliminary subdivision. 

Sec. 60-1362. Same—Major subdivision final plan. 

Sec. 60-1363. Final approval and filing. 

Sec. 60-1364. Enforcement. 

Sec. 60-1365. General requirements. 

Sec. 60-1366. Staff approvals and waivers. 

Sec. 60-1367. Recreation area/open space standards. 

Sec. 60-1368. Appeals. 

Secs. 60-1369—60-1380. Reserved. 

 
 

Sec. 60-1359. Guidelines. 

When reviewing any subdivision for approval, the planning board shall consider the following criteria, 
and before granting either approval or denial, shall determine that the proposed subdivision:  

(1) Will not result in undue water, air or noise pollution. In making this determination it shall at least 
consider:  

a. The elevation of land above sea level and its relation to the floodplains, the nature of soils 
and subsoils and their ability to adequately support waste disposal;  

b. The slope of the land and its effect on effluents; 

c. The availability of streams for disposal of effluents; and 

d. The applicable state and local health and water resources regulations, including 
stormwater management requirements in accordance with section 60-1301(14);  

(2) Has sufficient water available for the reasonably foreseeable needs of the subdivision; 

(3) Will not cause an unreasonable burden on an existing water supply, if one is to be utilized;  

(4) Will not cause unreasonable soil erosion or reduction in the capacity of the land to hold water so 
that a dangerous or unhealthy condition may result;  

(5) Will not cause unreasonable highway or public road congestion or unsafe conditions with 
respect to use of the highways or public roads existing or proposed and has made adequate 
provisions for the movements of bicycles and pedestrians in accordance with the City’s 
Complete Streets Policy;  

(6) Will provide for adequate sewage waste disposal; 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 2 

(7) Will not cause an unreasonable burden on the ability of a municipality to dispose of solid waste 
and sewage if municipal services are to be utilized;  

(8) Will not have an undue adverse effect on the scenic or natural beauty of the area, aesthetics, 
historic sites or rare and irreplaceable natural areas;  

(9) Is in conformance with a duly adopted subdivision regulation or ordinance, comprehensive plan, 
development plan, or land use plan, if any;  

(10) Is funded by a subdivider has adequate financial and technical capacity to meet the standards 
of this section;  

(11) Will not adversely affect the character of the surrounding neighborhood and will not tend to 
depreciate the value of property adjoining the neighboring property under application;  

(12) Has provisions for on site landscaping that are adequate to screen neighboring properties from 
unsightly features of the development;  

(13) Will not create a fire hazard and has provided adequate access to the site for emergency 
vehicles;  

(14) Will not, alone or in conjunction with existing activities, adversely affect the quality or quantity of 
groundwater;  

(15) Does not have long-term cumulative effects of the proposed subdivision will that unreasonably 
increase a great pond phosphorus concentration during the construction phase and life of the 
proposed subdivision.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3A)  

Sec. 60-1360. Procedure—For minor subdivision. 

(a) Generally. The planning board may require where it deems it necessary for the protection of public 
health, safety and welfare, that a minor subdivision comply with all or any of the requirements 
specified for major subdivision.  

(b) Procedure.  

(1) The subdivider shall submit an application for approval of a minor subdivision plan at least 30 
days prior to a scheduled meeting of the planning board.  

(2) The applicant shall secure approval from the tax assessor for a lot numbering sequence to 
ensure compatibility with the existing tax system. The numbering system will not be construed 
to indicate anything more than identification of parcels for taxation purposes.  

(3) All applications for plan approval for minor subdivision shall be accompanied by a fee in the 
amount per lot provided in the city fee schedule, payable by check to the city.  

(4) The subdivider or his duly authorized representative, shall attend the meeting of the planning 
board to discuss the plan.  

(5) Upon receiving an application, the municipal reviewing authority shall notify by mail all abutting 
property owners of the proposed subdivision, specifying the location of the proposed subdivision 
and a general description of the project. After the municipal reviewing authority has determined 
that a complete application has been filed, it shall notify the applicant and begin its full 
evaluation of the proposed subdivision.  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 3 

(6) The planning board shall, within 30 days of receiving the complete application, hold a public 
hearing on such plan. Notification shall comply with division 3 of article XVII of this chapter.  

(7) Upon receipt of a complete application, the planning board shall take final action within 30 days 
or within such other time limits which may be mutually agreed to by the developer. Such final 
action shall consist of approval, approval with conditions or disapproval of the final plan. The 
planning board shall specify its reasons for any such conditions or approval by its approved 
minutes. The planning board shall convey in writing to the developer their final action.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3B)  

Sec. 60-1361. Same—Major preliminary subdivision. 

(a) The application for approval of the preliminary plan shall be accompanied by a fee in the amount per 
lot, up to 100 lots, provided in the city fee schedule, payable by check to the city.  

(b) The applicant shall secure approval from the tax assessor for a lot numbering sequence that is 
compatible with the existing system.  

(c) The subdivider, or his duly authorized representative shall attend the meeting of the planning board 
to discuss the preliminary plan.  

(d) Upon receiving an application, the planning department shall issue to the applicant a dated receipt. 
Upon receiving an application, the planning department shall notify by mail all abutting property 
owners of the proposed subdivision, specifying the location of the proposed subdivision and a 
general description of the project.  

(e) The planning board shall within 30 days of receiving the completed application, hold a public hearing 
on the preliminary plan. The city shall publish a public hearing notice in conformance with section 60-
1474. Abutters shall also be specifically notified of this hearing by the municipality. Failure of any 
petitioner or property owner to receive such mailed notice of such a zoning hearing shall not 
necessitate another hearing and shall not constitute grounds for objections by such petitioner or 
property owner and shall not invalidate any recommendation by the planning board.  

(f) When granting preliminary approval to the preliminary plan, the planning board shall state the 
conditions of such approval, if any, with respect to:  

(1) The specific changes which it will require in the final plan; 

(2) The character and extent of the required improvements for which waivers may have been 
requested and which in its opinion may be waived without jeopardy to the public health, safety 
and general welfare.  

(g) Preliminary approval of a preliminary plan shall not constitute approval of the final plan, but rather it 
shall be deemed an expression of approval of the design submitted on the preliminary plan as a 
guide to the preparation of the final plan. The final plan shall be submitted for approval of the 
planning board and for recording upon fulfillment of the requirements of these standards and the 
conditions of the preliminary approval, if any. Prior to approval of the final subdivision plan, the 
planning board may require additional changes as a result of new information obtained at the public 
hearing. The board by majority vote may determine if a public hearing is necessary at this time for 
final plan review.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3C)  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 4 

Sec. 60-1362. Same—Major subdivision final plan. 

(a) The subdivider shall, within six months after the preliminary approval of the preliminary plan, file with 
the planning board an application for approval of the final subdivision plan in the form described 
herein. If the final plan is not submitted to the planning board within six months after the approval of 
the preliminary plan, a single six-month extension may be given upon a showing of good cause in 
writing by the applicant to the planning board not less than 30 days before the expiration of approval 
of his existing plan. The planning board shall approve or disapprove the requested extension at its 
next regular meeting. The planning board may refuse without prejudice to act on the final plan and 
require resubmission of the preliminary plan. All applications for final plan approval for major 
subdivisions shall be accompanied by a fee in the amount provided in the city fee schedule, payable 
by check to the city.  

(b) The planning board shall, within 30 days after the public hearing on a final plan, conditionally 
approve, approve, approve with conditions, or disapprove the final plan. Any such decision of the 
planning board shall include findings of fact, and any approval with conditions or disapproval shall be 
accompanied by the reasons therefor in writing.  

(c) In reviewing a subdivision, the planning board shall consider previous subdivision of the same 
applicant, subdivider or principals of such application. If the developer has failed to complete the 
public improvements shown on an approved plan to the satisfaction of the planning board, then this 
shall constitute conclusive evidence of technical capabilities of the applicant or developer to comply 
with the terms of this chapter or to complete work required by a plan.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3D)  

Sec. 60-1363. Final approval and filing. 

(a) Final approval.  

(1) One computer aided drafting disk, three reproducible Mylar copies and 20 paper prints of each 
diagram plan and each sheet of all accompanying information shall be submitted by the 
subdivider or his agent to the planning board not less than 30 days prior to a regular monthly 
meeting of the planning board. Any lack of required information or other deficiencies must be 
completed before such final plan can be reviewed by the planning board.  

(2) The planning board, after such public hearing, may require the subdivider to incorporate in the 
final plan such changes as they deem advisable. The planning board may then vote final 
approval of such final plan. Notice of the date and substance of such vote shall be entered on 
the Mylar drawing of such final map, if one sheet, or on the sheet containing the index map, if 
more than one sheet; on the reproducible master of any subsequent sheets there shall be 
entered a reference to the notice on the index sheet. The reproducible master drawings, so 
endorsed, shall be returned to the subdivider at the time that the performance bonds have been 
submitted to the city engineering department.  

(3) Such final approval of a final plan shall not be deemed the laying out or acceptance by the city 
of any way, easement or utility or other public area shown on such plan, nor shall such approval 
be deemed to constitute by itself any acceptance of liability by the city for the use or 
maintenance of any streets, ways or other public areas indicated on such a final plan.  

(b) Filing.  

(1) As promptly as may be, and not more than 30 days after the date of the vote of final approval, 
the subdivider at his expense shall furnish the planning board with three reproductions on Mylar 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 5 

of each sheet of the endorsed original Mylar drawing of the final plan as approved together with 
three paper prints of each sheet thereof, and each reproduction or print shall show any 
endorsement made on its original.  

(2) The city clerk shall attest and seal each of the aforesaid three master reproductions and each of 
the aforesaid three paper prints. The city planner shall transmit one set of such paper prints, so 
attested, to the city engineer, one to the water district, and one set to the sewer district if the 
subdivision be within the sewer district limits, otherwise to the planning and permitting services 
department. In addition, the city planner shall send one of the three sets of attested copies to 
the planning board, one set to the assessor and one set to the subdivider to be recorded by him 
in the Androscoggin County Register of Deeds, and a CAD disk to information services.  

(c) Plan revisions after approval. No changes, erasures, modifications, or revisions shall be made in any 
final plan after approval has been given by the planning board and endorsed in writing on the plan, 
unless the plan is first resubmitted and planning department staff approves any modifications. In the 
event that a final plan is recorded without complying with this requirement, the same shall be 
considered null and void, and the board shall institute proceedings to have the plan stricken from the 
records of the municipal officers and the registry of deeds and/or to enjoin any development 
attempted or commenced pursuant to said plan, and for other appropriate relief.  

(d) Improvement completion time. All required improvements shall be completed no later than two years 
after approval of the final plan. Should the subdivider request an extension it shall be made in writing 
to the planning board. Should the planning board grant an extension it shall be for a period not to 
exceed six months. Only one extension shall be granted. Should the subdivider not complete the 
required improvements within the time specified the subdivider shall be in violation of this chapter. If 
a development is proposed to be phased then specific requirements for each phase shall be 
complete prior to issuing building permits for that phase.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3E)  

Sec. 60-1364. Enforcement. 

(a) No plan of a subdivision of land within the city which would constitute a subdivision as defined herein 
shall hereafter be filed or recorded in the registry of deeds until a final plan thereof shall have been 
approved by the planning board in accordance with all of the requirements, design standards, and 
construction specifications set forth elsewhere in this chapter, in this Code, nor until such approval 
shall have been entered on such final plan by the planning board.  

(b) No person may convey, offer or agree to convey any land in a subdivision which has not been 
approved by the planning board and recorded in the registry of deeds.  

(c) Any person, firm, corporation or other legal entity who conveys, offers or agrees to convey any land 
in a subdivision which has not been approved as required by this section shall be punished by a fine 
as set forth by state law or in this Code for each such conveyance, offering or agreement. The 
attorney general, district attorney or the city or the appropriate municipal officers may institute 
proceedings to enjoin the violation of this section.  

(d) No public utility, water district, sanitary district or any utility company of any kind shall serve any lot in 
a subdivision for which a final plan has not been approved by the planning board.  

(e) Not only is making a subdivision without planning board approval a violation of law, but so also within 
such a subdivision is grading or construction of roads, grading of land or lots, or construction of 
buildings until such time as a final plan of such subdivision shall have been duly prepared, submitted, 
reviewed, approved and endorsed as provided in these standards, and until the original copy of the 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 6 

final plan so approved and endorsed has been duly recorded in the Androscoggin County Registry of 
Deeds.  

(f) In the event that the subdivider shall fail to comply with the requirements of article XVI of this 
chapter, the city engineer may issue a stop work order directing cessation of all work in the 
subdivision, or the planning board, after notice and hearing, may revoke its approval of the final plan, 
or both such steps may be taken.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3F)  

Sec. 60-1365. General requirements. 

In reviewing applications for the subdivision of land, the board shall consider the following general 
requirements. In all instances the burden of proof shall be upon the persons proposing the subdivision.  

(1) Subdivision plan shall conform to the comprehensive plan. Any proposed subdivision shall be in 
conformity with the comprehensive plan of the city and with the provisions of all pertinent state 
and local codes and ordinances.  

(2) Preservation of natural and historic features. The board may require that a proposed subdivision 
design include a landscape plan that will show the preservation of existing trees and vegetation, 
graded contours, streams and the preservation of scenic, historic or environmentally desirable 
areas. The street and lot layout shall be adapted to the topography. Extensive grading and filling 
shall be avoided as far as possible.  

(3) Lots.  

a. The lost size, width, depth, shape and orientation and the minimum building setback lines 
shall be appropriate for the location of the subdivision and for the type of development and 
use contemplated.  

b. Depth and width of properties reserved or laid out for all purposes shall be adequate to 
provide for off-street parking and service facilities for vehicles required by the type of use 
and development contemplated.  

c. No person shall make a subdivision within the city unless all lots of the proposed 
subdivision have frontage, as regulated by the zoning ordinance, upon a way granting legal 
access. The following ways shall constitute legal access to a lot:  

1. A way accepted by or established as belonging to the city, provided access is not 
specifically prohibited.  

2. A public way shown on a plan approved in accordance with the provision of this 
chapter and in this Code.  

3. A private way (unaccepted street) existing prior to October 6, 1968, which way is 
shown on a plan recorded in the registry of deeds prior to such date and is deemed 
adequate by the planning board as evidenced by the board's endorsement on a final 
plan for the subdivision of land. In its approval of an existing private way, the board 
may make whatever requirements it feels necessary to improve the way 
commensurate with the projected use of same.  

4. A person issued a permit pursuant to this subchapter in a great pond watershed shall 
have a copy of the permit on the site while work authorized by the permit is being 
conducted.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3G)  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 7 

Sec. 60-1366. Staff approvals and waivers. 

(a) Where plans need to be modified after planning board approval due to changes beyond the 
developer's control, the planning and permitting services department staff will have the authority to 
approve any amendments that staff feels may be approved without detriment to the health, safety 
and welfare of the community. If staff feels the amendments must go back to the planning board the 
subdivision approval process must be followed.  

(1) A paper copy of the plan shall be submitted to the planning and permitting services department 
staff marked with all proposed changes in red ink. An accompanying letter shall also be 
attached requesting all changes.  

(2) Staff shall circulate the plan to the proper departments for review. 

(3) Once all review has been completed, planning and permitting services department staff shall 
write a letter to the developer explaining how to proceed with the proposed amendments.  

(b) If staff determines the amendments must go back to the planning board, the subdivision approval 
process must be followed.  

(c) Where planning board finds that extraordinary, unnecessary and financial hardships may result from 
strict compliance with the standards of a particular plan, it may vary these standards so that 
substantial justice may be done and the public interest secured; provided that such variations will not 
have the effect of nullifying the intent and purpose of the official map, the comprehensive plan or the 
zoning ordinance. Any variances or waivers granted by the planning board must be noted on the 
face of the recording plat.  

(d) Where the planning board finds that, due to special circumstances of a particular plan, provisions of 
certain required improvements are not requisite in the interest of public health, safety and welfare or 
are inappropriate because of inadequacy of lack of connecting facilities adjacent or in proximity to 
the proposed subdivision, it may waive such requirements, subject to appropriate conditions.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3H)  

Sec. 60-1367. Recreation area/open space standards. 

(a) Every developer of a residential subdivision shall include as part of a subdivision proposal a 
provision for recreational and open space which is adequate to meet the reasonably foreseeable 
needs of the residents of the subdivision. The standard established by the city to satisfy this purpose 
is an area of not less than 43,560 contiguous square feet or one acre of land for the first ten lots or 
units. The amount of land required is increased at a rate of 5,000 square feet per unit for each unit 
over ten units. The standard noted in section 60-1365 shall be used as a guideline by the planning 
board and may be varied for low impact developments.  

(b) In any case in which the developer chooses to develop in total or in part land area that could be used 
to satisfy the recreational land dedication for units/house lots of it is not feasible to dedicate rights 
and land to meet the requirements due to topography, location or other limiting factors or if the 
developer can satisfy the planning board that a dedication of land is not required for recreational and 
open space needs, the developer may contribute to the city, or to a condominium or homeowners' 
association, a fee-in-lieu amount in cash which is essentially equivalent to the value which such 
dedicated land rights in the area where the proposed subdivision is located would have had. This fee 
will be capped at and based on the average market value of similarly zoned land in the immediate 
area of the proposed development at the time of final subdivision approval as determined by the city 
tax assessor.  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 8 

(c) In reviewing the amount of money requested, the board shall review the adequacy of existing 
facilities available to the inhabitants of the subdivision, improvements that may be needed by the 
existing facilities to make them adequate for the additional impact being created by the added units 
and any other factors which may influence the need for land dedication for a fee-in-lieu of.  

(d) A developer may choose to use both the land dedication provision and fee-in-lieu of land dedication 
provision in conjunction with each other. Any fee-in-lieu of amount of money used with a land 
dedication shall be used to develop, enlarge or enhance this recreational facility.  

(e) In determining the adequacy of land dedication and/or fee-in-lieu of land dedication, the board shall 
assess the projected needs of the inhabitants of the subdivision. If the planning board determines 
that full land dedication is necessary, then they may require such land dedication with no fee-in-lieu 
of land dedication.  

(f) In the situation when a fee-in-lieu of land dedication is supplied by the developer, then the developer 
may choose to request what uses or equipment the money will be used for. The planning board shall 
request an assessment of the developer's desires from the parks and recreation advisory board and 
if they agree with the developer, then all monies received will be earmarked for the purposes so 
chosen.  

(g) The proposal for land dedication may be in the form of a deed of a parcel of land within or contiguous 
to the subdivision, or contiguous to an existing public recreational facility within reasonable proximity 
of the subdivision. The planning board shall use the recreational/open space district map, made a 
part of the ordinance as a guide. Alternatively, the land dedication may be part of a condominium or 
homeowners' association or proposed in any other form acceptable to the planning board provided it 
serves the needs of the residents of the subdivision.  

(h) The planning board may decline to accept a proposed dedication of rights in land to serve the 
recreational needs of the residents of the subdivision in any case in which it determines that the 
public expense of maintaining the same would unduly burdensome compared to the recreational 
benefit which would be conferred or where the planning board determined that such recreational 
needs can more efficiently be served by applying a cash contribution from the developer to enlarge 
or enhance an existing recreational facility.  

(i) All funds contributed to the parks and recreation open space dedication will be allocated to the 
development of facilities located within zones as shown on the recreational/open space district map, 
made a part of this chapter, unless the planning board and/or developer have determined that a 
contribution to a facility which lies outside the zoned area would better serve the needs of the 
subdivision. Such funds shall be used within a five-year period. Funds not used after five years shall 
be returned to the developer with interest. The interest amount shall be the average of yearly interest 
rates established by local banks. If for unforeseen reasons monies accumulated are not used as 
previously agreed upon within the five-year period, the recreation advisory board may request the 
planning board to reallocate the funds for other recreational uses. Notice to the developer shall be 
given and input from the developer shall be used to determine whether or not these monies may be 
reallocated.  

(j) Before making any final determination about the recreational needs of the subdivision's residents, or 
how they can best be met, the planning board shall solicit input from the parks and recreation 
advisory board and shall carefully consider any recommendations in this regard which it received in 
response.  

(k) If a project is either proposed to be phased in, is a part of a unified development or is developed by 
the same developers on adjacent land to previously developed land, it shall be considered as one 
development and will be required to participate in the recreation open space dedication.  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE XVI. ‐ ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

DIVISION 4. SUBDIVISION 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 9 

(l) The approval by the planning board of a residential subdivision plan shall not be deemed to 
constitute an acceptance by the city of any open space shown on such plan. The planning board 
may also require the filing of a written agreement between the developer and the city covering future 
deed and title, dedication and provisions for the costs of grading, developing, equipping and 
maintaining recreation areas.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3I)  

Sec. 60-1368. Appeals. 

An appeal from a decision of the planning board on any final plan may be taken to the superior court.  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 7.3J)  

Secs. 60-1369—60-1380. Reserved. 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE V. OFF‐STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 1 

ARTICLE V. OFF-STREET PARKING AND LOADING 
Sec. 60-607. General provisions and design standards. 

Sec. 60-608. Parking requirements. 

Sec. 60-609. Off-street loading space requirements. 

Secs. 60-610—60-636. Reserved. 

 
 

Sec. 60-607. General provisions and design standards. 

Development of the parking and loading spaces required by this section is subject to the following 
general provisions and design standards:  

(1) There shall be provided, at the time of erection of any main building or structure or development 
of a site in its permitted use, the minimum number of off-street parking and loading spaces 
specified in the following subsections, within or without a structure. In calculating the spaces, 
any fractions shall be rounded to the nearest whole number.  

(2) Each individual parking space shall consist of an effective area of nine feet by 18 feet in 
dimension and shall be accessible to a public way, except for residential uses in Multifamily 
Urban Districts (MFU) containing five or more dwelling units. Such uses may develop tandem 
parking spaces but shall be limited to not more than two vehicles in depth.  

(3) Loading spaces shall have the following dimensions: 

a. Buildings having a gross floor area of 10,000 square feet or less: 25-foot length, 20-foot 
width;  

b. Buildings having a gross floor area of greater than 10,000 square feet: 50-foot length, ten-
foot width. Each loading space shall have a vertical clearance of at least 14 feet. Required 
loading spaces shall not be counted as meeting part of the parking space requirements.  

(4) Interior driveways and ingress and egress points serving parking areas shall be at least 20 feet 
in width to allow safe and expeditious movement of vehicles. Ingress and egress points shall be 
separated wherever possible and so signed. Ingress and egress points for one-way vehicular 
movement only, may be reduced to not less than 14 feet for angle parking areas or 12 feet for 
perpendicular parking areas.  

(5) The required parking and/or loading spaces shall be provided on the same lot as the principal 
use, building or structure they are required to serve. For buildings other than dwellings, parking 
spaces may be located not more than 300 feet there from should practical difficulties prevent 
their provision on the same lot.  

(6) No required parking area or driveways servicing same shall be used for the sale, repair, 
dismantling or servicing of any vehicle, equipment, material, supplies or merchandise.  

(7) In any residential district, off-street parking may include the parking or storage of not more than 
one inoperable motor vehicle per lot. If also unlicensed, the vehicle must be stored within a 
building.  

(8) In any residential district, off-street parking may include not more than one commercial vehicle 
per lot.  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE V. OFF‐STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 2 

(9) In any residential district, no portion of the front yard space, other than the driveway, shall be 
utilized for off-street parking.  

(10) Any parking or loading space serving a business or industrial use which abuts the side or rear 
lot line of a lot in a residential district or use shall be screened from said lot by a tight evergreen 
shrub hedge or similar landscaping, a fence, a solid wall or a combination of two or more of the 
foregoing. The screen landscaping, wall or fence shall be at least six feet high and may be 
extended no closer than 15 feet from the street line.  

(11) Exterior lighting provided in any parking or loading area shall be arranged and shielded so that it 
is deflected away from adjacent properties used for residential purposes and from any public 
highway.  

(12) All uses containing over five parking and/or loading spaces shall either contain such spaces 
within structures or be subject to the following requirements:  

a. All access drives, parking, loading and service spaces shall be graded and surfaced with a 
solid paving material that is impermeable to water and so as to be dust free and properly 
drained. Materials which satisfy this criteria include but are not limited to: bituminous 
pavement, concrete, geotextiles and brick or cobblestone or other paving block provided 
that it is mortared.  

b. Parking and loading spaces shall be suitably marked by painted lines or other appropriate 
markings.  

c. A substantial bumper of concrete, masonry, steel or heavy timber or a curb of similar 
material or an earthen berm shall be placed at the head of each parking or loading stall 
that abuts a structure, rear or side setback or property line, sidewalk, street right-of-way, or 
landscaped area to prevent vehicles from rolling into such areas.  

d. Where, in nonresidential districts, parking is planned to occupy a portion of the required 
front yard area, parking shall not be placed nearer than ten feet from the street right-of-way 
line. The area between the parking area and the street right-of-way line shall be 
landscaped.  

(13) Parking and loading spaces shall be so arranged as not to require backing of vehicles onto any 
public street. No loading platforms or receiving doors shall be located on the street side of any 
retail store or other commercial building unless such platforms or receiving doors be located not 
less than 60 feet from the sideline of any street right-of-way lines.  

(14) No portion of any entrance or exit driveway serving a residential use or building shall be closer 
than 50 feet from the nearest public street intersection unless prevented by dimensional or 
physical difficulties. No portion of any entrance or exit driveway serving a commercial or 
industrial use of building shall be closer than 100 feet from the nearest public street intersection 
unless prevented by dimensional or physical difficulties.  

(15) On lots where one entrance and exit driveway or curb-cut is constructed, the curb-cut shall not 
exceed 32 feet in width. Where two or more driveways or curb-cuts are constructed, the curb 
cuts shall not exceed 20 feet in width. For automotive service stations, the curb cut widths may 
be increased to 32 feet for each driveway or access, but shall not exceed two driveways. These 
widths may be increased up to a maximum of 44 feet on arterial roads if required by the city 
engineering department or the state department of transportation.  

(16) A parking lot cluster containing more than 80 stalls shall contain landscaped areas within the 
perimeter of the overall lot, in the form of landscaped perimeter and islands.  

(17) For those developments subject to site plan review (division 2 of article XVI of this chapter) the 
relaxation of the requirements of this section shall be reviewed by the planning board.  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE V. OFF‐STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 3 

(18) Required off-street parking in the Auburn Downtown Action Plan for Tomorrow area for lots 
which cannot provide their own parking because of location, lot size or existing development 
may be substituted by parking facilities which, in the public's interest may be provided for by the 
municipality or private parking resources. No such public or private off-street parking shall be 
considered as a substitute unless located within 1,000 feet of the principal building or use as 
measured along lines of public access.  

(19) In calculating the required number of off-street parking spaces, the gross leasable area shall be 
used.  

(20) All uses requiring over twenty parking and/or loading spaces shall provide interior or exterior 
bicycle racks/storage to employees and/or the public.   

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 4.1A)  

Sec. 60-608. Parking requirements. 

A minimum number of off-street parking spaces shall be provided with each use permitted, erected, 
altered or changed, in accordance with the following standards:  

Off‐Street Land Use  Minimum Number of Parking Spaces 

Residential   

  Single‐family; farm  Two per each dwelling unit 

  Multifamily; two‐family 1½ per dwelling unit 

  Elderly**  One‐half per dwelling unit 

Commercial   

  Retail, business or 
institution 

One per 300 square feet of gross floor 
area 

  Office, business, 
medical or dental 

One per 200 square feet of gross floor 
area plus one per each doctor 

  Wholesale, warehouse  One per 1,200 square feet of storage 
gross floor area 

Industrial or 
Manufacturing 

One‐half per employee for combined 
employment of the two largest 
overlapping shifts. 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE V. OFF‐STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 4 

Hotel, motel, boarding 
and lodging and 
lodginghouses, tourist 
homes 

One per guestroom plus one‐half per 
employee 

Places of assembly   

  Restaurants  One per each three seats or equivalent 
bench seating capacity 

  Stadiums, outdoor 
amphitheaters 

One per each four seats or equivalent 
bench seating capacity 

  Churches, temples, 
synagogues 

One per each five seats or equivalent 
bench seating capacity 

  Indoor theaters  One per each five seats 

  Auditoriums  One per each ten seats 

  Meeting halls, 
convention exhibition 
halls 

One per 100 square feet of floor area and 
floor area used for assembly 

Hospitals  One per bed 

Nursing homes  One‐half per bed 

Educational institutions   

  Elementary/middle  One per classroom 

  High school  Four per classroom 

  College, business, 
vocational schools 

One per 200 gross square feet of 
classroom area 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE V. OFF‐STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 5 

  Dormitories  One‐third per bed 

Home Occupation  One per 50 square feet of gross floor area 
used for home occupation 

Recreational Uses   

  Golf course  Six per green 

  Tennis court  Three per court 

  Swimming pool  One per 100 square feet of gross area per 
facility 

  Skating rink  One per 100 square feet of gross area of 
facility 

  Ranges (golf, skeet)  1½ 

  Campgrounds  1½ per campsite 

  Ski areas  50 percent of the lift capacity 

Shopping centers  4½ per 1,000 square feet of gross leasable 
floor area 

Mixed uses  Sum of various uses computed separately 
unless it can be demonstrated to the 
planning board's satisfaction that the 
need for parking by each occurs at 
different times.  

Uses not listed or  The required number of similar to those 
parking spaces shall be noted above 
determined by the municipal officer 
charged with enforcement and shall 
conform to the number of spaces for 
similar uses as listed in the latest planning 



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE V. OFF‐STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 6 

publication on file in the office of 
community development and planning.  

**Applies to elderly housing as constructed under special local, state 
or federal guidelines restricting occupancy to elderly persons. 

  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 4.1B)  

Sec. 60-609. Off-street loading space requirements. 

Loading and unloading from a public street is prohibited except in permitted loading and unloading 
areas. Each building hereafter erected and every use hereafter established in an existing building or area 
shall be provided with a minimum number of loading space located at the rear of the building as follows:  

Land Use  Minimum Number of Off‐Street Loading Spaces 

All uses under 5,000 square 
feet of gross floor area 

No minimum 

All buildings  Sufficient provisions to eliminate all loading on the street pursuant to 
normal economic activity  

Retail trade, manufacturing 
and hospital 
establishment with over 5,000 
square feet 
of gross 

One per 20,000 square feet or fraction thereof of gross floor area up to 
two spaces; one additional space for each 60,000 square feet or 
fraction thereof of gross floor area over 40,000 square feet used for 
ambulance receiving at a hospital is not to be used to meet these 
loading 
requirements  

Business services, other 
services, community facilities 
(schools, church, municipal 
building, 
recreation, etc.) or public 
utility establishment 
with over 5,000 square feet of 
gross floor area  

One per 75,000 square feet or fraction thereof of gross floor area up to 
two spaces; one additional space for each 20,000 square feet or 
fraction thereof of gross floor area over 150,000 square feet  



PART II ‐ CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 60 ‐ ZONING 

ARTICLE V. OFF‐STREET PARKING AND LOADING 

  Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances  Page 7 

  

(Ord. of 9-21-2009, § 4.1C)  

Secs. 60-610—60-636. Reserved. 



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 52 - TRAFFIC AND VEHICLES 

ARTICLE VII. BICYCLES AND MOTORCYCLES 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 1 

ARTICLE VII. BICYCLES AND MOTORCYCLES 

Sec. 52-259. Parent's responsibility. 

Sec. 52-260. Bicycle equipment. 

Sec. 52-261. Parking of bicycles. 

Sec. 52-262. Riding bicycle on sidewalk or shared-use path. 

Sec. 52-263. Applicability of traffic regulations to persons riding bicycles. 

Sec. 52-264. Speed limitation for persons riding bicycles. 

Sec. 52-265. Motorcycles. 

Secs. 52-266—52-293. Reserved. 

 

 

Sec. 52-259. Parent's responsibility. 

The parent of any child and the guardian of any ward shall not authorize or knowingly permit any 
such child or ward to violate any provision of this article.  

(Code 1967, § 26-5.1)  

Sec. 52-260. Bicycle equipment. 

No person shall ride or propel a bicycle upon any public street or shared-use path in the city unless 
the bicycle is equipped in accordance with 29-A M.R.S.A. §§ 2062 and 2084.  

(Code 1967, § 26-5.2)  

Sec. 52-261. Parking of bicycles. 

No person shall park a bicycle upon a street other than upon the roadway against the curb or upon 
the sidewalk in a rack to support the bicycle or against a building or at the curb, in such manner as to 
afford the least obstruction to other bicycle or pedestrian traffic.  

(Code 1967, § 26-5.3)  

Sec. 52-262. Riding bicycle on sidewalk or shared-use path. 

(a) Whenever any person is riding a bicycle upon a sidewalk or shared-use path, such person shall yield 
the right-of-way to any pedestrian and shall give audible signal before overtaking and passing such 
pedestrian.  

(b) Law enforcement and fire rescue/emergency medical technician (EMT) personnel, while in the 
performance of their duties with respect to bicycle patrol and EMT/rescue patrol operations, are 
exempt from the provisions of this section.  

(Code 1967, § 26-5.4; Ord. of 7-30-2001)  



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 

Chapter 52 - TRAFFIC AND VEHICLES 

ARTICLE VII. BICYCLES AND MOTORCYCLES 

 Auburn, Maine, Code of Ordinances Page 2 

Sec. 52-263. Applicability of traffic regulations to persons riding bicycles. 

Every person propelling or riding a bicycle upon a public street in the city shall be subject to the 
provisions of this chapter applicable to the driver of every vehicle, except those provisions of this chapter 
which by their very nature can have no application.  

(Code 1967, § 26-5.5)  

Sec. 52-264. Speed limitation for persons riding bicycles. 

No person shall operate a bicycle at a speed greater than is reasonable and prudent under the 
conditions then existing.  

(Code 1967, § 26-5.6)  

Sec. 52-265. Motorcycles. 

No person shall operate a motorcycle except in accordance with the provisions of 29-A M.R.S.A. § 
2062.  

(Code 1967, § 26-6.5)  

Secs. 52-266—52-293. Reserved. 



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Executive Session – Discussion on an economic development matter, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. 

§405(6)(C) with possible action to follow during the meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Workshop Date:  October 7, 2013 Item  C 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire 























Auburn Ward 1 Report for Meeting Monday 2013.10.07 

Prepared:    Tuesday, 2013.10.01  

TO:  Residents of Auburn and the Auburn City Council 

FROM:  Tizz E. H. Crowley- Auburn City Council Ward 1 

 

 

 

 

DUE TO ILLNESS, COUNCILOR CROWLEY’S 

REPORTS ARE NOT AVAILABLE FOR THE 

AGENDA PACKET. 

 

COUNCILOR CROWLEY’S REPORT WILL BE 

DISTRIBUTED AT THE MEETING. 

 

PLEASE ATTEND THE PINK RIBBON EVENTS 

PLANNED FOR OCTOBER

 





IN RECOGNITION 
 

The Auburn Running Club 

Winners of the Maine State Under 14  

Track and Field Championship 
  

 

WHEREAS, The Auburn Running Club recently competed on August 10
th
 

at the 2013 Maine State Under 14 Track and Field Championship in Augusta; and 

 

 WHEREAS, 98 Auburn Running Club athletes qualified to compete with 85 

actually competing they faced stiff competition from talented athletes from 34 

teams across the State of Maine; and 

 

 WHEREAS,  Auburn Running Club athletes earned reputations as hard 

working, inspirational and motivated young athletes, with many emerging 

victorious in their respective events earning them 2013 Individual State Titles and 

more importantly overall the team placed first with a large margin of victory; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is the sense of the City Council and other City officials that 

these individual and team honors as 2013 Maine State Under 14 Track and Field 

Champions are just one of the many achievements all club members will 

accomplish in their lifetimes; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, the Auburn City Council, on behalf of the Citizens 

of the City of Auburn, herewith extends its congratulation to Coach Tom 

Menendez and the Auburn Running Club members for theirs title as the 2013 

Maine State Under 14 Track and Field Champions.   

 

 

 





PROCLAMATION 
NATIONAL DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AWARENESS MONTH, 2013 

 
WHEREAS, For far too long, domestic violence was ignored or treated as a private matter where victims 
were left to suffer in silence without hope of intervention; and 

WHEREAS, we mark the 19th anniversary of the landmark Violence Against Women Act, authored by 
Vice President Joe Biden, we reflect on how far we have come. We have made significant progress in 
changing laws and attitudes, providing support to survivors, and reducing the incidence of domestic 
violence. But we also know that we have not come far enough, and that there is more work left to be 
done. During National Domestic Violence Awareness Month, we stand with all those who have been 
affected by this terrible crime, recognize the individuals and groups who have stepped forward to break 
the cycle of violence, and recommit to putting an end to domestic violence in America; and 

WHEREAS, and despite considerable progress in reducing domestic violence, an average of three 
women in the United States lose their lives every day as a result of these unconscionable acts. And while 
women between the ages of 16 and 24 are among the most vulnerable to intimate partner violence, 
domestic violence affects people regardless of gender, age, sexual orientation, race, or religion. 
Tragically, without intervention, children exposed to such violence can suffer serious long-term 
consequences that may include difficulty in school, post-traumatic disorders, alcohol and drug abuse, and 
criminal behavior; and 

WHEREAS, The City of Auburn remains committed to getting victims the help they need, from emergency 
shelter and legal assistance to transitional housing and services for children; and  

WHEREAS, while government must do its part, all Americans can play a role in ending domestic violence. 
Each of us can promote healthy relationships, speak out when we see injustice in our communities, stand 
with survivors we know, and change attitudes that perpetuate the cycle of abuse. We must also ensure 
that survivors of domestic violence know they are not alone, and that there are resources available to 
them. I encourage victims, their loved ones, and concerned citizens to learn more by calling the National 
Domestic Violence Hotline at 1-800-799-SAFE, or by visiting www.TheHotline.org; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, I, JONATHAN P. LABONTE, Mayor of the City of Auburn, Maine, by virtue of the 
authority vested in me by the Charter and Codes and Ordinances of the City of Auburn, do hereby 
proclaim October 2013 as National Domestic Violence Awareness Month. I call on all citizens to speak 
out against domestic violence and support local efforts to assist victims of these crimes in finding the help 
and healing they need. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this seventh day of October, in the year of our 
Lord two thousand thirteen. 

JONATHAN P. LABONTE, MAYOR 

 

http://www.thehotline.org/


City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Parking in city-owned lots and Mechanics Row parking garage. 

 

Information: At the direction from the City Council, Chief Crowell proposes changes to the existing Chapter 

52 – Article 5 – Stopping, Standing and Parking Division I Generally Sec. 52-181. Parking in city-owned lots as 

follows: 
Effective October 1, 2013 - 

                          

 (a)All or portions of the following parking lots and streets are designated as permit parking areas: 

(1)Great Falls Plaza parking lot. 

(2)Miller Street parking lot. 

(3)Main Street parking lot. 

(4)Phoenix Block parking lot. 

(5)Mechanics Row parking lot. 

(6)Court Street parking lot. 

(7)Mechanics Row parking garage. 

(8)Troy Street parking lot. 

  (9)Pleasant Street 

(b)The monthly fee for permit parking shall be in the amount provided in the city fee schedule payable in advance at the 

location designated by the city manager. All monthly permits must be paid by the tenth of each month. Permit holders 

will be restricted to park within their designated area. Any permit which has not been paid by the tenth of each month or 

permitted vehicles not parked within their designated area, the owner will be subject to enforcement provisions set forth 

in section 52-181 (c). 

(c)No car shall be parked in an area restricted to permit parking between the hours of 7:00 am and 6:00 p.m. Monday 

through Friday, except pursuant to a valid permit which shall be affixed to the front window of the vehicle in question. 

Any car parked in violation of this section may be towed pursuant to section 52-204 and its owner shall be subject to the 

enforcement provisions set forth in section 52-203. The fact that a car is parked in a permit parking section without a 

valid permit displayed shall be prima facie evidence that the car in question has been illegally parked. The person in 

whose name the car is registered shall be responsible for any such illegally parked vehicle.  

(d)Nothing in this section shall be construed as prohibiting the city from restricting parking in permit parking areas during 

special events or from providing free temporary parking in permit areas.  

Council Meeting Date:  October 7, 2013 Ordinance 11-09162013 

Author:   Phillip L. Crowell, Jr., Chief of Police 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

(e)Any person parking his vehicle in a space limited to two- or four-hour parking in any city-owned parking lot shall not 

thereafter park the vehicle in any other parking space in that parking lot during the ensuing 12-hour period other than 

in a space as to which parking is limited to one hour or less.  

(f)No person shall park a vehicle in any city-owned lot between the hours of 12:01 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. from November 

15 to April 15, except in spaces designated as winter relief parking areas or approved areas.  

(g)No person shall park a vehicle which is not identified with a handicapped registration plate in a parking space in a 

city-owned lot which is limited to handicapped parking, nor shall any vehicle be parked in a handicapped parking 

space longer than the time limit applicable to that space.  

(Code 1967, § 26-4.18; Ord. of 7-12-2004(1), § 4.18)  

State law reference— Municipal authority to layout and alter parking places, 23 M.R.S.A. § 2802; parking on public ways, 

29-A M.R.S.A. § 2068; enforcement of disability parking restrictions, 29-A M.R.S.A. § 521(9-A).  

 

Financial:  Propose an increase in parking permit fee from $35 per month to $45 per month. 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Review proposed changes to City of Auburn Ordinance Chapter 52 – 

Article 5 – Stopping, Standing and Parking Division I Generally Sec. 52-181. Parking in city-owned lots and 

vote to change the ordinance as stated above. 

 

 

Previous Meetings and History: 8/19/2013 and 9/3/2013 Workshops, passage of first reading on 9/16/2013. 

 

Attachments:  

 Memo 

 Parking garage zones 

 Ordinance 11-09162013 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Office of the City Manager 

60 Court Street  Auburn, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice  (207) 333-6601 Automated  (207) 333-6621 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      

 

 

Date:  October 1, 2013 

 

To:  Mayor LaBonte and Members of the Auburn City Council 

 

From:  Clinton Deschene, City Manager 

 

RE:  Parking Garage Plan Memo 

 

Per the Council vote on September 19, 2013 it was required the City not implement the parking 

garage plan without bringing it back to the Council.  For this workshop the City presents the 

attached parking plan.  This was developed by staff and incorporated meetings with all renters, 

city departments, and City Management.  Further as City Manager I received input from 

residents and Councilors as well that were taken into consideration. 

 

The proposed plan is a culmination of needs that in collaboration fits the needs of the 

community.  Core components considered were safety, customer service, and efficiency.   

 

Components consider varied but included the following: 
1. The top floor with no roof was viewed as an area that did not provide good customer service and should 

be left to the City sustain in a safe manner for its employees. 

2. Many renters want to be close to the stairwells for ease of exiting the garage.   

3. City Hall visitors will primarily want the second Floor catwalk entrance or first floor ground level 

entrance.   

4. The direct entrance to the garage has site line concerns and was felt as poor area for customers or renters.  

Further, the right hand side provides access to a secure storage area that the City needs constant access. 

5. The largest renter has required that all spaces be contiguous so that blocked out a large area. 

6. Police has # vehicles and secured space in the garage for # spaces.  It is most efficient use of staff to have 

these near and exit.  It was also felt that it created a safer environment because all persons entering the 

garage would see the police presence.  Observational history has been that the area when first entering 

the garage was underutilized. 

7. Public Parking was kept toward the City Hall side of the garage for access to the building and proximity 

to the alley connecting Main Street. 

 

In conclusion, I look forward to Council input per the motion to present to the City Council.  I 

fully endorse the plan as presented and will gladly consider all ideas presented during the 

workshop.  After input and discussion I do not recommend adoption of this parking plan at a 

Council meeting.  This is an operational matter of the City to provide service to the users of the 

garage.  Further, if this is approved by the Council it will require any changes to be presented for 

future action.  That is not an efficient use of Council or Staff time nor is it efficient customer 

services to present changes for customers using or renting in the garage for Council approval. 

 



Zone
L - City Employees
M - Skelton-Tainter
N - Other

2
HR

2
HR

2
HR

2 HR
2 HR
2 HR

MUNI
MUNI
MUNI
MUNI
MUNI
MUNI
MUNI

2 HR
2 HR
2 HR
2 HR
2 HR
2 HR

2 HR
2 HR

2
HR

2
HR

2
HR

PD

PD

PD

PD
PD

PD

PD

PD

PD
PD

PD

PD

PD
PD

PD

PD

PD

PD

PD

PD

PD

Elec
Elec

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR
2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR 2 HR
2 HR

2 HR
2 HR

2 HR

2 HR

2 HR
2 HR

Ground Floor 1st Floor 2nd Floor 3rd Floor 4th Floor

Auburn Hall Parking Garage
Parking Zones



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

           

ORDINANCE  11-09162013 

 
ORDERED, that the Code of Ordinances be and hereby is amended as follows: 

 

 

TITLE:  ORDINANCE –   Chapter 52 – Article 5 – Stopping, Standing and Parking Division I Generally 

Sec. 52-181.  Parking in city-owned lots as follows: 

 

Effective October 1, 2013 - 

                          

 (a) 

All or portions of the following parking lots and streets are designated as permit parking areas: 

(1) 

Great Falls Plaza parking lot. 

(2) 

Miller Street parking lot. 

(3) 

Main Street parking lot. 

(4) 

Phoenix Block parking lot. 

(5) 

Mechanics Row parking lot. 

(6) 

Court Street parking lot. 

(7) 

Mechanics Row parking garage. 

(8) 

Troy Street parking lot. 

  (9) Pleasant Street 

(b) 

The monthly fee for permit parking shall be in the amount provided in the city fee schedule 

payable in advance at the location designated by the city manager. All monthly permits must be 

paid by the tenth of each month. Permit holders will be restricted to park within their designated 

area. Any permit which has not been paid by the tenth of each month or permitted vehicles not 

parked within their designated area, the owner will be subject to enforcement provisions set forth 

in section 52-181 (c). 



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

 (c) 

No car shall be parked in an area restricted to permit parking between the hours of 7:00 am and 

6:00 p.m. Monday through Friday, except pursuant to a valid permit which shall be affixed to the 

front window of the vehicle in question. Any car parked in violation of this section may be towed 

pursuant to section 52-204 and its owner shall be subject to the enforcement provisions set forth 

in section 52-203. The fact that a car is parked in a permit parking section without a valid permit 

displayed shall be prima facie evidence that the car in question has been illegally parked. The 

person in whose name the car is registered shall be responsible for any such illegally parked 

vehicle.  

(d) 

Nothing in this section shall be construed as prohibiting the city from restricting parking in 

permit parking areas during special events or from providing free temporary parking in permit 

areas.  

(e) 

Any person parking his vehicle in a space limited to two- or four-hour parking in any city-owned 

parking lot shall not thereafter park the vehicle in any other parking space in that parking lot 

during the ensuing 12-hour period other than in a space as to which parking is limited to one 

hour or less.  

(f) 

No person shall park a vehicle in any city-owned lot between the hours of 12:01 a.m. and 6:00 

a.m. from November 15 to April 15, except in spaces designated as winter relief parking areas or 

approved areas.  

(g) 

No person shall park a vehicle which is not identified with a handicapped registration plate in a 

parking space in a city-owned lot which is limited to handicapped parking, nor shall any vehicle 

be parked in a handicapped parking space longer than the time limit applicable to that space.  

 

(Code 1967, § 26-4.18; Ord. of 7-12-2004(1), § 4.18)  

State law reference— Municipal authority to layout and alter parking places, 23 M.R.S.A. § 2802; 

parking on public ways, 29-A M.R.S.A. § 2068; enforcement of disability parking restrictions, 29-A 

M.R.S.A. § 521(9-A).  



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Appointment of Board and Committee Members 

 

Information: On 8/29/2013 the Appointment Committee met and nominated the following; 

Charles Morrison – L/A Cable TV Advisory Board 

Michael Dixon – Zoning Board of Appeals 

Judith Webber – Auburn Housing Authority 

Robert Bowyer - Planning Board 

Ann Parker – Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Loan Committee 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Recommend passage of appointments 

 

Previous Meetings and History: This meeting was on the 9/16/2013 City Council Agenda and was postponed 

until the 10/7/2013 meeting. 

 

 

Attachments:  

Applications  

Memo 

*Orders 78-09162013 Charles Morrison – L/A Cable TV Advisory Board 

              79-09162013 Michael Dixon – Zoning Board of Appeals 

              80-09162013 Judith Webber – Auburn Housing Authority 

              81-09162013 Robert Bowyer - Planning Board 

              82-09162013 Ann Parker – Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Loan Committee 

 

Council Meeting Date:  October 7, 2013 Order  See below* 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 





































































  
Page 1 

 
  

MEMO            

          
TO: Clint Deschene, City Manager     

 

FROM:  Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk   

 

RE: Boards and Committees - update 

________________________________________________________________________ 

 

On Thursday, August 29
th

 the appointment committee met to review applications and 

nominate candidates to fill the empty seats on various boards and committees. Councilor 

Shea was not present however, Councilor LaFontaine did contact him over the phone 

during the meeting to review the nominations. 

 

The following nominations were made; 

 

1. L/A Cable TV Advisory Board - Charles Morrison*, term expiration Jan/2015 - (3 

vacancies, 1 application received). 

2. Zoning Board of Appeals – Michael Dixon*, term expiration Oct/2016 - (2 

vacancies, 1 application received). 

3. Auburn Housing Authority – Judith Webber, term expiration Oct/2018 - (1 

vacancy, 3 applications received, 1 disqualified because he is not a resident of 

Auburn). 

4. Planning Board – Robert Bowyer*, term expiration Jan/2016 - (1 vacancy, 2 

applications received). 

5. Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Loan Committee – Ann Parker*, 

term expiration Oct/2016 - (3 vacancies, 1 application received). 

 

*indicates reappointment 

 

We still have the following vacancies to fill; 

 

 Board of Assessment Review – 2 vacancies, both alternate members 

 Cable TV Advisory Board – 2 vacancies 

 CDBG Loan Committee – 2 vacancies 

 Ethics Committee – 1 vacancy, an alternate member appointed by the School 

Committee. 

 Zoning Board of Appeals – 1 vacancy, an associate member. 

 

In addition to posting these vacancies on the website, bulletin board, sending email alerts, 

and doing a press release, the Committee also talked about posting on our Facebook page, 

at the Library, and Great Falls TV. 

 

I will be bringing these nominations forward on the 9/16/2013 City Council Agenda to be 

voted on by Council. 

 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

      ORDER 78-09162013 

 

 

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby appoints Charles Morrison to the L/A Cable TV Advisory 

Board with a term expiration of January 1, 2015. 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

      ORDER 79-09162013 

 

 

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby appoints Michael Dixon to the Zoning Board of Appeals as a 

full member with a term expiration of October 1, 2016. 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

      ORDER 80-09162013 

 

 

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby appoints Judith Webber to the Auburn Housing Authority 

with a term expiration of October 1, 2018. 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

      ORDER 81-09162013 

 

 

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby appoints Robert Bowyer to the Planning Board with a term 

expiration of January 1, 2016. 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

      ORDER 82-09162013 

 

 

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby appoints Ann Parker to the Community Development Block 

Grant (CDBG) Loan Committee with a term expiration of October 1, 2016. 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan    X Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Alternate funding- ICT Network Security 

 

Information:  

1. What is it?   

A Storage Attached Network (SAN) device is a dedicated network appliance primarily used to provide 

storage for an array of servers.  Each server is allocated a portion of the 24 terabytes of drive space 

available.  This “all the eggs in the same basket” approach provides speed and efficiency, but leaves us 

vulnerable to a failure at this single point.   The requested second SAN will act as a mirror to our 

existing SAN, thus limiting that vulnerability.  This additional hardware is step 3 out of the 4 steps 

planned for building the City’s industry-standard resilient network.  Step 4, coming in a future budget 

year, will be the configuration of additional, redundant virtual hosts for our servers. Once fully built out, 

the City will be able to seamlessly provide the continuity of service that our staff and the public expect.  

The budgeted cost of this project is $40,000.00. 

 

2. Why are we doing it?  

ICT strives to provide the highest level of service to our staff and to the public.  As we rely more and 

more on technology, even short outages can cause significant lapses in City services.  The Network 

Security project allows ICT to be proactive, instead of reacting to unforeseen events and problems.  We 

are working towards anticipating potential weaknesses, and putting systems in place that will insulate 

the City from such disruptions. 

 

3. What will happen if we don’t? 

Failure to move forward on this project will continue to leave the city vulnerable to disruptions caused 

by hardware failures.  As technology evolves, it’s important that the City evolve with it.  Technologies, 

some of which were not available even as recently as five years ago, have matured to the point that we 

will soon be able to protect our critical work processes from mechanical failures. 

 

4. Alternate Funding Sources 

Rather than CIP, this project will be funded through a combination of various special revenue funds.  By 

funding Network Security through special revenues, we are supporting the effort to clean up accounts 

that should be in the general fund.  By the end of FY14, all non-qualifying special revenue funds will be 

closed out and transferred to the general fund. 

 

 

 

Council Meeting Date:  October 7, 2013 Order  83-10072013 

Author:   Renee Bogart, ICT Director 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

 

Financial: See above 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Recommend passage 

 

Previous Meetings and History:  

 

 

Attachments:  

NetworkSecurityDiagram.pdf 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Guest 1 

Guest 2 

Guest 3 

Guest 4 

Guest 1 

Guest 2 

Guest 3 

Guest 4 

24 Tb SAN 

Proposed FY14 

24 Tb SAN 

COAVEEAM01 

Guest1 

Guest 2 

Guest 3 

Guest 4 

Planned FY15 
 

Planned FY15 

Guest1 

Guest 2 

Guest 3 

Guest 4 

Planned FY15 

ICT 2014 - Network Security Project 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 83-10072013 
 

 

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby authorizes the City Manager to use funds in the amount 

$40,000 from an inactive special revenue account to fund ICT’s Network Security project and Planning 

and Permitting’s Traffic Pole projects with any unused funds being transferred to the general fund 

account.  



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Request for Reallocation and Prioritization of 2014 CIP funds related to City Buildings  

 

Information: Due to the heating season fast approaching, this item is very time sensitive. 

 

 

Financial: No additional budgetary costs, just prioritization of the use of previously allocated funds. 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Approval of 2 Orders attached 

 

Previous Meetings and History: None 

 

Attachments:  

Memo with attachments 

Order 84-10072013A to reallocate funds for Public Works facility 

Order 84-10072013B to reprioritize funds for Hasty Memorial Armory 

Council Meeting Date:    October 7, 2013 Orders  84-10072013 A & B  

Author:   Derek Boulanger, Facilities/Purchasing Manger 















Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

      ORDER 84-10072013A 

 

 

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby authorizes the Finance Director to reallocate $18,000 

originally allocated for Public Works Security Cameras and $51,000 originally allocated for Auburn 

Hall Roof , for a total of $69,000, to the Public Works natural gas conversion project at the Public 

Works Facility. 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

      ORDER 84-10072013B 

 

 

ORDERED, that the City Council hereby authorizes the Finance Director to reprioritize the use of CIP 

funds dedicated to Hasty building improvements are as follows: 
 

1. Asbestos Removal (see attached) related to the mechanical equipment  ( $24,500) 

2. Heating System upgrades ($83,050), plus $15,000 for engineering and design specifications 

3. Window Replacement ($56,000.00 =$46,000 + $10,000 abatement cost) 

4. Kitchen upgrades ($3,500) 

 

We will complete the projects in the above order as the allocated dollars allow. 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     xx Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject:  General Assistance maximums for FY 13-14 

 

Information: :  I’m seeking the have the FY 13-14 appendices A-F, approved by council for the upcoming 

fiscal year to reflect the new overall maximums, electric maximums and  rental maximum levels for heated and 

unheated rents.  These levels were developed by MMA using the 13-14 HUD Fair Market Rent values.   

 

Financial:  The new Appendix A overall maximum assistance is an increase of 9% over FY 12-13, the effective 

date for this appendix is July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014.  The new Appendix C for rental assistance, increased by 

9% over last year which runs from October 1 to October 1, 2014.  The new Appendix D Utilities is an increase 

of 8% over last year’s figures. This appendix also runs from October 1
st
 to September 30

th
.   Other appendices 

B- Food Maximum, E-Heating Fuel and F-Personal Care & Household Supplies have not changed.   

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Approval of the increase to the General Assistance Appendices.   

 

Previous Meetings and History: This is a yearly approval needed by council.   

 

Attachments:  

 

       GA Maximums Summary Sheet 

Appendix A  GA Overall Maximum 

Appendix B Food Maximums 

Appendix C  GA Housing Maximums 

Appendix D-F Utilities, Personal Care & Household Supplies 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Agenda Date:  October 7, 2013 Ordinance  12-10072013 

Author:   Dorothy Meagher  



FOR MUNICIPAL USE ONLY 
 

MMA 

06/13 

1 

GA MAXIMUMS SUMMARY SHEET 

 

Note:  The overall maximums found in Appendix A are effective from July 1, 2013 to 

June 30, 2014.  The maximums found in Appendices B, C, D, E, and F are effective from 

October 1, 2013 to September 30, 2014. 

 

APPENDIX A - OVERALL MAXIMUMS  

 

County  Persons in Household 

  1 2 3 4 5 6 

  529 626 818 1031 1094 1162 

        

NOTE:  For each additional person add $75 per month. 
 

(The applicable figures from Appendix A, once adopted, should be inserted here.) 

 

 

APPENDIX B - FOOD MAXIMUMS 
 

Number in Household Weekly Maximum Monthly Maximum 
1 46.51 200 

2 85.35 367 

3 122.33 526 

4 155.35 668 

5 184.42 793 

6 221.40 952 

7 244.65   1,052 

8 279.53 1,202 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $150 per month. 

 

 

APPENDIX C - HOUSING MAXIMUMS 

 

 
Unheated  Heated 

Number of 

Bedrooms 

 
Weekly  Monthly  Weekly 

 
Monthly 

0  $ 89  $ 381  $ 111  $ 476 

1  $103  $ 445  $ 132  $ 566 

2            $ 139                        $ 597                       $ 174                        $ 750 

3  $ 178  $ 766   $ 221   $ 952 

4  $ 180   $ 774   $233   $1,003 

(The applicable figures from Appendix C, once adopted, should be inserted here.) 



FOR MUNICIPAL USE ONLY 
 

MMA 

06/13 

2 

APPENDIX D - UTILITIES  
 

ELECTRIC 
 

NOTE:  For an electrically heated dwelling also see “Heating Fuel” maximums below.  But remember, an 

applicant is not automatically entitled to the “maximums” established applicants must demonstrate 

need. 
 

1)  Electricity Maximums for Households Without Electric Hot Water: The maximum amounts 

allowed for utilities, for lights, cooking and other electric uses excluding electric hot water and heat: 

Number in Household Weekly Monthly 

1 $14.00 $60.00 

2 $15.70 $67.50 

3 $17.45 $75.00 

4 $19.20 $86.00 

5 $23.10 $99.00 

6 $25.00 $107.00 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $7.50 per month. 
 

2)  Electricity Maximums for Households With Electrically Heated Hot Water:  The maximum 

amounts allowed for utilities, hot water, for lights, cooking and other electric uses excluding heat: 

Number in Household Weekly Monthly 

1 $19.10 $82.00 

2 $23.75 $102.00 

3 $27.70 $119.00 

4 $32.25 $139.00 

5 $37.30 $160.00 

6 $41.00 $176.00 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $10.00 per month. 
 

NOTE: For electrically heated households, the maximum amount allowed for electrical utilities per 

month shall be the sum of the appropriate maximum amount under this subsection and the appropriate 

maximum for heating fuel as provided below. 

 

APPENDIX E - HEATING FUEL  
 

Month Gallons Month Gallons 

September 50 January 225 

October 100 February 225 

November 200 March 125 

December 200 April 125 

  May 50 
 



FOR MUNICIPAL USE ONLY 
 

MMA 

06/13 

3 

NOTE:  When the dwelling unit is heated electrically, the maximum amount allowed for heating 

purposes will be calculated by multiplying the number of gallons of fuel allowed for that month 

by the current price per gallon.  When fuels such as wood, coal and/or natural gas are used for 

heating purposes, they will be budgeted at actual rates, if they are reasonable.  No eligible 

applicant shall be considered to need more than 7 tons of coal per year, 8 cords of wood per year, 

126,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year, or 1000 gallons of propane. 

 

APPENDIX F - PERSONAL CARE & HOUSEHOLD SUPPLIES 
 

 

Number in Household Weekly Amount Monthly Amount 

1-2 $10.50 $45.00 

3-4 $11.60 $50.00 

5-6 $12.80 $55.00 

7-8 $14.00 $60.00 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $1.25 per week or $5.00 per month. 

 

SUPPLEMENT FOR HOUSEHOLDS WITH CHILDREN UNDER 5 

 
When an applicant can verify expenditures for the following items, a special supplement will be budgeted 

as necessary for households with children under 5 years of age for items such as cloth or disposable 

diapers, laundry powder, oil, shampoo, and ointment up to the following amounts: 

 

Number of Children Weekly Amount Monthly Amount 

1 $12.80 $55.00 

2 $17.40 $75.00 

3 $23.30 $100.00 

4 $27.90 $120.00 

 



Appendix A 
Effective:  07/01/13-06/30/14 

 

 

Prepared by MMA 

6/2013 

 

1  

GA Overall Maximums 
Metropolitan Areas 

 Persons in Household 
COUNTY 1 2 3 4 5* 

Bangor HMFA: 
Bangor, Brewer, Eddington, Glenburn, Hampden, 

Hermon, Holden, Kenduskeag, Milford, Old Town, 

Orono, Orrington, Penobscot Indian Island 

Reservation, Veazie 

 

579 

 

669 

 

845 

 

1,061 

 

1,223 

 

 

      

Penobscot County HMFA: 
Alton, Argyle UT, Bradford, Bradley, Burlington, 

Carmel, Carroll plantation, Charleston, Chester, 

Clifton, Corinna, Corinth, Dexter, Dixmont, Drew 

plantation, East Central Penobscot UT, East 

Millinocket, Edinburg, Enfield, Etna, Exeter, 

Garland, Greenbush, Howland, Hudson, Kingman 

UT, Lagrange, Lakeville, Lee, Levant, Lincoln, 

Lowell town, Mattawamkeag, Maxfield, Medway, 

Millinocket, Mount Chase, Newburgh Newport, 

North Penobscot UT, Passadumkeag, Patten, 

Plymouth, Prentiss UT, Seboeis plantation, 

Springfield, Stacyville, Stetson, Twombly UT, 

Webster plantation, Whitney UT, Winn, Woodville 

 

 

 

576 

 

 

 

576 

 

 

 

690 

 

 

 

874 

 

 

 

1,056 

      

Lewiston/Auburn MSA: 
Auburn, Durham, Greene, Leeds, Lewiston, Lisbon, 

Livermore, Livermore Falls, Mechanic Falls, Minot, 

Poland, Sabattus, Turner, Wales 

 

529 

 

626 

 

818 

 

1,031 

 

1,094 

      

Portland HMFA: 
Cape Elizabeth, Casco, Chebeague Island, 

Cumberland, Falmouth, Freeport, Frye Island, 

Gorham, Gray, Long Island,  North Yarmouth, 

Portland, Raymond, Scarborough, South Portland, 

Standish, Westbrook, Windham, Yarmouth; Buxton, 

Hollis, Limington, Old Orchard Beach 

 

 

750 

 

 

888 

 

 

1,148 

 

 

1,444 

 

 

1,546 

      

York/Kittery/S.Berwick HMFA: 
Berwick, Eliot, Kittery, South Berwick, York 

936 939 1,123 1,635 1,779 

      

Cumberland County HMFA: Baldwin, 

Bridgton, Brunswick, Harpswell, Harrison, Naples, 

New Gloucester, Pownal, Sebago 

 

623 

 

731 

 

941 

 

1,244 

 

1,483 



Appendix A 
Effective:  07/01/13-06/30/14 

 

 

Prepared by MMA 

6/2013 

 

2  

 

COUNTY 1 2 3 4 5* 

Sagadahoc HMFA: 
Arrowsic, Bath, Bowdoin, Bowdoinham, 

Georgetown, Perkins UT, Phippsburg, Richmond, 

Topsham, West Bath, Woolwich 

 

742 

 

742 

 

887 

 

1,117 

 

1,533 

      

York County HMFA:  
Acton, Alfred, Arundel, Biddeford, Cornish, Dayton, 

Kennebunk, Kennebunkport, Lebanon, Limerick, 

Lyman, Newfield, North Berwick, Ogunquit, 

Parsonsfield, Saco, Sanford, Shapleigh, Waterboro, 

Wells 

 

678 

 

704 

 

891 

 

1,191 

 

1,233 

*Note:  Add $68 for each additional person. 

 

Non-Metropolitan Areas 
 Persons in Household 
 

COUNTY 1 2 3 4 5* 

Aroostook County 506 539 644 840 929 

      

Franklin County 555 585 711 856 1,217 

      

Hancock County 594 683 842 1,116 1,146 

      

Kennebec County 507 587 750 952 1,015 

      

Knox County 698 709 865 1,110 1,259 

      

Lincoln County 649 717 904 1,126 1,208 

      

Oxford County 543 602 726 979 1,268 

      

Piscataquis County 564 641 791 1,004 1,073 

      

Somerset County  573 600 715 972 988 

      

Waldo County 633 677 815 1,014 1,078 

      

Washington County 544 585 697 863 1,045 

      

* Please Note:  Add $68 for each additional person. 



Appendix B 
Effective:  10/01/13 to 09/30/14 

 B-1 Prepared by MMA - 6/2013 

   

Food Maximums 
 

Please Note:  The maximum amounts allowed for food are established in accordance with the 

U.S.D.A. Thrifty Food Plan. Through October 1, 2013, those amounts are: 

 

 

Number in Household Weekly Maximum Monthly Maximum 

   

1 46.51 200 

2 85.35 367 

3 122.33 526 

4 155.35 668 

5 184.42 793 

6 221.40 952 

7 244.65                  1,052 

8 279.53 

 

                 1,202 

   

 

 

Note:  For each additional person add $150 per month. 



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/13-10/01/14 

 C-1 Prepared by MMA – 6/2013 

   

GA Housing Maximums 
(Heated & Unheated Rents) 

     

NOTE: NOT ALL MUNICIPALITIES SHOULD ADOPT THESE SUGGESTED 

HOUSING MAXIMUMS!  Municipalities should ONLY consider adopting the following 

numbers, if these figures are consistent with local rent values.  If not, a market survey should be 

conducted and the figures should be altered accordingly. The results of any such survey must be 

presented to DHHS prior to adoption. Or, no housing maximums should be adopted and 

eligibility should be analyzed in terms of the Overall Maximum—Appendix A. (See Instruction 

Memo for further guidance.) 
 

Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas 

Aroostook County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 82 353 

           82                   353 

 93 401 

 120 514 

 124 535 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 106 455 

 107 460 

 130 558 

 166 714 

 181 777 

   

Franklin County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 95 408 

 97 418 

 114 491 

 135 579 

 206 887 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 117 505 

 121 520 

 144 620 

 181 779 

 263 1,129 

   

Hancock County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 105 451 

 117 503 

 145 622 

 197 845 

 197 845 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 124 533 

 140 602 

 180 775 

 240 1,031 

 241 1,035 

   

Kennebec County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 83 359 

 94 404 

 123 529 

 159 685 

 159 682 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 106 454 

 123 527 

 159 682 

 200 862 

 212 911 

   



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/13-10/01/14 

 C-2 Prepared by MMA – 6/2013 

   

Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas 

   

Knox County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 128 552 

 128 552 

 150 645 

 197 846 

 209 899 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 150 647 

 150 643 

 186 798 

 240 1,032 

 252 1,083 

   

Lincoln County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 119 513 

 124 535 

 159 684 

 200 862 

 207 889 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 132 568 

 145 622 

 195 837 

 244 1,048 

 260 1,118 

   

Oxford County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 89 382 

 101 434 

 113 487 

 161 693 

 216 928 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 114 490 

 120 516 

 153 657 

 209 900 

 274 1,179 

   

Piscataquis County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 96 413 

 103 441 

 123 527 

 157 675 

 157 675 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 111 479 

 125 539 

 154 663 

 196 844 

 205 881 

   

Somerset County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 94 405 

 94 405 

 107 459 

 164 703 

 164 703 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 122 523 

 126 542 

 151 650 

 209 899 

 209 899 

   

 

 



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/13-10/01/14 

 C-3 Prepared by MMA – 6/2013 

   

Non-Metropolitan FMR Areas 

   

Waldo County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly     Monthly 

        116                      497 

        119                      510 

        139                      597  664 

        174                      749 

        176                      758 

Heated 

 Weekly             Monthly 

        128                    552 

        136                    583 

        162                    698 

        217                    935 

       230                     987 

   

Washington County 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly     Monthly 

          93                       402 

          95                       410 

        108                       465 

        134                       575 

        163                       703 

Heated 

 Weekly             Monthly 

        108                    463 

        118                    507 

        141                    607 

        182                    782 

        222                    954 

 

Metropolitan FMR Areas 

Bangor HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

       100  432 

       113                     487   

       145  625 

       183                     789 

       210                     904 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 123                       527 

 142                       610  

  181    778 

 227  975 

       263   1,133 

   

Penobscot County HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

  99  424 

        99  424 

      100                      429 

      136     587 

      155  668 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

       114                        491 

 114    491 

 131   565 

 172  741 

 214    919 

   

Lewiston/Auburn MSA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

   89                     381 

       103     445 

       139                     597 

       178  766 

  180  774 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

      111                       476  412 

 132                       566 

      174                       750 

 221                        952 

      233                      1,003 

 



Appendix C 
Effective:  10/01/13-10/01/14 

 C-4 Prepared by MMA – 6/2013 

   

Metropolitan FMR Areas 

   

Portland HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 142 611 

 166 715 

 214 922 

 271 1165 

 274 1180 

Heated 

 Weekly             Monthly 

 154 666 

 183 788 

 238 1023 

 300 1292 

 318 1367 

   

York/Kittery/S. Berwick 

HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 170 729  671 

 170 729 

 191 823 

 289                1241 

        300                  1289 

 

Heated 

 Weekly              Monthly 

 182 784 

 182 784 

 221 949 

 318 1368 

 343 1473 

   

Cumberland County HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 111 479 

 131 563 

 167 720 

 228 982 

 271 1167 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 124 534 

 148 636 

 119 821 

 259 1115 

 308 1326 

   

Sagadahoc County HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 140 603 

 140 603 

 155 667 

 186 798 

 271 1167 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 153 658 

 153 658 

 179 768 

 228 976 

 314 1351 

   

York County HMFA 

Bedrooms 

0 

1 

2 

3 

4 

Unheated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 126 541 

 126 541 

 156 672 

 216 928 

 216 928 

Heated 

 Weekly Monthly 

 139 596 

 147 633 

 188 810 

 259 1,114 

 266 1,143 

   

 



FOR MUNICIPAL USE ONLY 
 

MMA 

06/13 1 

APPENDIX D - UTILITIES  
 

ELECTRIC 
 

NOTE:  For an electrically heated dwelling also see “Heating Fuel” maximums below.  But remember, an 

applicant is not automatically entitled to the “maximums” established applicants must demonstrate 

need. 
 

1)  Electricity Maximums for Households Without Electric Hot Water: The maximum amounts 

allowed for utilities, for lights, cooking and other electric uses excluding electric hot water and heat: 

Number in Household Weekly Monthly 

1 $14.00 $60.00 

2 $15.70 $67.50 

3 $17.45 $75.00 

4 $19.20 $86.00 

5 $23.10 $99.00 

6 $25.00 $107.00 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $7.50 per month. 
 

2)  Electricity Maximums for Households With Electrically Heated Hot Water:  The maximum 

amounts allowed for utilities, hot water, for lights, cooking and other electric uses excluding heat: 

Number in Household Weekly Monthly 

1 $19.10 $82.00 

2 $23.75 $102.00 

3 $27.70 $119.00 

4 $32.25 $139.00 

5 $37.30 $160.00 

6 $41.00 $176.00 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $10.00 per month. 
 

NOTE: For electrically heated households, the maximum amount allowed for electrical utilities per 

month shall be the sum of the appropriate maximum amount under this subsection and the appropriate 

maximum for heating fuel as provided below. 

 

APPENDIX E - HEATING FUEL  
 

Month Gallons Month Gallons 

September 50 January 225 

October 100 February 225 

November 200 March 125 

December 200 April 125 

  May 50 
 



FOR MUNICIPAL USE ONLY 
 

MMA 

06/13 2 

NOTE:  When the dwelling unit is heated electrically, the maximum amount allowed for heating 

purposes will be calculated by multiplying the number of gallons of fuel allowed for that month 

by the current price per gallon.  When fuels such as wood, coal and/or natural gas are used for 

heating purposes, they will be budgeted at actual rates, if they are reasonable.  No eligible 

applicant shall be considered to need more than 7 tons of coal per year, 8 cords of wood per year, 

126,000 cubic feet of natural gas per year, or 1000 gallons of propane. 

 

APPENDIX F - PERSONAL CARE & HOUSEHOLD SUPPLIES 
 

 

Number in Household Weekly Amount Monthly Amount 

1-2 $10.50 $45.00 

3-4 $11.60 $50.00 

5-6 $12.80 $55.00 

7-8 $14.00 $60.00 

NOTE:  For each additional person add $1.25 per week or $5.00 per month. 

 

SUPPLEMENT FOR HOUSEHOLDS WITH CHILDREN UNDER 5 

 
When an applicant can verify expenditures for the following items, a special supplement will be budgeted 

as necessary for households with children under 5 years of age for items such as cloth or disposable 

diapers, laundry powder, oil, shampoo, and ointment up to the following amounts: 

 

Number of Children Weekly Amount Monthly Amount 

1 $12.80 $55.00 

2 $17.40 $75.00 

3 $23.30 $100.00 

4 $27.90 $120.00 

 

 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

           

ORDINANCE  12-10072013 

 

ORDERED, that the Code of Ordinances be and hereby is amended as follows: 

 

The approval of the 2013-2014 appendix A overall maximum assistance, effective for July 1, 2013 to July 

30, 2014. 

 Appendix B food maximum, appendix C rental assistance, appendix D utilities, appendix E heating fuel, and 

appendix F, personal care effective October 1, 2013 to September 30, 2014, for the Auburn General Assistance 

program. 

 

The approval will put the Auburn ordinance in compliance with the State statutes. 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject:  Ordinance Change  

 

Information:  Social Service / General Assistance ordinance  

 

Sec. 30-2 Definitions: 

 

Eligible person means a person who is qualified to receive general assistance according to the standards of 

eligibility set forth in this chapter.  “Eligible person” does not include a person, who is a fugitive from justice as 

defined in Title 15, § 201, sub. 4.  

 

Household means an individual or a group of individuals who share a dwelling unit. When an 

applicant shares a dwelling unit with one or more individuals, even when a landlord-tenant relationship may 

exist between individuals residing in the dwelling unit, eligible applicants may receive assistance for no 

more than their pro rata share of the actual costs of the shared basic needs of that household according to the 

maximum levels of assistance established in this chapter.  The pro rata share is calculated by dividing the 

maximum level of assistance available to the entire household by the total of number of household members.    

The income of household members not legally liable or otherwise responsible for supporting the household 

shall be considered as available to the applicant only when there is pooling of income. The City shall 

presume pooling of income unless the applicant proves otherwise.  

 

Income means any form of income in cash or in kind received by the household, including net 

remuneration for services performed, cash received on either secured or unsecured credit, any payments 

received as an annuity, retirement or disability benefits, veterans' pensions, workers' compensation, 

unemployment benefits, benefits under any state or federal categorical assistance program, supplemental 

security income, social security and any other payments from governmental sources unless specifically 

prohibited by any law or regulation, support payments, income from pension or trust funds, household 

income from any other source including relatives or unrelated household members and any benefit received 

pursuant to Title 36, chapter 907 and Title 36, section 5219-11 For repeat applicants, it also includes 

unverified expenditures or misspent money from the 30-day period prior to application. The following items 

shall not be considered as income or assets which must be liquidated for the purposes of deriving income: 

 

  (1) Real or personal income-producing property, tools of trade, or governmental entitlement 

specifically treated as exempt by state or federal law; 

 

Council Agenda Date:     9/16/13 Ordinance  13-10072013 

Author:   Dorothy Meagher  



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

  (2) Actual work-related expenses, whether itemized or by standard deduction, such as taxes, 

retirement funds contributions, union dues, transportation costs to and from work, special 

equipment costs and child care expenses; or 

 

  (3) Earned income of children below the age of 18 years who are full-time students and who are not 

working full-time.  

 

Sec. 30-68 Use of Resources:  

 

 (F) An applicant who is found to be ineligible for unemployment compensation benefits because of a 

finding of fraud by the Department of Labor pursuant to Title 26,§ 1051 subsection 1 is 

ineligible to receive general assistance to replace the forfeited unemployment compensation 

benefits for the duration of the forfeiture established by the Department of Labor. 

 

Sec. 30-97 Determination of income.  

 

 (8) Lump sum income. A lump sum payment as defined in this chapter and received by a 

household prior to the date of application for general assistance will be considered 

as income available to the household, with the exception of any required payments 

(i.e., any third-party payment which is required as a condition of receiving the lump 

sum payment, or any payments of bills earmarked for the purpose for which the 

lump sum payment was made) and any amount of the lump sum payment which the 

applicant can document was spent on basic necessities as described in this 

subsection. In the case where a lump sum payment was received by a household at 

any time prior to the date of application for general assistance, the administrator 

will assess the need for prorating an applicant's eligibility for general assistance 

according to the following criteria: 

 

 a. Identify the date the lump sum payment was received. 

 

  b. Subtract from the lump sum payment all required payments. 

 

  c. Subtract from the lump sum any amount the applicant can demonstrate was 

spent on basic necessities, including all basic necessities provided by general 

assistance , provided in this chapter; any reasonable payment of funeral or burial 

expenses for a family member; any reasonable travel costs related to the illness or 

death of a family member, repair or replacement of essentials lost due to fire, flood 

or other natural disaster; or repair or purchase of a motor vehicle essential for 

employment, education, training or other day-to-day living necessities. 

 

  d. Add to the remainder all income received by the household between the date 

of receipt of the lump sum payment and the date of application for general 

assistance. 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

    

 e. The period of proration is then determined by dividing the remainder of the lump 

sum payment by the verified actual monthly amounts for all the household’s basic 

necessities.  

 

The dividend remaining after following these guidelines represents the number of 

months from the receipt of the lump sum payment during which an income level 

equivalent to the actual expenditure for basic necessities as defined by general 

assistance for the household will be deemed available to that household.  The 

prorated sum for each month must be considered available to the household for 12 

months from the date of application or during the period of proration, whichever is 

less.  
 

Financial:  none  

 

Action Requested at this Meeting:  Recommend passage. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: 9-16-2013 Workshop 

 

Attachments:  

 Part 00 for GA 















 



Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

           

ORDINANCE  13-10072013 

 

ORDERED, that the Code of Ordinances be and hereby is amended as follows: 

 

The approval of the ordinance changes to reflect the State statute changes approved by the 

legislation.     

 
Sec. 30-2 Definitions: 

 

Eligible person means a person who is qualified to receive general assistance according to the standards of 

eligibility set forth in this chapter.  “Eligible person” does not include a person, who is a fugitive from justice as 

defined in Title 15, § 201, sub. 4.  

 

 
Household means an individual or a group of individuals who share a dwelling unit. When an applicant 

shares a dwelling unit with one or more individuals, even when a landlord-tenant relationship may exist 

between individuals residing in the dwelling unit, eligible applicants may receive assistance for no more than 

their pro rata share of the actual costs of the shared basic needs of that household according to the maximum 

levels of assistance established in this chapter.  The pro rata share is calculated by dividing the maximum level 

of assistance available to the entire household by the total of number of household members.    The income of 

household members not legally liable or otherwise responsible for supporting the household shall be considered 

as available to the applicant only when there is pooling of income. The City shall presume pooling of income 

unless the applicant proves otherwise.  

 

Income means any form of income in cash or in kind received by the household, including net 

remuneration for services performed, cash received on either secured or unsecured credit, any payments 

received as an annuity, retirement or disability benefits, veterans' pensions, workers' compensation, 

unemployment benefits, benefits under any state or federal categorical assistance program, supplemental 

security income, social security and any other payments from governmental sources unless specifically 

prohibited by any law or regulation, support payments, income from pension or trust funds, household income 

from any other source including relatives or unrelated household members and any benefit received pursuant to 

Title 36, chapter 907 and Title 36, section 5219-11, unless used for basic necessities as defined in Section 4301, 

subsection 1.  For repeat applicants, it also includes unverified expenditures or misspent money from the 30-day 

period prior to application. The following items shall not be considered as income or assets which must be 

liquidated for the purposes of deriving income: 

 

  (1) Real or personal income-producing property, tools of trade, or governmental entitlement 

specifically treated as exempt by state or federal law; 

 



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

  (2) Actual work-related expenses, whether itemized or by standard deduction, such as taxes, 

retirement funds contributions, union dues, transportation costs to and from work, special 

equipment costs and child care expenses; or 

 

  (3) Earned income of children below the age of 18 years who are full-time students and who are not 

working full-time.  

 

Sec. 30-68 Use of Resources:  

 

 (F) An applicant who is found to be ineligible for unemployment compensation benefits because of a 

finding of fraud by the Department of Labor pursuant to Title 26,§ 1051 subsection 1 is 

ineligible to receive general assistance to replace the forfeited unemployment compensation 

benefits for the duration of the forfeiture established by the Department of Labor. 

 

Sec. 30-97 Determination of income.  

 

 (8) Lump sum income. A lump sum payment as defined in this chapter and received by a 

household prior to the date of application for general assistance will be considered 

as income available to the household, with the exception of any required payments 

(i.e., any third-party payment which is required as a condition of receiving the lump 

sum payment, or any payments of bills earmarked for the purpose for which the 

lump sum payment was made) and any amount of the lump sum payment which the 

applicant can document was spent on basic necessities as described in this 

subsection. In the case where a lump sum payment was received by a household at 

any time prior to the date of application for general assistance, the administrator 

will assess the need for prorating an applicant's eligibility for general assistance 

according to the following criteria: 

 

 a. Identify the date the lump sum payment was received. 

 

  b. Subtract from the lump sum payment all required payments. 

 

  c. Subtract from the lump sum any amount the applicant can demonstrate was 

spent on basic necessities, including all basic necessities provided by general 

assistance , provided in this chapter; any reasonable payment of funeral or burial 

expenses for a family member; any reasonable travel costs related to the illness or 

death of a family member, repair or replacement of essentials lost due to fire, flood 

or other natural disaster; or repair or purchase of a motor vehicle essential for 

employment, education, training or other day-to-day living necessities. 

 

  d. Add to the remainder all income received by the household between the date 

of receipt of the lump sum payment and the date of application for general 

assistance. 

 

    



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

 e. The period of proration is then determined by dividing the remainder of the lump 

sum payment by the verified actual monthly amounts for all the household’s basic 

necessities.  

 

The dividend remaining after following these guidelines represents the number of 

months from the receipt of the lump sum payment during which an income level 

equivalent to the actual expenditure for basic necessities as defined by general 

assistance for the household will be deemed available to that household.  The 

prorated sum for each month must be considered available to the household for 12 

months from the date of application or during the period of proration, whichever is 

less.  
 

 

 

 



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Automobile Graveyard/Junkyard permits renewals  

 

Information: This is an annual renewal of currently existing Automobile Graveyard/Junkyards in Auburn. 

Applications and payments have been received in the City Clerk’s Office. A public hearing and Council 

approval is required. Originally the Public Hearing was going to be scheduled to tonight’s meeting but has been 

delayed to the October 7
th

 meeting instead. These facilities have been inspected by the Code Enforcement 

office. 

 

M&P Auto, 227 Merrow Road 

Buck’s Auto, 249 Merrow Road 

Morris Auto Mart, 940 Washington St. N 

Randy’s Auto Parts, 899 Broad Street 

Polerized New England Company, LLC (formerly Maine Metal Recycling), 522 Washington St. N 

Isadore T. Miller Co., a Division of Schnitzer NE, 78 & 80 Old Hotel Road 

 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Workshop discussion on 9/3/2013, further workshop discussion today with 

a public hearing and action tentatively planned for 10/07/13. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: Annual renewal. Discussion at the 9/3/2013 and 9/16/2013 Council 

Workshops. 

 

Attachments:  

September Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

October Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

Standards and Fees 

30-A §3754-A 

MMA Junkyard Information 

Application 

Order 

Council Meeting Date:  October 7, 2013 Order  85-10072013 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Office of Planning & Permitting 

60 Court Street  Suite 104  Auburn, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice  (207) 333-6601 Automated  (207) 333-6623 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      

 

To:   Mayor and City Council 

 

From: Eric J. Cousens, Director of Planning and Permitting 

 

Re: 2012-2013 Junkyard License Inspections  

 

Date:  September 11, 2013 

 

The City Clerk requested that this office inspect all of the licensed junkyards prior to the 

Councils consideration of their license renewals.  Inspections were completed on September 9, 

2013 and found the following: 

 

Maine Metal Recycling - 522 Washington St. N - No concerns.  Schnitzer continues to make 

upgrades to organize traffic flow and treat stormwater.   

 

Isadore T. Miller - 79 & 80 Old Hotel Rd. - No Concerns.  Site is cleaned and no longer being 

heavily used.  

 

Randy’s Auto Parts - 899 Broad St. - No concerns.  The junkyard area is approximately 600’ 

from the railroad tracks and the separated from the river.  The fill added to the north of the 

existing building was done with appropriate permits to accommodate a new garage/warehouse 

building.   

 

M & P Auto, Inc. - 227 Merrow Rd. - No Concerns.   

 

Morris Auto Mart - 940 Washington ST. N - The inspection revealed that there are some 

operational violations and some substantial improvements from last year.  The operator is storing 

vehicles within the floodplain and within 100’ of inland waters that still contain batteries and 

fluids which is a violation of MRSA 30-A, 3754-A, 5B.  The screening fence is also damaged 

and needs repairs.  The property owner has agreed to remedy the violations over the next few 

weeks.  Staff recommends that the Council either A) Issue the license temporarily for 30 days, 

pending another inspection or; B) Not issue the license at this time and reschedule a new hearing 

in approximately 30 days.   

 

The operator has made substantial improvements to his waste oil storage facilities and now has 

secondary containment around each tank.  In the event of a flood he could now keep his tanks 

from floating by keeping the containment area free from flood waters.   

 

As we discussed last year most of the property is located within the floodplain and much of it 

floods almost annually.  The establishment of a new junkyard in this area would be prohibited, 

but the existing use was established in about 1938, prior to standards regulating the location of 

junkyards.  Because of the flooding and proximity to the Little Androscoggin River the site was 



considered for acquisition by the EPA almost 20 years ago but another site in Massachusetts was 

chosen.  The owner would still consider any proposals like that if an entity wanted to buy out the 

junkyard portion of the business and would continue only the towing operation at a new location.  

This should be investigated further for a long-term solution.   

 

Buck’s Auto -249 Merrow Rd. – No concerns.  Mostly storage of construction equipment and 

materials.    

 

 

 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Office of Planning & Permitting 

60 Court Street  Suite 104  Auburn, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice  (207) 333-6601 Automated  (207) 333-6623 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      

 

 

 

To:   Mayor and City Council 

 

From: Eric J. Cousens, Director of Planning and Permitting 

 

Re: 2012-2013 Junkyard License Inspections  

 

Date:  October 1, 2013 

 

The City Clerk requested that this office inspect all of the licensed junkyards prior to the 

Councils consideration of their license renewals.  Inspections were completed on September 9, 

2013 and a copy of the inspection memo was provided at the workshop.  A follow up inspection 

was requested for Morris Auto Mart at 940 Washington Street North.    

 

The September inspection revealed that there are some operational violations and some 

substantial improvements from last year.  The operator is storing vehicles within the floodplain 

and within 100’ of inland waters that still contain batteries and fluids which is a violation of 

MRSA 30-A, 3754-A, 5B.  The screening fence is also damaged and needs repairs.  The property 

owner agreed to remedy the violations and as of October 1, 2013 he has made some progress but 

the violations still exist.   

 

As we discussed, most of the property is located within the floodplain and much of it floods 

almost annually.  The establishment of a new junkyard in this area would be prohibited, but the 

existing use was established in about 1938, prior to standards regulating the location of 

junkyards.  The owner has indicated that he has contacted his attorney and will be proposing that 

the City buy out the junkyard portion of the business and he would continue only the towing 

operation at a new location.  This possibility should be investigated further for a long-term 

solution.   

 

Staff has also learned that Maine DEP and US EPA have ongoing stormwater related 

enforcement cases with Notices of Violations as recent as August 2013.  Based on the 

inspections, Council direction and continued non-compliance with State Law (MRSA 30-A, 

3754-A, 5B), staff recommends that the Council deny the license at this time and reschedule a 

new hearing in approximately 30 days to allow more time for an additional follow-up inspection.   

 

 

 

 

 



City of Auburn, Maine 
“Maine’s City of Opportunity” 

___________________________      ______ 
Office of Planning & Permitting 

60 Court Street  Suite 104  Auburn, ME 04210 

(207) 333-6600 Voice  (207) 333-6601 Automated  (207) 333-6623 Fax 

www.auburnmaine.org 
      

 

 
To:   Mayor and City Council 
 
From: Eric J. Cousens, Director of Planning and Permitting 

 
Re: 2013 Junkyard License Ordinance and Licensing Questions 
 
Date:  September 11, 2013 

 
General overview of available regulatory tools 
 
The City of Auburn regulates Junkyards and Automobile Graveyards through zoning and licensing.  The 
zoning ordinance limits new facilities to the Industrial zoning district and is an optional tool for the City.  
Licensing is based on State Law and is mandated by the State.  Zoning and site plan review is very 
effective in controlling the location of new facilities, but not as useful in setting operational standards.  
Licensing can be very effective in setting operational standards and inspecting for compliance at least 
annually.  Local licensing authority is based on the following: 
 
(From Maine Municipal Association Code Enforcement Manual)Title 30-A M.R.S.A. §§ 3753-3755-A 
impose an obligation on municipalities to license “junkyards” and “automobile graveyards” each year 
and “automobile recycling businesses” every five years. Section 3758 provides that the State Police 
and local and county law enforcement officers “shall enforce” this law; the “municipal officers or their 
designee” “may” also enforce it. In addition, 29-A M.R.S.A. § 106 provides that the State Police and 
county sheriff’s office shall “expeditiously enforce” automobile graveyard laws. The reality, however, is 
that municipalities assume primary responsibility for enforcing this law because with a large geographic 
territory to cover and limited staff, neither the State Police nor the county sheriffs give enforcement of 
the automobile graveyard and junkyard law a very high priority. Although the law does not expressly 
name the CEO as being responsible for enforcement, generally the municipal officers will delegate their 
enforcement responsibilities to him or her. This must be done in writing. (See Appendix 7 for sample 
delegation language.) Otherwise the CEO’s authority to take enforcement action could be successfully 
challenged.  
 
Although the above-cited Maine law and regulation details a number of review standards, municipalities 
are expressly authorized to enact more stringent regulation by ordinance. The term “automobile 
graveyard” is defined to mean a “yard, field or other area used to store 3 or more unserviceable, 
discarded, worn-out or junked motor vehicles . . . or parts of such vehicles”.  The Maine Supreme Court 
has held that, for the purposes of the definition of “automobile graveyard,” the word “unserviceable” 
means “not ready for use or not presently useable.” Town of Pownal v. Emerson, 639 A.2d 619 (ME 
1994). 
 
If there are operational concerns we may be able to adopt additional standards to address them, 
however, locational concerns are already strictly regulated and are very effective in controlling the 
location of new facilities.   



 

Mayor Labonte questions from workshop: 

1. Asthetics-Some facilities operate at a higher standard than others.  What are the buffering 
requirements? 

Per State Law, A permit may not be granted for an automobile graveyard or junkyard within 1,000 
feet of the right-of-way of any highway incorporated in both the Interstate System and Primary 
System or within 600 feet of the right-of-way of any other highway, except for: 

A. Those automobile graveyards or junkyards that are kept entirely screened from ordinary view 
from the highway at all times by natural objects, plantings or fences. Screening required by this 
paragraph must be: 

(1) At a height, density and depth sufficient to accomplish complete screening from ordinary 
view; 

(2) Well constructed and properly maintained at a minimum height of 6 feet; 

(3) Placed outside of the highway right-of-way; and 

(4) Acceptable to the municipal officers or county commissioners; and [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).] 

The above section gives substantial deference to the municipal officers to require additional 
screening of junkyards by ordinance if there is a logical public reason to do so.  Applying that to 
existing facilities and how long it will take to require additional improvements would need to be 
reviewed by municipal counsel.   

Councilor Crowley questions from workshop:  

1. Does a local Code Enforcement Officer(CEO) review only local ordinance requirements or do 
they also inspect for State requirements?  

Local CEOs in Auburn are expected to be familiar with and look for compliance with both local and 
state requirements.  That said, actual enforcement authority for the storage and disposal of oil and 
other liquid or hazardous wastes such as antifreeze, batteries, mercury switches, tires, etc. are 
regulated by Maine DEP as the State representative of the EPA.  Violations of those standards are 
referred directly to Maine DEP for enforcement.  Solid Waste disposal and storage rules are also 
violated at some junkyards and those violations are referred to Maine DEP.  City and DEP Staff 
also schedule joint inspections as needed to address overlapping issues.    

2. Can we increase fees to cover costs of inspections?  

Yes, as long as those fees are logically connected to actual inspection and licensing costs incurred 
by the City.  The current fees do not cover our costs for administering the licensing and inspection 
programs.  An estimate of time for the program would total about four-six staff hours per license per 
year if there are no complaints throughout the year.  That would include accepting and processing 
the application, a CEO inspection, a Fire Prevention Officer (FPO) inspection, paper reviews by 
other departments (with a possible APD inspection), writing a written report to the Council and 
preparing information sheets, and attending a workshop and public hearing for the licenses as a 
group.  Total costs including wages and benefits are in the $150-$300 range depending on the 
license.  If there are problems at a particular site then the inspection costs throughout the year 
could be substantially higher, however, trying to apply those costs to a license for all facilities would 
be unfair.  There is also a repealed State Law that charged a higher fee based on proximity to 
highways and regulation regarding proximity to public facilities like schools, beaches, etc.   

3. Are there regulations for proximity to water or groundwater pollution? 

Yes.  Based on experiences in Auburn, there is also more time spent inspecting facilities that are 



close to natural resources.  Some of that is directly related to the resources and some is operations.  
If the Council wanted to focus inspection efforts based on public risk to health and safety related to 
public resources, you could consider a fee and inspection schedule that accounts for proximity to 
public resources and the heightened concern for public impacts associated with them.  The 
increased inspections would require additional inspection time and increase costs.   

Public notices are also required and can be accounted for as a separate fee.  We have a 
reimbursement fee of $100 for public notices for Planning Board projects.  If a project is posted 
individually it can easily cost approximately $100 for the abutters notice and newspaper advertising.  
If we have multiple projects for an individual meeting (which is often outside of City control) then 
combined ads cost less on average than individual ads.    

 

4. Questions from last year went unanswered and it would be nice to “close the loop.” 
 

It was my understanding that we answered last years’ questions and left the discussion 
open to amending standards and fees if the Council wished.  I intended to identify the 
meetings and verify the questions by watching the videos, however, this report is due and I 
have not had that opportunity.  Staff would greatly appreciate that if there are remaining 
questions that we be made aware of which ones still exist and the few hours of time for 
researching last years’ videos could be used to accomplish other Council objectives.    
 

Councilor Gerry questions from workshop:  

1. Is there a setback from water? 

Yes, 100 feet for the storage of vehicles with any fluids.   

2. Could meeting the setback have prevented the accident and fire at the junkyard on Washington 
Street last year?   

I don’t believe so.  The storage of fuels and oil at that property was in the flood plain as well as 
within 100’ of the Little Androscoggin River.  The storage area has been relocated to the main 
structure and a secondary containment area has been added around all tanks.  The storage area is 
regulated by Maine DEP and is still within a 100 year floodplain.  We are also working with the 
owner to make sure all fluids are drained before vehicles are stored in the flood prone area.  The 
accident last year was unfortunate but preventable.  Smoking is now prohibited in the area 
surrounding the fuel storage tanks.    

Councilor Hayes questions from workshop: 

1. Can we require that fuel and oil be stored outside of the floodplain? 

For new facilities yes.  I have a call in to Maine DEP to see if it is required for existing facilities.  At a 
minimum they may be able to require that storage be elevated or protected by a containment wall 
similar to what exists not, but high enough to be above flood elevations.   

 

Please let me know if there are any additional questions.   

 
 
 



  |  1

30-A §3754-A. LIMITATIONS ON GRAVEYARD, AUTOMOBILE
RECYCLING BUSINESS AND JUNKYARD PERMITS

30-A §3754-A. LIMITATIONS ON GRAVEYARD, AUTOMOBILE RECYCLING
BUSINESS AND JUNKYARD PERMITS

1. Highways; Interstate System and Primary System.  A permit may not be granted for an automobile
graveyard or junkyard within 1,000 feet of the right-of-way of any highway incorporated in both the Interstate
System and Primary System or within 600 feet of the right-of-way of any other highway, except for:

A. Those automobile graveyards or junkyards that are kept entirely screened from ordinary view from
the highway at all times by natural objects, plantings or fences. Screening required by this paragraph
must be:

(1) At a height, density and depth sufficient to accomplish complete screening from ordinary view;

(2) Well constructed and properly maintained at a minimum height of 6 feet;

(3) Placed outside of the highway right-of-way; and

(4) Acceptable to the municipal officers or county commissioners; and [2003, c. 312, §9
(NEW).]

B. Those automobile graveyards or junkyards located within areas that have been zoned for industrial
use and located more than 600 feet but less than 1,000 feet from the right-of-way of any highway
incorporated in both the Interstate System and Primary System. [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

[ 2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW) .]

2. Limitation on new permits.  A permit may not be granted for an automobile graveyard or junkyard
established after October 3, 1973 and located within 100 feet of any highway.

[ 2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW) .]

3. Public facilities.  A new permit may not be granted for an automobile graveyard or junkyard that is:

A. Located within 300 feet of a public building, public park, public playground, public bathing beach,
school, church or cemetery; and [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

B. Within ordinary view from a facility under paragraph A. [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

[ 2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW) .]

4. Public and private water supplies.  A permit may not be granted for an automobile graveyard,
junkyard or automobile recycling business that handles junk, scrap metal, vehicles or other solid waste within
300 feet of a well that serves as a public or private water supply. This prohibition does not include a private
well that serves only the automobile graveyard, junkyard, automobile recycling business or the owner's or
operator's abutting residence. This prohibition does not apply to wells installed after an automobile graveyard,
junkyard or automobile recycling business has already received a permit under section 3753.

Automobile graveyards, junkyards and automobile recycling businesses operating under the terms of permits
issued prior to the effective date of this subsection and handling junk, scrap metal, vehicles or other solid
waste within 300 feet of wells that serve as public or private water supplies may continue to operate in those
locations under the terms of those permits. Municipal officers or county commissioners may renew a permit
allowing the continued handling of junk, scrap metal, vehicles or other solid waste within 300 feet of a well
serving as a public or private water supply as long as no further encroachment toward the well occurs. The
municipal officers or county commissioners may not renew a permit if there is substantial, credible evidence
that the permitted activities have caused contamination of the well.

[ 2005, c. 424, §3 (AMD) .]



MRS Title 30-A §3754-A. LIMITATIONS ON GRAVEYARD,
AUTOMOBILE RECYCLING BUSINESS AND JUNKYARD PERMITS

2  |  

5. Operating standards.  All automobile graveyards and junkyards permitted pursuant to section 3753
are required to comply with the following standards:

A. All fluids, including, but not limited to, engine lubricant, transmission fluid, brake fluid, power
steering fluid, hydraulic fluid, engine coolant, gasoline, diesel fuel and oil, must be properly handled in
such a manner that they do not leak, flow or discharge into or onto the ground or into a body of water;
[2005, c. 247, §1 (AMD);  2005, c. 247, §7 (AFF).]

B. A vehicle containing fluids may not be stored or dismantled:

(1) Within 100 feet of any body of water or freshwater wetland, as defined by Title 38, section 436-
A, subsection 5;

(2) Within the 100-year floodplain; or

(3) Over a mapped sand and gravel aquifer; [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

C. Junk, scrap metal, vehicles or other solid wastes may not be placed or deposited, directly or indirectly,
into the inland waters or tidal waters of the State or on the ice of inland waters or tidal waters or on the
banks of inland waters or tidal waters in such a manner that they may fall or be washed into these waters;
[2005, c. 247, §2 (AMD);  2005, c. 247, §7 (AFF).]

D. Junkyard and automobile graveyard owners must demonstrate at the time of licensing that the facility
or facilities for which they seek permits are, or are part of, a viable business entity and the facility or
facilities are actively engaged in the business of salvaging, recycling, dismantling, processing, repairing
or rebuilding junk or vehicles for the purpose of sale or trade; [2005, c. 683, Pt. A, §51
(RPR).]

E. A log must be maintained of all motor vehicles handled that includes the date each vehicle was
acquired, a copy of the vehicle's title or bill of sale and the date or dates upon which all fluids,
refrigerant, batteries and mercury switches were removed; [2005, c. 247, §3 (NEW); 
2005, c. 247, §7 (AFF).]

F. All fluids, refrigerant, batteries and mercury switches must be removed from motor vehicles that
lack engines or other parts that render the vehicles incapable of being driven under their own motor
power or that are otherwise incapable of being driven under their own motor power, appliances and
other items within 180 days of acquisition. Motor vehicles, appliances and other items acquired by and
on the premises of a junkyard or automobile graveyard prior to October 1, 2005 must have all fluids,
refrigerant, batteries and mercury switches removed by January 1, 2007. Fluids required to be removed
under this paragraph must be removed to the greatest extent practicable; [2005, c. 247, §3
(NEW);  2005, c. 247, §7 (AFF).]

G. Storage, recycling or disposal of all fluids, refrigerant, batteries and mercury switches must comply
with all applicable federal and state laws, rules and regulations; and [2005, c. 247, §3 (NEW);
2005, c. 247, §7 (AFF).]

H. All fluids, refrigerant, batteries and mercury switches must be removed from motor vehicles,
appliances and other items before crushing or shredding. Fluids required to be removed under this
paragraph must be removed to the greatest extent practicable. [2005, c. 247, §3 (NEW); 
2005, c. 247, §7 (AFF).]

[ 2005, c. 683, Pt. A, §51 (AMD) .]

6. Rules.  A permit, other than a limited-term permit as described in this section, may not be granted
for an automobile graveyard or automobile recycling business that is not in compliance with all applicable
provisions of the automobile dealer or recycler licensing provisions of Title 29-A, chapter 9. Municipal



MRS Title 30-A §3754-A. LIMITATIONS ON GRAVEYARD,
AUTOMOBILE RECYCLING BUSINESS AND JUNKYARD PERMITS

  |  3

officers or county commissioners may award a limited-term permit conditioned upon an automobile
graveyard's or automobile recycling business's demonstrating compliance with the provisions of Title 29-A,
chapter 9 within 90 calendar days of the issuance of the municipal or county limited-term permit.

[ 2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW) .]

6-A. Relationship to state storm water requirements.  After October 30, 2005, municipal officers
or county commissioners may reject an application for an automobile graveyard or automobile recycling
business if the applicant has not demonstrated that:

A. A notice of intent has been filed with the Department of Environmental Protection to comply with the
general permit provisions for storm water discharges; or [2005, c. 247, §4 (NEW);  2005,
c. 247, §7 (AFF).]

B. The Department of Environmental Protection has determined that a storm water discharge permit is
not required. [2005, c. 247, §4 (NEW);  2005, c. 247, §7 (AFF).]

[ 2005, c. 247, §4 (NEW);  2005, c. 247, §7 (AFF) .]

7. Local ordinances.  This subchapter may not be construed to limit a municipality's home rule authority
to enact ordinances with respect to automobile graveyards, automobile recycling businesses and junkyards
that the municipality determines reasonable, including, but not limited to, ordinances concerning:

A. Compliance with state and federal solid waste and hazardous waste regulations; [2003, c. 312,
§9 (NEW).]

B. Fire and traffic safety; [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

C. Levels of noise that can be heard outside the premises; [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

D. Distance from existing residential or institutional uses; [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

E. The effect on groundwater and surface water, as long as municipal ordinances on groundwater are no
less stringent than or inconsistent with rules adopted by the Department of Environmental Protection;
and [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

F. Best management practices for automobile graveyards, junkyards and automobile recycling businesses
developed by the Department of Environmental Protection. [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

Municipal officers or county commissioners shall consider compliance with these local ordinances in deciding
whether to grant or deny a permit for any automobile graveyard, automobile recycling business or junkyard
and in attaching conditions of approval to a permit.

[ 2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW) .]

8. Applicability.  Municipalities may apply local ordinances adopted previously under subsection 7
pertaining to automobile graveyards and junkyards to an automobile recycling business without amending
those ordinances to include automobile recycling businesses. A municipality must provide notice of its intent
to apply these ordinances at the time an application for an automobile recycling business permit is filed.

[ 2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW) .]

9. Right of entry.  Municipal officers or their designees may, to carry out the provisions of this
subchapter or to determine compliance with any laws, ordinances, license or permit approvals, decisions or
conditions:

A. Enter any automobile graveyard, junkyard or automobile recycling business property and inspect all
outside areas, equipment and activities at reasonable hours for compliance with the laws or ordinances
set forth in accordance with this subchapter; and [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]



MRS Title 30-A §3754-A. LIMITATIONS ON GRAVEYARD,
AUTOMOBILE RECYCLING BUSINESS AND JUNKYARD PERMITS

4  |  

B. Enter any building on the property with the consent of the owner, occupant or agent to inspect the
building and activities within the building for compliance with the laws or ordinances set forth in
accordance with this subchapter. [2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).]

A municipal officer's or designee's entry onto property under this subsection is not a trespass.

[ 2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW) .]

10. Standard for permit.  The municipal officers or county commissioners may issue a permit to an
automobile graveyard or junkyard if that automobile graveyard or junkyard meets the operating standards set
forth in subsection 5.

[ 2005, c. 424, §5 (NEW) .]

For purposes of revocation or suspension of a permit pursuant to section 3758-A, subsection 5, each of
the standards set forth in this section is a condition of a permit. [2005, c. 424, §6 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
2003, c. 312, §9 (NEW).  2005, c. 247, §§1-4 (AMD).  2005, c. 247, §7
(AFF).  2005, c. 424, §§3-6 (AMD).  2005, c. 683, §A51 (AMD).

The State of Maine claims a copyright in its codified statutes. If you intend to republish
this material, we require that you include the following disclaimer in your publication:

All copyrights and other rights to statutory text are reserved by the State of Maine. The text included in this
publication reflects changes made through the Second Regular Session of the 125th Maine Legislature, is current

through September 1, 2012, and is subject to change without notice. It is a version that has not been officially
certified by the Secretary of State. Refer to the Maine Revised Statutes Annotated and supplements for certified text.

The Office of the Revisor of Statutes also requests that you send us one copy of any statutory
publication you may produce. Our goal is not to restrict publishing activity, but to keep track of who
is publishing what, to identify any needless duplication and to preserve the State's copyright rights.

PLEASE NOTE: The Revisor's Office cannot perform research for or provide legal advice or
interpretation of Maine law to the public. If you need legal assistance, please contact a qualified attorney.



 

MMA CEO MANUAL 

 

Junkyards/Automobile Graveyards 

 

 Enforcement Authority. Title 30-A M.R.S.A. §§ 3753-3755-A impose an 

obligation on municipalities to license “junkyards” and “automobile graveyards” 

each year and “automobile recycling businesses” every five years. Section 3758 

provides that the State Police and local and county law enforcement officers “shall 

enforce” this law; the “municipal officers or their designee” “may” also enforce it. 

In addition, 29-A M.R.S.A. § 106 provides that the State Police and county 

sheriff’s office shall “expeditiously enforce” automobile graveyard laws. The 

reality, however, is that municipalities assume primary responsibility for enforcing 

this law because with a large geographic territory to cover and limited staff, 

neither the State Police nor the county sheriffs give enforcement of the automobile 

graveyard and junkyard law a very high priority. Although the law does not 

expressly name the CEO as being responsible for enforcement, generally the 

municipal officers will delegate their enforcement responsibilities to him or her. 

This must be done in writing. (See Appendix 7 for sample delegation language.) 

Otherwise the CEO’s authority to take enforcement action could be successfully 

challenged.  

 

 Definitions. For the purposes of this law, the following definitions apply: 

 

 “Junkyard” means “a yard, field or other area used as a place of storage for: 

 

A. Discarded, worn-out or junked plumbing, heating supplies, household 

appliances and furniture; 

 

B. Discarded, scrap and junked lumber; 

 

C. Old or scrap copper, brass, rope, rags, batteries, paper trash, rubber 

debris, waste and all scrap iron, steel and other scrap ferrous or 

nonferrous material; and 

 

D. Garbage dumps, waste dumps and sanitary landfills.” 

  

 “Automobile Graveyard” means “a yard, field or other area used as a place 

of storage, other than temporary storage by an establishment or place of 

business which is engaged primarily in doing auto body repair work for the 

purpose of making repairs to render a motor vehicle serviceable, for three 

or more unserviceable, discarded, worn-out or junked motor vehicles as 



defined in Title 29, section 1, subsection 7 (now 29-A M.R.S.A. § 101 

(42)), or parts thereof.” 

 

 “Automobile Recycling Business” is defined as “the business premises of a 

person who purchases or acquires salvage vehicles for the purpose of 

reselling the vehicles or component parts of the vehicles or rebuilding or 

repairing salvage vehicles for the purpose of resale or for selling the basic 

materials in the salvage vehicles, provided that 80% of the business 

premises specified in the site plan in 30-A § 3755-A, subsection 1, 

paragraph C is used for automobile recycling operations.” 

 

 Junked Vehicles as a Nuisance. Junked motor vehicles are also addressed in 

17 M.R.S.A. § 2802, which deals with miscellaneous nuisances. This is another 

State law that can be enforced locally through the CEO if so authorized by the 

municipal officers.  

 

 Notice of Application to Public Drinking Water Supplier. When a junkyard, 

automobile graveyard, or auto recycling business is or will be located within a 

mapped public water source protection area, State law requires the municipal 

officers to give written notice of the public hearing on the application to the public 

drinking water supplier 7-14 days before the hearing. 30-A M.R.S.A. § 3754. See 

§ 3754 for other notice requirements. (See Appendix 6 for sample notice form.) 

 

 Regulation by Department of Environmental Protection and Secretary of 

State. Some automobile graveyards, junkyards and automobile recyclers are 

regulated by the DEP under the Site Location Act, the solid waste laws, hazardous 

waste laws and related DEP rules. The Secretary of State licenses “recyclers” 

pursuant to 29-A M.R.S.A. § 1101 et seq. “Recycler” is not defined, but was 

intended to have the same meaning as in 30-A M.R.S.A. § 3752. 

 

 Benefits of a Local Ordinance. Some CEOs note that it is easier to deal with 

junkyards and auto graveyards if a provision regulating them is adopted as part of 

the town or city zoning ordinance. They recommend using a different definition 

for auto graveyard, one that focuses on the vehicles being unregistered. For sample 

inventory forms to use in preparing to prosecute a junkyard violation, see 

Appendix 7. 

 Court Decisions Interpreting Junkyard and Automobile Graveyard Statute; 

DOT Regulations. The Maine Supreme Court has held that, for the purposes of 

the definition of “automobile graveyard,” the word “unserviceable” means “not 

ready for use or not presently useable.” Town of Pownal v. Emerson, 639 A.2d 619 

(ME 1994). A recent Maine Supreme Court decision, Town of Mt. Desert v. Smith, 

2000 ME 88, 751 A.2d 445, found that what the landowner claimed to be 

“personal property” that he intended to use someday in fact was “junk” for the 



purposes of the junkyard statute. The Department of Transportation (DOT) also 

has promulgated regulations to be used by municipalities in defining this term and 

generally administering the permit requirement in the statute. These regulations 

also address screening issues. A copy appears in Appendix 7. For copies of Maine 

Superior Court and Maine Supreme Court decisions involving junkyard and 

automobile graveyard violations, contact MMA’s Legal Services Department. 

 

MMA LICENSING MANUAL 

 
33. JUNKYARDS & AUTOMOBILE GRAVEYARDS/ AUTOMOBILE RECYCLING 

BUSINESS 

Statutes/Regulations: 30-A M.R.S.A. § 3751 et seq.; 29-A M.R.S.A. § 1101 et seq.;17-229 

CMR Chapter 202 

 

Permitting Authority: Municipal officers 

 

Fees: 

1. Graveyard or junkyard more than 100 feet from highway—$50 for each permit, plus the 

cost of posting and publishing the notice under § 3754; 

 

2. Graveyard or junkyard within 100 feet from highway—$200 for each permit, plus the cost 

of posting and publishing the notice under § 3754; and 

 

3. Automobile Recycling business—$250 for a 5-year permit, plus the cost of posting and 

publishing the notice under § 3754. 

 

License Expiration: Maximum of one year, valid until first day of following year. 

 

Licensing Standards & Procedures: Permitting process involves mandatory public hearing 

given with posted and published notice. The municipal officers are required to post a notice of 

the hearing at least 7 and not more than 14 days before the hearing in at least two public places in 

the municipality and publish a notice in one newspaper having general circulation in the area of 

the proposed junkyard or automobile graveyard. 

 

Permit, site review and site maintenance standards are supplied in § 3755 and 17-229 CMR 

Chapter 202. The minimum set back from roadway right-of-ways for junkyards or automobile 

graveyards established after October 3, 1973 is 100 feet. If the facilities are not going to be 

entirely screened from view, the required set backs are 1000 feet from Interstates or Primary 

Highway Systems and 600 feet from all other highway right-of-ways. No junkyard or automobile 

graveyard may be permitted to locate within 300 feet or within the view of any school, church, 

cemetery, public park, 25 public playground or public bathing beach. The regulations pertaining 

to junkyards and automobile graveyards adopted by the Department of Transportation contain 

detailed screening and fencing provisions. 

 



In addition, a "recycler" - a person engaged in the business of purchasing or acquiring salvage 

vehicles for one of the several purposes stated in § 1101, requires a license (see 29-A M.R.S.A. § 

1101). 

 

Revocation Standards & Procedures: Established by ordinance. 

 

Additional Information: Although the above-cited Maine law and regulation details a number 

of review standards, municipalities are expressly authorized to enact more stringent regulation by 

ordinance. The term “automobile graveyard” is defined to mean a “yard, field or other area used 

to store 3 or more unserviceable, discarded, worn-out or junked motor vehicles . . . or parts of 

such vehicles”. 

 

Specifically excluded from the definition is any area used for temporary storage by a place of 

business primarily engaged in doing auto body repair-work to make repairs to render a motor 

vehicle serviceable. 

 

Automobile recycling business means "the business premises of a person who purchases or 

acquires salvage vehicles for the purpose of reselling the vehicles or component parts of the 

vehicles or rebuilding or repairing salvage vehicles for the purpose of resale or for selling the 

basic materials in the salvage vehicles, provided that 80% of the business premises specified in 

the site plan in section 3755- A, subsection 1, paragraph C is used for automobile recycling 

operations."  

 

The term “junkyard” is defined as a "yard, field or other area used to store: 

1) discarded, worn-out or junked plumbing, heating supplies, household appliances and 

furniture; 

2) discarded, scrapped and junked lumber; 

3) old or scrap copper, brass, rope, rags, batteries, paper trash, rubber debris, waste and all 

scrap iron, steel and other scrap ferrous or nonferrous material; and 

4) garbage dumps, waste dumps and sanitary fills. 

 

See MMA’s Information Packet on “Junkyards and Automobile Graveyards” for further 

information. 

 







Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 85-10072013 

 

 
 
 ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the annual renewal request for an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard 

permit for Buck’s Auto, 227 Merrow Road.  



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Automobile Graveyard/Junkyard permits renewals  

 

Information: This is an annual renewal of currently existing Automobile Graveyard/Junkyards in Auburn. 

Applications and payments have been received in the City Clerk’s Office. A public hearing and Council 

approval is required. Originally the Public Hearing was going to be scheduled to tonight’s meeting but has been 

delayed to the October 7
th

 meeting instead. These facilities have been inspected by the Code Enforcement 

office. 

 

M&P Auto, 227 Merrow Road 

Buck’s Auto, 249 Merrow Road 

Morris Auto Mart, 940 Washington St. N 

Randy’s Auto Parts, 899 Broad Street 

Polerized New England Company, LLC (formerly Maine Metal Recycling), 522 Washington St. N 

Isadore T. Miller Co., a Division of Schnitzer NE, 78 & 80 Old Hotel Road 

 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Workshop discussion on 9/3/2013, further workshop discussion today with 

a public hearing and action tentatively planned for 10/07/13. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: Annual renewal. Discussion at the 9/3/2013 and 9/16/2013 Council 

Workshops. 

 

Attachments:  

September Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

October Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

Standards and Fees 

30-A §3754-A 

MMA Junkyard Information 

Application 

Order 

Council Meeting Date:  October 7, 2013 Order  86-10072013 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 







Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 86-10072013 

 

 
 
 ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the annual renewal request for an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard 

permit for Morris Auto Parts, 940 Washington Street North.  



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Automobile Graveyard/Junkyard permits renewals  

 

Information: This is an annual renewal of currently existing Automobile Graveyard/Junkyards in Auburn. 

Applications and payments have been received in the City Clerk’s Office. A public hearing and Council 

approval is required. Originally the Public Hearing was going to be scheduled to tonight’s meeting but has been 

delayed to the October 7
th

 meeting instead. These facilities have been inspected by the Code Enforcement 

office. 

 

M&P Auto, 227 Merrow Road 

Buck’s Auto, 249 Merrow Road 

Morris Auto Mart, 940 Washington St. N 

Randy’s Auto Parts, 899 Broad Street 

Polerized New England Company, LLC (formerly Maine Metal Recycling), 522 Washington St. N 

Isadore T. Miller Co., a Division of Schnitzer NE, 78 & 80 Old Hotel Road 

 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Workshop discussion on 9/3/2013, further workshop discussion today with 

a public hearing and action tentatively planned for 10/07/13. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: Annual renewal. Discussion at the 9/3/2013 and 9/16/2013 Council 

Workshops. 

 

Attachments:  

September Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

October Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

Standards and Fees 

30-A §3754-A 

MMA Junkyard Information 

Application 

Order 

Council Meeting Date:  October 7, 2013 Order  87-10072013 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 







Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 87-10072013 

 

 
 
 ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the annual renewal request for an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard 

permit for M & P Auto Mart, 227 Merrow Road.  



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Automobile Graveyard/Junkyard permits renewals  

 

Information: This is an annual renewal of currently existing Automobile Graveyard/Junkyards in Auburn. 

Applications and payments have been received in the City Clerk’s Office. A public hearing and Council 

approval is required. Originally the Public Hearing was going to be scheduled to tonight’s meeting but has been 

delayed to the October 7
th

 meeting instead. These facilities have been inspected by the Code Enforcement 

office. 

 

M&P Auto, 227 Merrow Road 

Buck’s Auto, 249 Merrow Road 

Morris Auto Mart, 940 Washington St. N 

Randy’s Auto Parts, 899 Broad Street 

Polerized New England Company, LLC (formerly Maine Metal Recycling), 522 Washington St. N 

Isadore T. Miller Co., a Division of Schnitzer NE, 78 & 80 Old Hotel Road 

 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Workshop discussion on 9/3/2013, further workshop discussion today with 

a public hearing and action tentatively planned for 10/07/13. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: Annual renewal. Discussion at the 9/3/2013 and 9/16/2013 Council 

Workshops. 

 

Attachments:  

September Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

October Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

Standards and Fees 

30-A §3754-A 

MMA Junkyard Information 

Application 

Order 

Council Meeting Date:  October 7, 2013 Order  88-10072013 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 









Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 88-10072013 

 

 
 
 ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the annual renewal request for an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard 

permit for Randy’s Auto Parts, 899 Broad Street.  



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Automobile Graveyard/Junkyard permits renewals  

 

Information: This is an annual renewal of currently existing Automobile Graveyard/Junkyards in Auburn. 

Applications and payments have been received in the City Clerk’s Office. A public hearing and Council 

approval is required. Originally the Public Hearing was going to be scheduled to tonight’s meeting but has been 

delayed to the October 7
th

 meeting instead. These facilities have been inspected by the Code Enforcement 

office. 

 

M&P Auto, 227 Merrow Road 

Buck’s Auto, 249 Merrow Road 

Morris Auto Mart, 940 Washington St. N 

Randy’s Auto Parts, 899 Broad Street 

Polerized New England Company, LLC (formerly Maine Metal Recycling), 522 Washington St. N 

Isadore T. Miller Co., a Division of Schnitzer NE, 78 & 80 Old Hotel Road 

 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Workshop discussion on 9/3/2013, further workshop discussion today with 

a public hearing and action tentatively planned for 10/07/13. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: Annual renewal. Discussion at the 9/3/2013 and 9/16/2013 Council 

Workshops. 

 

Attachments:  

September Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

October Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

Standards and Fees 

30-A §3754-A 

MMA Junkyard Information 

Application 

Order 

Council Meeting Date:  October 7, 2013 Order  89-10072013 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 









Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 89-10072013 

 

 
 
 ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the annual renewal request for an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard 

permit for Isadore T. Miller, a Division of Schnitzer NE, 78 & 80 Old Hotel Road.  



City Council 

Agenda Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Automobile Graveyard/Junkyard permits renewals  

 

Information: This is an annual renewal of currently existing Automobile Graveyard/Junkyards in Auburn. 

Applications and payments have been received in the City Clerk’s Office. A public hearing and Council 

approval is required. Originally the Public Hearing was going to be scheduled to tonight’s meeting but has been 

delayed to the October 7
th

 meeting instead. These facilities have been inspected by the Code Enforcement 

office. 

 

M&P Auto, 227 Merrow Road 

Buck’s Auto, 249 Merrow Road 

Morris Auto Mart, 940 Washington St. N 

Randy’s Auto Parts, 899 Broad Street 

Polerized New England Company, LLC (formerly Maine Metal Recycling), 522 Washington St. N 

Isadore T. Miller Co., a Division of Schnitzer NE, 78 & 80 Old Hotel Road 

 

 

Financial: N/A 

 

Action Requested at this Meeting: Workshop discussion on 9/3/2013, further workshop discussion today with 

a public hearing and action tentatively planned for 10/07/13. 

 

Previous Meetings and History: Annual renewal. Discussion at the 9/3/2013 and 9/16/2013 Council 

Workshops. 

 

Attachments:  

September Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

October Inspection Memo from Eric Cousens 

Standards and Fees 

30-A §3754-A 

MMA Junkyard Information 

Application 

Order 

Council Meeting Date:  October 7, 2013 Order  90-10072013 

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire, City Clerk 









Tizz E. H. Crowley, Ward One   Leroy Walker, Ward Five 

Robert Hayes, Ward Two  Belinda Gerry, At Large 

Mary Lafontaine, Ward Three  Joshua Shea, At Large 

David Young, Ward Four 

 

Jonathan LaBonte, Mayor 

 

Page 1 of 1 

 

 

IN CITY COUNCIL 

 

ORDER 90-10072013 

 

 
 
 ORDERED, that the City Council hereby approves the annual renewal request for an Auto Graveyard/Junkyard 

permit for Prolerized New England Company, LLC, 522 Washington Street North.  



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Executive Session – Discussion regarding contemplated litigation, pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. §405(6)(E) 

with possible action to follow during the meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Workshop Date:  October 7, 2013   

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire 



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Executive Session – Discussion regarding a personnel issue (the City Manager Review), pursuant to 1 

M.R.S.A. §405(6)(A) with possible action to follow during the meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Workshop Date:  October 7, 2013   

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire 



City Council 

Workshop Information Sheet City of Auburn 

 

*Agenda items are not limited to these categories. 

 

 

  

 
 

Item(s) checked below represent the subject matter related to this workshop item.   

 
Comprehensive Plan     Work Plan     Budget     Ordinance/Charter     Other Business*     Council Goals**                   

 

**If Council Goals please specify type:      Safety       Economic Development       Citizen Engagement 

 

 

Subject: Executive Session – Discussion regarding an economic development matter,  pursuant to 1 M.R.S.A. 

§405(6)(C) with possible action to follow during the meeting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Council Workshop Date:  October 7, 2013   

Author:   Sue Clements-Dallaire 


	0  Agenda 10-07-2013
	1  Workshop Info Sheet EMS
	1a  Auburn_Fire_Department_EMS_Final_1
	2  Workshop Info Sheet - Complete Streets
	2a  complete streets DIVISION_1 _GENERALLY
	2b  complete streets DIVISION_2 _SITE_PLAN_REVIEW
	2c  complete streets DIVISION_2 _STREETS
	2d  complete streets DIVISION_3 _SPECIAL_EXCEPTION
	2e  commplete streets DIVISION_4 _SUBDIVISION
	2f  complete streets ARTICLE_V _OFF_STREET_PARKING_AND_LOADING
	2g  complete streets ARTICLE_VII _BICYCLES_AND_MOTORCYCLES
	3  Workshop Info Sheet - Executive Session
	4  Minutes 9-3-2013
	5  Minutes 9-16-2013
	6  Minutes 9-30-2013
	7  Auburn Ward 1 Report for Monday 2013 10 07
	8  Ward report BCAM calendar updated 2013 10 01
	9  trackfieldteamstatechampRESOLVE27sep13a (2)
	10  NATIONAL BREAST CANCER AWARENESS MONTH OCTOBER 2013
	11  DOMESTICVIOLENCERESOLVE27SEP13
	12  Agenda Info Sheet PARKING PERMITS     ORDINANCE CHANGES
	12a  ParkingGaragePlan1oct13
	12b  ParkingGarage_Zones
	12c  ORDINANCE  11-09162013 Parking
	14  Agenda Info Sheet Committee Appointments
	14a  Board and Committee Applications
	14b  MEMO-boards and committees - update
	14b  Order 78-09162013 Appt of Charles Morrison
	15a  Order 79-09162013 Appt of Michael Dixon
	16a  Order 80-09162013 Judith Webber Appointment
	17a  Order 81-09162013 Robert Bowyer Appointment
	18a  Order 82-09162013 Ann Parker Appointment
	19  Agenda Info Sheet_ICT Network Security
	19a  Network Sec Diagram
	Slide Number 1

	19b  Order 83-10072013 networkSecurity
	20  Agenda Info Sheet reallocation and prioritzation of 2014 cip
	20a  2014 CIP Reprioritization 10-1-13
	20b  Order 84-10072013A PW Natural Gas Conversion reallocation
	20c  Order 84-10072013B Parks and Rec Natural Gas Conversion reallocation
	21  Agenda Info Sheet GA
	21a  13-14 Summary Sheet
	21b  2013-14 GA Maximums - Appendix A
	21c  GA Appendix B, C, D-F
	2c  2013-14 GA Maximums - Appendix B
	2d  2013-14 GA Maximums - Appendix C
	2e  APPENDIX D-F

	21d  Ordinance 12-10072013 appendix GA
	22  Agenda Info Sheet ordinance change GA
	22a  Part OO for GA
	22b  Ordinance statute changes GA
	23  0Agenda Info Sheet Auto Graveyard-Junkyards
	23  1 Junkyard Inspection memo 2013 September 9
	23  2Junkyard Inspection memo 2013 October 1
	23  3Junkyard Licensing standards and fees memo 2013
	23  4junkyards title30-Asec3754-A
	23  5Junkyard Info-MMA
	23a  application
	23b  Order 85-10072013 autograveyard-junkyard Bucks
	24  Agenda Info Sheet Auto Graveyard-Junkyards
	24a  application
	24b  Order 86-10072013 autograveyard-junkyard Morris Auto
	25  Agenda Info Sheet Auto Graveyard-Junkyards
	25a  application
	25b  Order 87-10072013 autograveyard-junkyard M and P
	26  Agenda Info Sheet Auto Graveyard-Junkyards
	26a  application
	26b  Order 88-10072013 autograveyard-junkyard Randy's Auto Parts
	27  Agenda Info Sheet Auto Graveyard-Junkyards
	27a  application
	27b  Order 89-10072013 autograveyard-junkyard Isadore T. Miller
	28  Agenda Info Sheet Auto Graveyard-Junkyards
	28a  application
	28b  Order 90-10072013 autograveyard-junkyard Prolerized New England Company, LLC
	29  Agenda Info Sheet - Executive Session2
	30 Agenda Info Sheet - Executive Session2
	31  Agenda Info Sheet - Executive Session2

